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Financial Summary

HBRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR FeREREM2ZEKEE
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARBTT ARETT ARBT T ARBTT

Revenue U Z5 558,455 412,004 314,054 284,440 213,529
Gross Profit £ 327,222 251,335 212,741 200,734 156,236
Profit for the year F N5 A 330,301 251,760 126,421 45,245 85,197
Profit attributable to ISI/NEIE/ PN
owners of the parent JE {1 535 7] 315,146 242 301 117,321 40,616 85,197
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL FEeMERIE
POSITION
As at 31 December
MW12A8318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 F 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTRE ARETT AR T

ARETT ARBT T

Non-current assets ERBEE 751,687
Current assets mEEE 4,356,596
Current liabilities mnBAE 207,110
Net current assets MEEEFE 4,149,386
Non-current liabilites ~ JER B B & 46,455
Total equity WS EEE 4,854,618

321,228 251,602 102,572 18,697

4,672,688 4,351,727 4,012,989 208,362

189,772 132,746 113,207 64,078

4,382,816 4,218,981 3,899,782 144,284

58,842 38,569 30,161 11,667

4,645,202 4,431,914 3,972,193 151,414
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Chairman’s Statement

EEREE

Dear shareholders,

2024 is a crucial year for China’s healthcare industry as it strides
towards high-quality development. The in-depth integration of
digital technology with medical services has rapidly restructured
the industry ecosystem, with the Al large model bringing
forth unprecedented opportunities for the medical industry
reform. Adhering to the philosophy of “To empower healthcare
through technology and to drive value with data” and driven by
technological innovation, Medlive has continuously deepened
the core capabilities of its online professional physician platform
to build a closed-loop smart healthcare ecosystem that covers
physicians, pharmaceutical companies and patients. Over the
past year, with the deepening of China’s medical system reform
and driven by both policy and market forces, the industry has
propelled towards a transformation characterized by “precision,
compliance and digitization”. By virtue of its nearly three
decades of experience accumulated in medical digitization,
Medlive has consistently strengthened its leading position in the
industry, maintaining its core competitiveness amidst the waves
of transformation.

Medlive has continued to refine professional medical content
and intelligent tools to assist physicians in enhancing their
clinical decision-making capabilities and academic research
proficiency. In 2024, the platform has further expanded its matrix
of specialized services by integrating domestic and overseas
authoritative academic resources, to create a one-stop scenario
covering diagnosis, learning and research for physicians.
Leveraging our self-developed Al large model for medical vertical
domain, we have conducted in-depth mining and structuring of
massive medical data and launched innovative tools, such as
Al Q&A system, Al diagnosis and treatment map and Al rational
medication system, which can help physicians swiftly sort out
the logic of the disease and mitigate medication risks, thereby
significantly improving diagnostic efficiency and safety. We have
further deepened our collaborations with the Chinese Medical
Association, NCCN and other authoritative institutions, and the
total number of clinical guidelines exceeded 31,100, among
which 3,100 were newly added. In addition, capitalized on the
Al-powered translation engine, the international knowledge
barriers have been broken down to provide physicians with
seamless access to global cutting-edge advancements. The
introduction of Al-assisted writing tools has also boosted the
generation efficiency of medical content by 60%, serving as
an accelerator for the translation of academic achievements of
physicians.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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To address the growing digital marketing demands of
pharmaceutical and medical device enterprises, Medlive has
developed solutions that cover the entire life cycle of products.
Leveraging the Al-driven physician portrait engine and the
intelligent recommendation system, we assisted pharmaceutical
and medical device clients in achieving precise matching and
dynamic optimization of academic resources so as to reduce
costs and improve efficiency. In terms of clinical research, by
integrating Al technology with expert resource network, we
provided customers with services such as real-world studies
(“RWS”) and clinical trial design, facilitating the efficient
accumulation of evidence by innovative pharmaceutical and
medical device companies. Guided by the “patient-centered”
philosophy, we launched smart chronic disease management
tools that connect physicians and patients, to improve
diagnostic efficiency and patients’ quality of life. In 2024, as
our solutions gained increasing recognition from customers,
the number of supported pharmaceutical and medical device
products further increased to 506, demonstrating the market
recognition of Medlive’s technological capabilities and service
value.

Medlive attaches great importance to talent development, and
was successfully approved as a national postdoctoral research
workstation in 2024, marking that we have entered a new stage
in the field of medical Al technology innovation and high-end
talent cultivation. As a national medical Al innovation platform,
the workstation has provided us with support to build a
“medicine + Al” composite talent resource pool. We will deepen
the industry-university-research collaboration to accelerate the
application of Al technologies in healthcare sector and cultivate
more composite talents for the industry.

Looking ahead to 2025, Medlive will take “horizontal
specialization and deep cultivation + vertical full-cycle extension”
as its core strategy, and deeply integrate Al technology
with medical scenarios to promote the digital and intelligent
development of the industry. We aim to expand the breadth
and depth of services for physicians across China through the
specialized ecosystem construction empowered by Al and the
intelligent database construction. Meanwhile, we will further
advance the application of generative Al to reshape the full life
cycle services for pharmaceutical and medical device products,
continuing to pioneer innovation in the industry.
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Chairman’s Statement

ESERWE

The journey ahead may be long, but progress is forged step
by step. Medlive remains committed to its long-term vision,
dedicating itself to the development of medical technology.
With innovation as our boat and responsibility as our sail, we
will advance through challenges and create value through
perseverance. Together with our shareholders, we will jointly
paint a new future for healthcare industry and bring benefits to
countless lives through technology advancements.

Tian Liping
Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

24 March 2025
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BUSINESS REVIEW

2024 was a crucial year for the continuous deepening of
medical system reform of China and the in-depth empowerment
of digital technology for industrial upgrading. The 14th Five-
Year Plan of China clearly proposes to promote medical
informatization and data sharing, and strengthen the application
of digital technology in pharmaceutical research and
development, diagnosis and treatment services, and patient
management. The combined influence of policy guidance,
technology drive and market demand has accelerated the
core trend of pharmaceutical industry transformation towards
digital marketing. With the normalization of medical insurance
negotiations and volume-based procurement, and increasingly
stringent compliance supervision, pharmaceutical and medical
device companies has increased their demand for accurate,
compliant, and efficient academic education and marketing
services, and gradually shifted from traditional offline models
to the adoption of digital tools that enable efficient outreach to
target physicians. Meanwhile, the rapid development of large
models and generative Al technologies has injected vitality into
the digital precision marketing models, which further optimized
the marketing efficiency of pharmaceutical companies, and
provided broad market potential and strategic opportunities for
the business development of the Group.

As the leading online professional physician platform in China,
the Group has persistently taken technological innovation
as the engine, focusing on the collaborative development
of professional empowerment for physicians and precision
marketing of pharmaceutical and medical device enterprises,
and keeps contributing to the digital transformation and
upgrading of medical industry. By the end of 2024, the number
of registered physician users on the Medlive platform exceeded
7 million, of which more than 4 million were licensed physicians,
accounting for 88% of the total number of licensed physicians
in China. With the empowerment for Chinese physicians in
multiple high-frequency scenarios such as learning, scientific
research, and clinical diagnosis and treatment, the user activity
of our platform has continuously improved. In 2024, the average
MAUs (without duplication) of the Medlive platform reached
2.65 million. With a relatively high coverage rate among Chinese
physician users and relatively high MAUs on our platform, we
have a solid foundation for developing precision marketing
solutions and intelligent patient management solutions for
enterprise customers. Through our self-developed Al-driven
physician portrait engine, clinical decision support tools,
and intelligent medical content distribution system, we have
created compliant and efficient academic education solutions
for pharmaceutical and medical device companies, achieving
accurate matching of academic resources and improvement of
marketing efficiency.

Business Overview and Outlook
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Business Overview and Outlook

RERERRE

In 2024, the Company (or “Medlive”) kept deepening the
innovative application of Al in medical fields with the two-wheel
drive of “technology + scenario”. The self-developed large model
for medical vertical domain of our Group has been approved by
and filed with the Cyberspace Administration of China (“CAC”)
for deep synthesis service algorithms, marking the recognition
from national authorities for the Group’s technical capabilities
in the field of Al research and development and the safety
and standardization of its algorithms. Built on the Transformer
framework, this model integrates technologies such as natural
language processing (“NLP”), computer vision (“CV”), retrieval
augmented generation (“RAG”) and multimodal technologies.
Relying on hundreds of millions of authoritative medical
databases, private domain professional medical contents
and massive high-quality physician portrait data training, the
accuracy and traceability of generated contents of the model
have been significantly improved. Recently, by accessing the
DeepSeek open source large model and completing localized
deployment, we have further optimized the model architecture
and achieved a leap in the performance of medical problem
processing, which effectively coped with the “illusion” problem
of the general-purpose large model.

In addressing the diagnosis and treatment scenario of physician
users, Medlive has launched an Al Q&A system based on RAG
technology. The system supports natural language interaction
and multiple rounds of questioning, which can accurately
extract key information from multiple heterogeneous massive
medical data and reply to physicians in a concise, logical and
rigorous way that fits clinical diagnosis and treatment thinking.
In this way, a smooth interaction process is formed to fully
meet the actual needs of physician users to explore the details
of patients’ conditions and optimize their treatment plans.
In order to facilitate physicians to formulate reasonable and
scientific treatment plans, we have added Al diagnosis and
treatment map and Al rational medication functions to the Al
Q&A system. Al diagnosis and treatment map can generate
mind maps and diagnosis and treatment flow charts based on
the disease themes or case information input by physicians, and
assist physicians to quickly sort out disease-related knowledge
and quickly grasp the overall picture of patients’ conditions
by presenting the logic of the disease in a structured manner.
With the help of the map, physicians are able to formulate
treatment plans quickly, and reduce omissions and deviations
in the diagnosis and treatment process as well. Al rational
medication can realize personalized drug use decision-making
and early risk warning to avoid adverse reactions caused by
improper combination of drugs. It changes the relatively general

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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medication guidance mode of traditional guideline consensus,
and provides physicians with accurate medication decision
support, which significantly improves the safety of clinical
medication. In addition, we have launched an Al-assisted writing
tool for physician users. Relying on the self-developed medical
vertical large model of the Group, the tool realizes the efficient
generation of medical contents through a standardized prompt
word engine and an intelligent literature matching system. The
tool is deeply integrated with authoritative writing standards,
and can automatically generate academic papers, diagnosis and
treatment plans, and science popularization materials that meet
professional standards. The tool has been proven to significantly
improve the efficiency of medical content writing of physicians
by 60%.

In 2024, the Group was successfully approved as a postdoctoral
research workstation jointly awarded by the Ministry of Human
Resources and Social Security and the National Postdoctoral
Management Committee, marking that Medlive has entered
into a new stage of in-depth integration of industry, university
and research in the field of medical Al technology innovation
and high-end talent cultivation. As an important node of the
national medical Al innovation system, the establishment of
the workstation was not only a national innovation qualification
certification for the technology research and development
capabilities, industry-university-research synergy and industry
leadership of the Group, but also provided a platform for
building a “medicine + Al” composite talent resource pool. We
will work with universities and research institutes to accelerate
the exploration and application of Al technology in the medical
field.

The Group generates revenue by offering three categories
of solutions to address various needs of its Medlive platform
participants, namely, precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent patient
management solutions. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group’s revenue was approximately RMB558.5 million,
representing an increase of 35.5% as compared with the
same period last year. While expanding revenue, the Group
continuously enhanced its profitability. The Group’s net profit
increased by 31.2% from RMB251.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to RMB330.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. The net profit margin for the year ended 31
December 2024 continued to maintain a high level of 59.1%.
The adjusted net profit and the adjusted net profit margin for
the year ended 31 December 2024 were RMB323.6 million
and 57.9%, respectively, maintaining a leading position in the
industry.

Business Overview and Outlook
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Business Overview and Outlook

RERERRE

Precision marketing and corporate solutions

The majority of the Group’s revenue comes from precision
marketing solutions, which provide digital medical
marketing services to pharmaceutical and medical device
companies. Attributable to the acceleration of the launch
and commercialization of innovative drugs brought about
by the deepening of medical reform, and the emphasis
of pharmaceutical and medical device companies on the
improvement of marketing efficiency, the precision marketing
and corporate solutions provided by the Group have attracted
more attention from customers. By offering compliant, precise
and effective one-stop professional physician academic
education solutions, the Group has empowered our customers
to maintain consistent engagement of physicians throughout the
whole lifecycle of pharmaceutical and medical devices, and has
been widely recognized by corporate customers in the industry.
In 2024, the number of customers of these solutions was 228,
increased by 25.3% as compared with 182 in 2023. At the same
time, the number of products covered continued to increase by
31.1% from 386 in 2023 to 506 in 2024. The growing number of
products has allowed us to further convert registered physician
users on the platform into engaged targeted physicians. At the
same time, the number of paid clicks also increased from 9.7
million times in 2023 to 13.3 million times. As a result, for the
year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the Group’s
precision marketing and corporate solutions increased by 37.5%
to RMB512.5 million from RMB372.7 million in 2023.

The Group conducts thorough analysis of the academic features
and life cycle of pharmaceutical and medical device products,
and provides effective and results-oriented precision digital
marketing services. At present, the needs of pharmaceutical
and medical device enterprise customers in marketing are more
comprehensive. In view of this, the precision digital marketing
services of the Group offer one-stop solutions covering the
whole process including the research and formulation of medical
strategy, analysis of learning profile for experts and specialists,
digital production of educational content, event design and
execution, precise distribution of digital educational content and
evaluation of results. We establish the Medlive fully integrated
internet ecosystem, connecting all channels including websites,
mobile APPs, WeChat and other social media accounts,
online communities and electronic newsletters. We built a
database system that encompasses massive amount of data on
browsing behavior of physicians, forming rich digital behavior
and cognitive profiles of physicians. Our disease knowledge
base platform is a content aggregation platform as well as a
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personal behavior data platform for physicians. Starting from
this platform, we can radiate to various scenarios including
clinical research, information browsing, guideline learning, case
discussion, patient education, internet diagnosis and treatment
and academic conferences. Based on comprehensive and rich
insights into physicians, we use Al technology to establish an
analysis and content recommendation engine for physicians’
online learning. The model not only meets their personalized
learning needs for clinical knowledge and experience, but also
effectively supports the digital education of clinical physicians
throughout the entire lifecycle of pharmaceutical and medical
device products in core, intermediate and basic markets. This
empowers customers to selectively and precisely deliver content
to targeted physicians at their preferred times and through their
preferred channels. We charge the pharmaceutical and medical
device customers based on the number of clicks on their
paid content engaged by targeted physicians. Our solutions
can continuously accumulate physician portraits and optimize
intelligent distribution models in real time in the process of
providing services to customers. In this way, a positive cycle is
formed to build up the competitive barriers of the Group in the
field of pharmaceutical and medical device enterprise market
services.

We also offer various corporate solutions that enable (i)
pharmaceutical and medical device companies to cost-
effectively conduct market research; and (ii) pharmaceutical and
medical device companies, hospitals and other stakeholders of
the healthcare industry to improve the efficiency of clinical trials
and medical research. In 2024, we leveraged the professional
influence of the Medlive platform in the clinical research
field, as well as our advantages in deep collaboration with
pharmaceutical and medical device companies throughout the
entire lifecycle, to continue developing clinical research service
capability, covering clinical trial design, protocol writing, medical
monitoring, data management, statistics and analysis and other
core aspects, and have achieved breakthroughs in specialized
fields with continuous progress in the fields of oncology,
hematology, neurology, pediatrics and cardiovascular disease.
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Medical knowledge solutions

The Group’s medical knowledge solutions satisfy the needs of
physicians for continuing medical education and clinical decision
support and the needs of other healthcare professionals
for professional medical information. The Group’s medical
knowledge solutions deliver medical knowledge and intelligent
tools to provide efficient and accurate decision support for the
diagnosis and treatment of Chinese physicians through multiple
user-friendly channels, including its website, mobile applications,
desktop applications, WeChat mini-programs and WeChat
official accounts. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
revenue of the Group’s medical knowledge solutions increased
by 10.8% to RMB17.9 million from RMB16.1 million in 2023.

The Group further consolidated our platform advantage by
continuously enriching the professional medical content on
our Medlive platform to maintain the relatively high coverage
and engagement of physician users. We utilized Al technology
to conduct in-depth review and improvement of the entire
platform content, providing physician users with easier-to-use
products and continuously enhancing the user experience of
physician users. In terms of clinical guidelines, we continued to
strengthen our strategic cooperation with the Chinese Medical
Association, Wanfang Medical Database, NCCN (National
Comprehensive Cancer Network of the United States) and
ASCO (American Society of Clinical Oncology), and added
more than 3,100 clinical guidelines to the Medlive platform. The
number of clinical guidelines of the Medlive platform increased
to 31,100. We conducted in-depth mining and structuring of
clinical guideline content based on Al technology to promote the
overall improvement of service efficiency. The click-through rate
of the first search result increased from 36.9% to 43.5% after
optimization of the search algorithm through user behavior data
analysis. Users’ reading experience and learning effect were
effectively improved with upgraded PDF reader function. 18,000
guideline literatures were efficiently converted by our self-
developed medical Al translation engine, breaking the language
barriers of medical literatures and meeting users’ needs for
international cutting-edge medical knowledge.

In 2024, approximately 500 new disease knowledge entries
were added to our disease knowledge database named
Medlive Knowledge Base, bringing the total number of entries
to 1,700, covering 20 fields including cardiovascular, vestibular,
oncology, endocrine, and neurological diseases. We have
integrated Al real-time Q&A functionality in Medlive Knowledge
Base, providing physicians with real-time knowledge-based
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answers that cultivate proper clinical thinking through the RAG
framework, on the basis of the professional medical content
across the entire Medlive platform. In terms of medication
reference, we have added more than 3,000 entries on drug
instructions and dynamically updated nearly 10,000 pieces of
drug information, bringing the cumulative number of recorded
entries to more than 35,000, to assist clinical physicians and
pharmacists in using drugs more rationally and safely. Our
video platform, eBroadcasting, added nearly 15,000 new
videos, bringing the total number of videos to 87,000, among
which approximately 78,000 videos have completed text
translation and content correction through our self-developed
large model. The accuracy of the text exceeded 98%. We
have also completed the construction of personal IP academic
homepages for more than 40,000 speakers. Their exposure
in specialized fields was enhanced by aggregating the same
speaker’s speech videos, research results and academic trends.
The Al intelligent search system enable users to accurately
search video contents through multiple dimensions such as
disease keywords, qualifications of speakers, and conference
scenes. We have embedded &£ X £f £ in our self-developed
large model and launched the Al auxiliary reading function to
help users quickly understand the core points by summarizing
the full-text information with Al technology. In addition, we have
upgraded our technology in the application of tools such as
Al equipped journal selection, paper checking, Al polishing,
literature interpretation, and case summarization, in order to
improve the efficiency of clinical physicians’ decision-making
and scientific research.

In order to meet the needs of users for examination preparation,
the Group has launched eZ ## and completed a comprehensive
upgrade of the examination preparation question bank for
licensed physicians and assistant physicians. The question
bank integrates 35,000 authoritative test questions and detailed
answer analysis, and accurately covers the needs of users in the
whole cycle from examination preparation planning to simulated
tests, based on the labeling of 7,000 outline knowledge points
and multi-dimensional data analysis capability. The review
efficiency of users has been greatly improved with functions
such as Al intelligent generation of personalized learning paths,
derivative training of knowledge points associated with failed
questions, and high-frequency mock examination room.
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In 2024, the Group deepened the layout of specialized vertical
fields by adding specialized channels such as ophthalmology
and nephrology. The Group actively participated in relevant
academic conferences at home and abroad, bringing together
a team of experts in these fields to jointly screen and create
high-quality professional medical content. Last year, the Group
participated in more than 40 overseas academic conferences
and provided in-depth live coverage. We set up the “First Live
Room” column and invited clinical experts to engage in face-
to-face interviews to interpret the latest information of the
conferences from the first perspective, and share their academic
views at the first time, so as to ensure that a vast number of
clinical physicians can obtain the latest authoritative medical
information and clinical practice in a timely manner. At the CSCO
(Chinese Society of Clinical Oncology) annual meeting, the
Group launched an Al digital human interaction scenario, which
restored the historical image of experts through generative Al
technology to realize real-time dialogue with current experts
across time and space, and intuitively demonstrate medical
progress and technology inheritance. In addition, &/, &7, a
simultaneous interpretation product developed by us, supports
simultaneous interpretation in more than 10 languages such as
Chinese, English, Japanese, Korean, and Thai, which greatly
improves the dissemination and communication efficiency of
international conferences.

Intelligent patient management solutions

The Group’s intelligent patient management solutions offer
comprehensive single disease management services, including
(i) monitoring and improving management services of diseases
knowledge dissemination and treatment compliance to patients
through Internet hospital; and (ii) condition-specific patient
education services in collaboration with non-profit organizations.
We connect physicians and patients by disease types, and
provide physicians with management tools and medical content
through an innovative full-course disease management platform
to help clinical physicians to make diagnosis and manage
patients accurately and efficiently, and improve patients’ return
consultation rate and medication compliance. In addition, it
provides patients with online diagnosis and treatment, disease
education, patient management and other services, ultimately
improving the patients’ quality of life and benefiting the patients.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue of the
Group’s intelligent patient management solutions increased by
21.0% to RMB28.0 million from RMB23.2 million in 2023.
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We give full play to the advantages of rich physician resources
of the Medlive platform to build a patient management
community for physicians, and gather patients by having
physicians invite patients to join patients group. As of 31
December 2024, the patient management platform of the
Group had accumulated approximately 555,000 users, with
approximately 159,000 participating physicians. As the number
of our patients increases, the effects of intelligent patient
management solutions are gradually becoming apparent, and
have been recognized by more and more pharmaceutical
customers. We provide “integrated physician-patient” services
to invite physicians to cooperate in patient management while
assisting physicians in resolving clinical issues based on the
characteristics and life cycles of customers’ drugs, together
with the clinical manifestations and diagnosis and treatment
issues of diseases. We have established an exclusive patient
group for each physician with a single disease, and provided
medical assistance to help answer questions and solve
patients’ problems in a timely manner. We continued to carry
out systematic, targeted and multi-form patient education
interactions based on the pain points of physicians and patients.
During the implementation of the solution, we promptly reported
patient needs and interactive effects in an organized manner
to physicians to dynamically optimize the management plan.
After a period of physician-patient management, the return
consultation rate of patients and the average dosage and
frequency of medication have increased significantly.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In the context of the acceleration of the restructuring of the
value chain of the medical industry by Al technology, the Group
will take “horizontal specialization and deep cultivation + vertical
full-cycle extension” as its core strategy, and deeply integrate
generative Al, big data analysis and vertical field large models,
to promote the transition from digital services to intelligent
services of the medical industry, and seize the opportunities of
industry transformation.
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Horizontal expansion — Specialized construction and
operation empowered by Al

Intelligent specialized database construction: We will
continue to enrich the professional medical information and
product tools on the Group’s Medlive platform, expand our
businesses by specialty and disease classification, conduct
in-depth research on disease types and related innovative
pharmaceutical and medical device products, and
enhance the professionalism of specialized content. We
will also provide full life cycle digital solutions for different
disease segments and treatment fields. For example, we
will construct a database of clinical results by specialty.
By extracting information on research drugs, research
results, research methods, experimental sample numbers
and other items in clinical trials and conference papers,
a clinical results database is built based on Medlive large
model to provide the latest data support for drug research
and development.

Expert resource integration: Through the Al-driven
intelligent integration system of expert resources, the
diagnosis and treatment experience, scientific research
results and academic insights of experts in various fields
are stored in a structured manner, providing physicians
with higher quality academic resources and clinical
guidance. Relying on the core medical expert resource
network, we will further expand the scope of investigator-
initiated research (“lIT”) and systematically improve the
clinical research capabilities of physicians to promote the
efficient implementation of research projects. We will take
full advantage of our professional medical teams to build a
full-process medical support system from clinical research
strategy formulation to evidence generation.

Specialty patient management: We will continue to
connect physicians and patients by disease type and
continue to expand disease coverage and the number of
patients. Based on our experience in serving specialized
fields and the recognition of the majority of physicians
in China, we will leverage our advantages in product
research and development and patient management to
provide personalized education content and compliance
management tools for patients with chronic diseases
relying on our self-developed medical vertical large models,
sSo as to improve patients’ treatment compliance.
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Cross specialty intelligent collaboration: Specialties
on the Medlive platform are relatively independent but
closely coordinated. We will continue to explore and
strengthen cross-specialty connections and cooperation
through in-depth understanding of the characteristics
and needs of each specialty. Various specialties can
share resources, physician insights and product tools. In
addition, we will also use Al technology to deeply explore
the interconnections between specialties and improve
service efficiency.

Vertical extension — Full life cycle services for
pharmaceutical and medical device companies
reshaped by Al

Expanding our customer and product coverage:
We will closely follow the trend of digital transformation
of pharmaceutical and medical device companies and
continue to leverage the unique advantages of our online
professional physician platform. We will further expand our
coverage of pharmaceutical and medical device company
users. In particular, in the field of innovative drugs and
medical devices, we will further leverage the advantages
of the Medlive platform in supporting clinical diagnosis and
treatment, scientific research, and learning of physicians,
integrate academic resources and physician resources and
make full use of Al technology to explore physician users’
needs, so as to help pharmaceutical and medical device
companies efficiently promote professional academic
content in both core markets and vast primary markets.
Efforts will be made to enhance customer loyalty and
willingness to invest in digital marketing.

Enriching our solutions: Based on the Group’s
advantages in precision marketing, we will further expand
our solutions that focus on the needs of pharmaceutical
and medical device companies in medicine, clinical
research, patient management and other aspects,
thereby gaining more budget share from our customers.
In particular, we will continue to rely on self-developed
large models to develop comprehensive solutions
which comprise medical strategy, market strategy and
multi-channel digital strategy. By capitalizing on the
increasing demand for clinical research in the industry,
we will further extend the depth and breadth of clinical
research services, provide more extensive support
to pharmaceutical and medical device companies in
accumulating evidence through real world study (“RWS”),
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and support clinical decision-making and marketing.
We will deepen our “patient-centered” integrated
service, integrate Al technology to build a digital patient
management matrix, which covers an intelligent follow-up
system, a personalized education knowledge database,
a patient community interaction platform and self-service
management tools, aiming to empower pharmaceutical
and medical device companies to render medication
compliance monitoring, disease course data tracking and
precise assistance services.

Making strategic investments and mergers and
acquisitions: By leveraging the platform advantages and
financial advantages as a listed company, we will explore
strategic partnerships and integrate industry resources
through investments and acquisitions. Taking advantage
of our proprietary platform of professional physicians and
on the basis of our existing business, we will actively seek
quality target enterprises that possess high synergies
with the Group and conduct business integration after
acquisition. We will continue to leverage our advantages
and industry insights in physician resources, medical
content, product research and development and user
management, grow together with our investee companies,
and further consolidate the Group’s leading position in the
industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

In 2024, the Group generated revenue from three solution
categories, namely (i) precision marketing and corporate
solutions; (i) medical knowledge solutions; and (iii) intelligent
patient management solutions. The Group’s revenue increased
by approximately 35.5% from approximately RMB412.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB558.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
primarily due to the revenue increase from its precision
marketing and corporate solutions.

Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions

Revenue from precision marketing solutions is primarily derived
from fees paid by the Group’s healthcare customers for the
Group’s digital detailing, digital marketing consulting and digital
content creation services. Revenue from corporate solutions
is primarily derived from fees paid by the Group’s healthcare
customers for its digital market research, electronic data capture
("EDC”) and clinical data management system (“CDMS”)
solutions, real-world studies (“RWS”) support solutions, patient
recruitment service, as well as application software development
service related to precision marketing and corporate solutions.

Revenue from precision marketing and corporate solutions
increased by approximately 37.5% from approximately
RMB372.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB512.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, primarily due to (i) an expansion of the Group’s
healthcare customer base from 182 for the year ended 31
December 2023 to 228 for the year ended 31 December 2024;
and (ii) an increase of number of healthcare products marketed
using the Group’s precision marketing and corporate solutions
from 386 for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 506 for the
year ended 31 December 2024, resulting from user growth and
increased user engagement as illustrated by the increase in the
number of paid clicks from approximately 9.7 million in 2023 to
approximately 13.3 million in 2024.
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Medical Knowledge Solutions

Revenue from medical knowledge solutions is primarily
derived from provision of professional medical information
covering continuing medical education and clinical decision
support, including licensing software to physicians, other
registered users, including other healthcare professionals, and
pharmaceutical companies. Revenue from medical knowledge
solutions increased by approximately 10.8% from approximately
RMB16.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB17.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily because the Group has provided more medical
knowledge products thereby broadening its user base and
resulted in an increase in the number of paid users.

Intelligent Patient Management Solutions

Revenue from intelligent patient management solutions was
primarily derived from fees paid by non-profit organizations
with medical focus and pharmaceutical companies for
provision of patient education services to patients and non-
profit organizations, including content development, application
software development and other related services. The Group
also started to generate revenue from commissions on fees paid
by patients for online consultation services and prescription
services on its Internet hospital since the first half of 2021.
Revenue from intelligent patient management solutions
increased by approximately 21.0% from approximately RMB23.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB28.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly
because the single-disease patient management platform
established by the Group has achieved initial results and scale.
While academically educating physicians and improving the level
of standardized medical care, the platform effectively connects
physicians and patients to scientifically and efficiently implement
patient management and education services.
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COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales consists of (i) employee benefit
expenses relating to salaries and benefits for employees involved
in operating the Group’s platform and developing content; (ii)
content development cost primarily relating to fees paid to
content contributors and service fees paid to content production
service providers; (iii) technology service fees relating to cloud
content delivery network and telecommunication services as
well as licensing fees; and (iv) other expenses primarily relating
to consulting fees, equipment rental expenses, travel and
transportation expenses. The Group’s cost of sales increased by
approximately 43.9% from approximately RMB160.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB231.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The increase
was primarily due to the growth of business which led to a
corresponding increase in various items of cost of sales.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s gross profit increased
by approximately 30.2% to approximately RMB327.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately
RMB251.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Group’s gross profit margin was approximately 58.6% for
the year ended 31 December 2024, which decreased slightly
compared to the gross profit margin of 61.0% for the year ended
31 December 2023.

OTHER INCOME

Other income and gains primarily consist of (i) bank interest
income; (ii) investment income from debt investments; and (iii)
government subsidy. The Group recorded other income and
gains of approximately RMB223.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, compared to approximately RMB188.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was
primarily attributable to the increase in interest income derived
from bank deposits and debt investments.
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SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses primarily consist
of (i) expenses for promotion activities to drive user growth
and engagement; (i) employee benefit expenses relating to
salaries and benefits for employees in selling and distribution
functions; and (iii) other expenses primarily relating to business
development expenses. The Group’s selling and distribution
expenses increased by approximately 2.0% from approximately
RMB32.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB33.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily due to an increase in the bonus payments to the
Group’s sales staff.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consist of (i)
research and development costs primarily relating to salaries
and benefits for employees in research and development
functions; (i) employee benefit expenses relating to salaries
and benefits for employees in management as well as general
and administrative functions; (iii) depreciation of assets,
which includes depreciation of right-of-use assets relating to
the Group’s leases and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment; (iv) taxes and surcharges; (v) maintenance expenses
primarily relating to technology and telecommunication service
fees, as well as service fees for outsourced administrative
services; and (vi) other expenses primarily relating to rent, travel
and transportation expenses and general office expenses. The
Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
21.5% from approximately RMB144.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB175.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to increase in
research and development fees, while other administrative
expenses have been effectively controlled.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report

HERSWAXZ

AEENHEERDPHEALXETEBE ()R
EAFPEERI2EENTEFEEHHAI (i)
EFBRAHEER HEEF S AEINES
BRI RNFTEEXEBEERERIA
AHHEART AEBEMNEERD HF
Y HE E2023F12A3IHIEFEHAR
#32.88 & 7T 1 N 4)2.0% = & =20244F
ANHEFEHAREKIZAEE L =
EEHRAEEHEEREE N -

TR

AEENTHERAIIEZERRBONETEEHS
MEEEHFSLEBANNAERLZ: ()F
B—RETHREEREREF S ABINE
BRAMAZ(NWEENE REBEARN
SERENFERBREENITEURDE -
BMEREBENIE: (VEBEEMNE (v
FEEFEWN -  EEREBOKRBEEKIN
BITBERENRGEEBENEERST &
ViEZBEBRES EREAXBRAI R
MR AERINEMLRAL - AE BT
BB X B & £2023F12A318 I FE 4
ARBI1U44SE BT E MO 5%EEHE
2024F12A31H I FE 4 A R #175.68
B TZHRAMBERAEN mMEAm
R 1T ER B S RIS B A Bl o
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FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs consist of interest on lease liabilities.
Finance costs are charged to profit or loss over the lease
periods so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liabilities for each period. Lease
liabilities decrease over the periods of the leases, resulting in
higher finance costs at the beginning of lease periods. The
Group’s finance costs increased from approximately RMBO.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMBO0.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 primary
due to the relocation of the Group to the new office building in
October 2024.

Profit Before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit before tax
increased by approximately 34.5% from approximately
RMB253.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB340.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Income Tax Expenses

The Group’s income tax expense increased by approximately
641.5% from approximately RMB1.4 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB10.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, primarily because the Group’s
revenue in 2024 increased substantially as well as the share
options granted under the pre-IPO share option scheme
commenced vesting and exercise in July 2022 and the number
of share options exercised in 2023 was more than that for
2024. As share-based compensation is eligible for income tax
deduction, this results in the income tax expenses in 2024 to be
higher than that in 2023.

Profit for the Year and Profit Attributable to Owners of the
Parent

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
increased by approximately 31.2% from approximately
RMB251.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB330.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 and the Group’s profit attributable to owners of
the parent increased by approximately 30.1% from approximately
RMB242.3 million to approximately RMB315.1 million.
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The Group’s net profit margin (calculated on the basis of the
profit for the year) decreased by 2.0 percentage points from
61.1% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 59.1% for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Non-HKFRS Measures — Adjusted Net Profit

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements
which are presented in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards, the Company also used unaudited non-HKFRS
adjusted net profit as an additional financial measure in order
to evaluate its financial performance by eliminating the impact
of items that it does not consider indicative of the performance
of its business. The term “adjusted net profit” is not defined
under HKFRS Accounting Standards. Other companies in the
industry which the Group operates in may calculate such non-
HKFRS item differently from the Group. The use of adjusted net
profit has material limitations as an analytical tool, as adjusted
net profit does not include all items that impact the Group’s net
profit for the Reporting Year and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for analysis of the Group’s results as
reported under HKFRS Accounting Standards.

The following table sets out the calculation of adjusted net profit
for the years indicated:
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Year ended 31 December

B Z12A31BLLFEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FrT ARBTT

Profit for the year F N A 330,301 251,760
Add: o

Share-based compensation % 1 S 1~ %5 B 5,669 10,415

Fair value adjustment of FARARENRAAEBERAE (9,133) 2,161

contingent consideration
Foreign exchange difference ERER (3,237) 6,757
Adjusted net profit 4T B F R F 323,600 271,093
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The adjusted net profit for the year ended 31 December 2024,
adjusted by excluding share-based compensation to key
employees, fair value adjustment of contingent consideration
and foreign exchange difference, was approximately RMB323.6
million, increased by approximately 19.4% as compared
to approximately RMB271.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The adjusted net profit margin for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately 57.9%, decreased
by 7.9 percentage points from approximately 65.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The fair value adjustment of contingent consideration relates
to the deferred consideration payable by the Group for its
acquisitions of certain subsidiaries in 2021, 2022 and 2023.
The deferred consideration amounts can be reduced if the
guaranteed net profits of the acquired subsidiaries are not
met. This item is a non-cash item and the amount of fair
value adjustment does not represent the actual amount of
deferred consideration payable, nor does it reflect the financial
performance of the relevant subsidiaries for the relevant
reporting periods.

The foreign exchange difference is related to the initial public
offering of the Company’s shares (“Shares”) in July 2021 (the
“Global Offering”). The proceeds from the Global Offering are
primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the foreign
exchange difference mainly arises from the currency fluctuation
of Hong Kong dollars against RMB. Such foreign exchange
difference is non-operational in nature and the amount does
not directly correlate with the underlying performance of the
Company’s business operations.

The share-based compensation relates to the pre-IPO share
options to subscribe for a total of 26,754,000 Shares granted
to certain directors and key employees and share awards
representing 500,000 Shares granted to a key employee, and is
a non-cash item.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group financed its
operations primarily through cash generated from the Group’s
operating activities and the net proceeds received and interest
income derived from the Global Offering. The Group intends to
continue to finance its expansion and business operations using
a combination of cash generated from operating activities and
the net proceeds received and interest income derived from the
Global Offering.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy. The Board closely
monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities, and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to
time. Taking into account the net proceeds received from the
Global Offering and the current cash position of the Group, the
Board considers that the Group has sufficient working capital to
meet its operation needs for at least the next 12 months.

The net proceeds received by the Company from its Global
Offering in July 2021 which are not put into use immediately,
have been used for the subscription for or purchase of wealth
management products or placed in fixed deposits with licensed
financial institutions. Please refer to the sections headed “Debt
investments” and “Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering”
for details regarding the use of idle proceeds from the Global
Offering.
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Cash and cash equivalents and time deposits

The Group operates its business in the PRC and its transactions
and revenue were primarily denominated in Renminbi. As such,
the Group did not have material exposure to fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates for cash generated from its
operating activities. However, the net proceeds received by the
Company from the Global Offering are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and the Company is exposed to fluctuation of
exchange rate between Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. As at
31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB3,844.7 million, which primarily consisted
of cash at bank, as compared to approximately RMB4,358.3
million of cash and cash equivalents and approximately
RMB42.0 million of non-current time deposits as at 31
December 2023. As at 31 December 2024, around 11.2% of
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and non-current time
deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, around 12.0%
are denominated in RMB and around 76.8% are denominated
in US dollars. The balance of cash and cash equivalents as at
31 December 2024 decreased substantially because a portion
of cash was invested in wealth management products, which
are all debt investments, since early 2024. The balance of
debt investments as at 31 December 2024 was approximately
RMB639.5 million (31 December 2023: nil).

Debt investments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had debt investments
which amounted to RMB639.5 million in aggregate, which
included certificates of deposits (mainly certificates of deposits
issued by the Agricultural Bank of China) (the “CDs”) and bonds
(mainly bonds issued by J.P. Morgan) (the “Bonds”, together
with the CDs, the “Wealth Management Products”). The CDs
carry pre-determined return rates ranging from 4.60% to 5.50%
per annum. The Bonds carry pre-determined yield ranging
from 4.53% to 5.06% per annum. The return from the Wealth
Management Products was recorded as interest income and
amounted to approximately RMB25.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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The Group intends to subscribe for or purchase wealth
management products on a revolving basis, which means
that the Group would subscribe for or purchase additional
wealth management products when the terms of certain
wealth management products previously subscribed for or
purchased by the Company expired. Subscriptions for or
purchase of wealth management products were made for
treasury management purpose to maximize the return on the
unutilized funds of the Group after taking into account, among
others, the level of risk, return on investment, liquidity and
the term to maturity. The Group selects wealth management
products issued by reputable commercial banks with relatively
low associated risk. Prior to making an investment, the Group
has ensured that there remains sufficient working capital for
the Group’s business needs, operating activities and capital
expenditures even after making the investments in such wealth
management products. As the current high interest rate cycle
may not sustain in the long run, in light of the short to mid-term
of maturity of the Wealth Management Products, the Directors
are of the view that the Wealth Management Products pose
relatively low risk to the Group and the terms and conditions of
each of the subscriptions or purchases are fair and reasonable
and are in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole. There was no single Wealth Management Product in
the Group’s investment portfolio that has a carrying amount that
accounts for more than 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2024. None of these subscriptions or purchases of
Wealth Management Products, individually (or collectively if and
when aggregation is required) constitutes a notifiable transaction
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Group currently does not have any hedging policy for
foreign currencies in place. However, the Board will remain alert
to any relevant risks and, if necessary, consider to hedge any
material potential foreign exchange risk.

Borrowings

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
have any short-term or long-term bank borrowings and had no
outstanding bank and other borrowings and other indebtedness
apart from lease liabilities for the relevant lease terms amounting
to approximately RMB22.6 million in aggregate. The lease
liabilities increased as compared with RMB8.2 million recorded
last year due to the signing of a new office lease by the
Company.
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Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing borrowings
by total equity, was zero since there was no borrowing as of 31
December 2024.

Charge on assets

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not pledge any of its
assets.

Capital expenditures

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s capital
expenditure amounted to approximately RMB19.0 million, which
mainly comprised capital expenditures recorded for the
acquisition of 60% interests in Beijing Medcon Information
Consulting Co., Ltd* (It RE#MEEE B A BB R AR (“Beijing
Medcon”) and expenditures on IT equment, as compared to
approximately RMB88.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The Group funded its capital expenditure by using the
cash flow generated from its operation and the net proceeds
received from the Global Offering.

Contingent liabilities and guarantees

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
unrecorded contingent liabilities, guarantees or any material
litigation against the Group.

Material acquisitions or disposals and future plans for major
investment

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did
not make any material acquisition, major investment or
material business or assets disposal. The Group will continue
to selectively pursue suitable strategic investments and
acquisitions that can generate convincing synergies with the
Group’s existing solutions offerings, expand its customer base
and/or enhance its technological capabilities. The Group will
utilize proceeds from the Global Offering for the purpose of any
such acquisition.

* For identification purposes only

EEEFWED

HRE = 2024@12)%3151[%1 oA
EEBELR(RERGIAEREETE)
BE o

R2024F12 A31H » ANE B I & K ({7
BE -

BEARRAX

HE2024F12A31HIEFE  AEBWHE
AEXHAEANREI90EHE T - E%’é@%
HEREBEILIFREHEEEZAERA

(Hta%aﬁ%beo%%ﬁnmﬁzﬁﬁﬁiﬁw
RERY  MEBZE2023F 124310 L FE
\sz%::,/\ﬁmszﬁﬁﬁfc A& B AL EFT

Eﬁ%mui&iﬂ— EMESRIEFEA
/éfZlSEﬂSETEL\A
RAREBBRIER
R2024F12 8318 * AE B W & (£ A &
ARARABEHAEBE BRI EHAE
B R R E KR °
EANBRIREERETERERKTE

RE E2024F12A31B I FEE » REB I
EELENEAKE FEREXEKR
¥ EEHE - AEBEBTHEBBDO
hEEAEEREHRIRERESE
SAEROBERE BAEFPER/
IR EE N B E BRI E U EE -
AEEBUERBEEMSRNEINEN
ZEWEE -

BIENEERAT
—ECNEER

31



32

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEE T wmE DM

Profit Guarantee and adjustment to consideration

On 8 June 2022, Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& & XA (1t R)
B AR AF) (“Kingyee Beijing”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an equity transfer
agreement pursuant to which Kingyee Beijing acquired 60%
equity interest of Beijing Focus Innovation Technology Co.,
Ltd> (At R FE)XRIF BB R A7) (“Beijing Focus”) for a
cash consideration of RMB48,000,000. The cash consideration
is payable in instalments. To date, RMB24,001,000 has been
paid. The sellers of the 60% interests in Beijing Focus have
undertaken to ensure that the accumulated audited net profit
of Beijing Focus for the three years ended 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024 in total shall be no less than RMB28,150,000
(the “Guaranteed Profit”). The consideration may be adjusted
downwards if the Guaranteed Profit is not met after the three
years.

The sellers have also granted an option to Kingyee Beijing so
that if less than 50% of the Guaranteed Profit is met, Kingyee
Beijing has the right, but not an obligation, to require the sellers
to repurchase interests in Beijing Focus held by Kingyee Beijing.

The accumulated audited net profit of Beijing Focus for
the three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024
is approximately RMB22,208,000, which falls short of the
Guaranteed Profit, representing about 78.9% of the Guaranteed
Profit. As such, the cash consideration has been adjusted to
RMB37,868,260 according to the terms of the equity transfer
agreement, but the right to require the sellers to repurchase
interests in Beijing Focus held by Kingyee Beijing has not been
triggered.

Further details of the adjustment to the consideration are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 24 March 2025,
published in compliance with Rule 14.36B of the Listing Rules.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEES AND STAFF COSTS

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 747 full
time employees, all of whom, except for one employee based
in Hong Kong, were located in mainland China. In particular,
187 employees are responsible for the Group’s content
management, 235 employees for platform operation and
customer service, 178 employees for research and development,
66 employees for general and administration and 81 employees
for sales and marketing. The total staff cost incurred by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
RMB190.8 million compared to approximately RMB159.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was
primarily due to increased headcount in sales personnel and
platform development staff.

The Group provides orientation and training to new recruits as
well as ongoing in-house training for junior employees, which
the Group believes can enhance the skills and productivity
of its employees. The Group compensates employees with
base salaries and performance-based bonuses. The Company
has also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme, a post-IPO
share option scheme and a share award scheme to incentivize
employees and senior management and to align their interests
with that of the Company.

Further details of the principal terms of the abovementioned
share incentive schemes are set out in the Report of Directors
contained in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The biographies of the Company’s current directors, senior
management and company secretary are set out below.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tian Liping (H 3 ¥), aged 58, is the Chairwoman, the
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the Company.
Ms. Tian is primarily responsible for formulating and implementing
the overall development strategies and business plans of the
Group and overseeing the overall development and operations
of the Group. Ms. Tian founded the Group in June 1996 and
has been a Director of the Company since April 2013. She has
been the executive director and chief executive officer of Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (2 E XK (It R)EH B R A A]) since August
2013 and is currently a director of each of the principal operating
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Tian has over 22 years of
experience in the medical information technology industry. Prior
to founding the Group, from 1988 to 2003, Ms. Tian successively
worked at Institute of Software, Chinese Academy of Sciences (F
Bl £} B BT #UF A 38 FT) and as a system engineer at Technocraft
Co., Ltd. Tokyo Japan (k=& +t-77./7Z>7 ) (“Technocraft
Japan”). While working at Technocraft Japan, Ms. Tian founded
the Group with Mr. Tian Lixin.

Ms. Tian received her bachelor’'s degree with a major in
computer software from Beijing Institute of Technology (1t 5 2
T K&) in the PRC in July 1988 and obtained her EMBA degree
from China Europe International Business School (7 B B B T 75
E %) in the PRC in November 2017.

Ms. Tian is the elder sister of Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Tian Lixin (H 3 ), aged 56, is the President, the head of
the Medical Information Science Research Unit and an executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Tian is primarily responsible for
overseeing and managing the operations of the Group. Mr. Tian
founded the Group in June 1996 and has been a Director of
the Company since December 2013. He has been the president
of Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (&#E XK (It R)RI AR A7)
since August 2013. Mr. Tian has over 28 years of experience in
the medical information technology and software development
industry. Mr. Tian was an independent director of Vanfund Urban
Investment & Development Co., Ltd. (8 7B EZEER D
BBR/A7A]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 000638) from December 2016 to May 2019. Prior
to founding the Group with Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian worked at
the Research Institute of Beijing 701 Factory (3t =+ O —
ZL FfT) as the institute director from 1992 to 1996.

Mr. Tian received his bachelor's degree with a major in
3= e

engineering physics from Tsinghua University (/& # X £) in the
PRC in July 1992.

Mr. Tian is a younger brother of Ms. Tian Liping and the elder
brother of Mr. Tian Lijun.

Mr. Tian Lijun (3 &), aged 51, is an executive Director of
the Company, a vice president of the Group and a deputy head
of the Medical Information Science Research Unit. Mr. Tian is
primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the research,
development and innovation of the products and technologies
of the Group. Mr. Tian joined the Group in June 1996 and has
been a Director of the Company since December 2013. He has
been the chief technology officer of Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
(EEAKELR) B BR A 7A) since August 2013. Mr. Tian
has over 22 years of experience in the medical information
technology industry. Mr. Tian previously worked at Technocraft
Japan as a software engineer.

Mr. Tian received his bachelor's degree with a major in
computer science and engineering from Beihang University (1t
T2 i K~ K22) in the PRC in July 1996.

Mr. Tian is the younger brother of Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian
Lixin.
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Ms. Zhou Xin (A fR), aged 44, is an executive Director of
the Company and a vice president of the Group. Ms. Zhou
is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing the
digital marketing operations of the Group and responsible for
multichannel business development of healthcare marketing
and innovation and implementation of solutions. She has been a
Director of the Company since July 2018. She joined the Group
as a secondee from M3, Inc. in January 2016 and has served
as vice president of Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& & XA (1t
)R AR A7) since joining. Ms. Zhou has over 19 years
of experience in marketing strategy and business management
and over 11 years of experience in the medical information
technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou
successively worked at Deloitte Tohmatsu Consulting LLC as a
senior consultant, Ernst & Young Advisory & Consulting Co., Ltd.
and Xrossface Inc. as the manager of the strategy and operation
consulting department from April 2006 to September 2013.
Ms. Zhou joined M3, Inc. in December 2013, where she served
as the head of China business unit at corporate and business
development group of M3, Inc..

Ms. Zhou received her bachelor’'s degree in engineering from
Kyoto University in Japan in March 2004 and obtained her
master’'s degree with a major in essential informatics from
University of Tokyo in Japan in March 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya (#8 /2% =), aged 60, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Tsuchiya is primarily responsible
for providing professional advice and judgment to the Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”). He has been a Director
of the Company since December 2013. Mr. Tsuchiya has over
38 years of experience in insurance and financial consulting
and over 18 years of experience in the healthcare technology
industry.
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Mr. Tsuchiya joined M3, Inc. in August 2006 and currently is an
executive director of M3, Inc.. M3, Inc. is a company listed on
the Tokyo Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2413.T). Prior to joining
M3, Inc., Mr. Tsuchiya worked at Asahi Mutual Life Insurance
Company from April 1987 to January 2000, where his last
position was deputy manager of asset liability management
development group. From February 2000 to February 2001, Mr.
Tsuchiya served as a strategy consultant at Deloitte Tohmatsu
Consulting LLC (previously known as ABeam Consulting Ltd.)
in Japan. From September 2001 to August 2006, Mr. Tsuchiya
served as a financial adviser at KPMG FAS Co., Ltd., (previously
known as GMD Corporate Finance) in Japan.

Mr. Tsuchiya received his bachelor’s degree in commerce from
Waseda University in Japan in March 1987 and obtained his
MBA degree from University of California, Irvine in the United
States in June 1997.

Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo (£ & — &), aged 47, is a non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Kanairo is primarily responsible
for providing professional advice and judgment to the Board.
He has been a Director of the Company since April 2023. Mr.
Kanairo has over 13 years of experience in M&A and corporate
development, and over 12 years of experience in management
advisory.

Mr. Kanairo joined M3, Inc. in March 2014 and is currently the
head of India & Southeast Asia business and director of global
corporate development of M3, Inc.. Mr. Kanairo worked at
McKinsey & Company, Inc. from April 2003 to August 2008,
where his last position was associate. From July 2010 to
February 2014, Mr. Kanairo worked at JPMorgan Securities
Japan Co., Ltd. where his last position was associate.

Mr. Kanairo received his bachelor’'s degree with a major in
aeronautics and astronautics engineering and master’s degree
with a major in aeronautics and astronautics engineering from
the University of Tokyo in Japan in March 2001 and March
2003, respectively. Mr. Kanairo obtained his MBA degree from
University of California, Berkeley in the United States in May
2010.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Yeh (¥ ), aged 56, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company and is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Yeh was an executive director and chief operating officer
of I-Mab Biopharma (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (NASDAQ: IMAB)
from April 2022 to February 2024. Mr. Yeh was the chief
financial officer and the head of strategic operations at Abbisko
Therapeutics Co., Ltd (EBFMEBEYEER T ERAF), a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2256),
since November 2020 and became an executive director of this
company since 5 January 2021, until he ceased all positions
with this company in April 2022. Mr. Yeh was the chief financial
officer of CStone Pharmaceuticals, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2616), from July 2018 to April
2020. Prior to joining CStone Pharmaceuticals, Mr. Yeh was a
managing director and the business unit leader of Asia Pacific
healthcare equity research at Goldman Sachs (Asia) L.L.C.
in Hong Kong from July 2015 and July 2018. Before that, Mr.
Yeh worked at Citigroup Capital Markets Asia Limited from
July 2009 to June 2015 where he last served as the head of
China healthcare research team. In October 1995, he joined
Amgen Inc., a leading global biotechnology company traded
on the NASDAQ (stock code: AMGN), as a research associate
conducting drug discovery research.

Mr. Yeh obtained an MBA from Cornell University in the United
States in May 2002 and a Master of Science in medical
biophysics from the University of Toronto and Ontario Cancer
Institute in Canada in November 1995. Mr. Yeh received a
Bachelor of Science with a major in biochemistry from University
of Manitoba in Canada in May 1993.

Dr. Ma Jun (5 &), aged 70, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company and is responsible for providing
independent advice to the Board.

Dr. Ma has been working at Harbin No. 1 Hospital (F 8 /&
% — % BT) since July 1971 and has served as the director of
institute of hematology and oncology of Harbin No. 1 Hospital
since July 1988.
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Dr. Ma has been the chairman of the board of supervisors of the
China Society of Clinical Oncology (FEIEE/RIEEEE) (“CSCO”)
since September 2019 and the chairman of anti-leukemia
association of CSCO from May 2018 to January 2025,
respectively. Dr. Ma was the chairman of the expert committee
of the anti-lymphoma alliance of CSCO from September 2013 to
September 2015. From September 2013 to September 2016, Dr.
Ma served as the deputy director of the hematology branch of
the Chinese Medical Association (1 Z & £ ). From June 2011
to June 2014, Dr. Ma was the deputy chairman of hematology
branch of the Chinese Medical Doctor Association (/7 B 25 R
# &) (‘CMDA”). From December 2010 to December 2013, Dr.
Ma was the deputy chairman of oncology branch of CMDA.
Dr. Ma obtained the researcher qualification from Heilongjiang
Human Resources Bureau (B #EIE AEEE) (currently known
as Heilongjiang Human Resources and Social Security Bureau
(BERIEANERMEERER)) in November 1991.

Ms. Wang Shan (X #t), aged 51, is an independent non-
executive Director of the Company and is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board.

Ms. Wang has served various roles at a joint venture company,
Beijing Hitachi Huasun Information Systems Co., Ltd. (1t = H
TEBEREESARRQT), since July 1995 until July 2022
when the term of the joint venture company expired. Her last
position at the joint venture company was director of the finance
division of the management supervision department. From
November 2022 to September 2023, Ms. Wang worked at the
chief financial officer-led department at Hitachi Solutions (China)
Co., Ltd. (A2 A7 R(FE) B R A A and is responsible
for conducting liquidation jobs. Ms. Wang retired in September
2023.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’s degree in applied
mathematics from Beijing Union University (1t R Bt & KXE) in
the PRC in July 1995. She obtained the primary accountant
qualification (¥4 & 5t ff & 4&) from Ministry of Finance of the
PRC in May 1999 and the medium level accountant qualification
(F R &5 &) from Beijing Human Resources and Social
Security Bureau in October 2012. Ms. Wang is a PRC Certified
Public Accountant, who has obtained her qualification from
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in May 2001,
and is also a PRC Certified Tax Agent, who has obtained her
qualification from the China Certified Tax Agents Association in
November 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management team comprises the executive Directors
of the Company, biographies of whom are set out above, and
the following members:

Mr. Xin Jiangtao (¥’175), aged 48, is a vice president of the
Group. He joined the Group in January 2004 and is responsible
for the research and development and innovation of the Group’s
products and services. Mr. Xin has over 21 years of medical
software development experience. Mr. Xin has served as the
product manager at Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (& & XAk (1t
)R AR 2 F]) and Beijing Jinye Tiansheng Technology Co.,
Ltd. (dt e EXBER AR AR since January 2004 and
June 2007, respectively.

Mr. Xin received his bachelor’s degree with a major in computer
science and engineering from Peking University (1t X KX£2) in
the PRC in June 2007.

Mr. Yang Liancheng (1 & &), aged 46, is a vice president of
the Group. Mr. Yang joined the Group in September 2016 and
is responsible for executing overall development strategies and
business plans of the Group and implementing the marketing
strategy of the Group. He has over 20 years of experience
in consulting and over six years of experience in the medical
information technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr.
Yang worked at Accenture (China) Co Ltd. (R & % (F ) B R A
7)), a subsidiary of Accenture plc, a company listed on the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE: ACN), from July 2004 to November
2007. From December 2007 to September 2010, he worked at
Fair Isaac Information Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B2 {z &
K5 (46 ) B R A 7)), a subsidiary of Fair Isaac Corporation, a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: FICO),
where his last position was consultant. From October 2010 to
August 2016, Mr. Yang rejoined Accenture (China) Co Ltd. as a
senior manager.

Mr. Yang received his bachelor’s degree with a major in trade
and economics from Nankai University (FFAZ) in the PRC
in June 2001 and obtained his master’s degree with a major in
finance from Peking University (1t X A2) in the PRC in June
2004. Mr. Yang also obtained an EMBA degree from China
Europe International Business School (FEIEE T E6T) in
China in November 2017.
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Mr. Jiang Nan (% E), aged 37, is the medical director of the
Group, the chief editor of the content team and a deputy head
of the Medical Information Science Research Unit. He joined
the Group in September 2013 and is responsible for overseeing
the professionalism of the medical content and medical team
management of the Group. Mr. Jiang has over 11 years of
experience in the medical information technology industry. Mr.
Jiang was the editor-in-chief of medicine of Kingyee (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. (2 E R (IL ) BB BR A F]) from September 2013
to August 2016 and the director of medicine of Kingyee (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. (RE XK (It R)BHEABERAR).

Mr. Jiang received his bachelor’s degree with a major in clinical
medicine from Qingdao University (55 A£) in the PRC in
June 2010 and obtained his master’'s degree with a major in
psychiatry and mental health from Peking University (1t &= KX
2) in the PRC in July 2013. Mr. Jiang received the Physician
Practicing License from Beijing Municipal Health Bureau (it
R A £ B) (currently known as Beijing Municipal Health
Commission (It R T FEREZ B E)) in September 2012,

Ms. Liu Juan (2#5), aged 41, is the assistant to Chairwoman
and the chief client officer of the Group. She joined the Group in
October 2010 and is responsible for assisting the Chairwoman
of the Group in managing day-to-day operation, sales team and
client communication. Ms. Liu has been the assistant to Ms. Tian
Liping since October 2013 and the chief client officer of Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (€ E XK (It ) B BR A F]) since July
2016. Ms. Liu has approximately 17 years of experience in human
resources management. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Liu worked
at Suning.com Group Co., Lid. (BRZEZFBEEBRMHBER QA a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
002024), from July 2007 to August 2009 and was responsible for
management work. From May 2010 to October 2010, she worked
at Guangzhou Blue Moon Industrial Co., Ltd. (BN & A =B %4F
R 2 &), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Blue Moon Group
Holdings Limited (82 A= & BB R A7), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 06993) and was responsible
for human resources and administration management work. In
October 2010, Ms. Liu joined Beijing Jinye Tiansheng Technology
Co., Ltd. (AtRE&EXEBI AR AR, where she served as
head of human resources department until October 2013.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor’s degree with a major in business
administration from Beijing Forestry University (1 2 #k % K £)
in the PRC in July 2007 and obtained her MBA degree from
University of International Business and Economics (¥f 4% 75 &
5 KE) in the PRC in July 2017.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yang Yanling (1 % ¥) was appointed as a joint company
secretary of the Company on 4 March 2021 and became the
sole company secretary of the Company with effect from 15
July 2024. Ms. Yang joined the Group in March 2018 and
currently serves as a human resources manager of the Group
and is in charge of the overall management of the human
resources department and assists in the management of other
operation departments including medical, design and creative
departments. Before joining the Group, Ms. Yang served as
human resources specialist in Beijing Suifang Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (3t R BE /715 E £ 17 B BR 2 7)) from August
2015 to February 2018, a human resources specialist in Beijing
SDL Technology Co., Ltd. (It ZFEHMER FZRHER R F)
from December 2014 to July 2015 and worked in the human
resources department in Beijing Zeyuan Huitong Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (It FUZ2R B BE HER AR A R]) from
March 2013 to November 2014. Ms. Yang obtained a bachelor’s
degree in agriculture from Hebei North University (Ja/4t4k 77 Ef7)
in June 2013.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present this annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is the leading online professional physician platform
in China. The Group has focused on using technology to
support physicians’ clinical decision making for over 20
years. Its self-developed Medlive (Eiki®) platform is widely
recognized by physicians in China as the most popular
professional medical platform. The Medlive platform is available
through the Company’s website, desktop application and mobile
application.

The Group generates revenue by offering three categories
of solutions to address various needs of its Medlive platform
participants, namely, precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent patient
management solutions. The Group derives most of its
revenue from precision marketing solutions, which offer digital
healthcare marketing services to pharmaceutical and medical
device companies. The Group also offers various corporate
solutions that enable (i) pharmaceutical and medical device
companies to cost-effectively conduct market research; and (ii)
pharmaceutical and medical device companies, hospitals and
other stakeholders of the healthcare industry to improve the
efficiency of clinical trials and medical research.

The Group’s medical knowledge solutions satisfy the needs of
physicians for continuing medical education and clinical decision
support and the needs of other healthcare professionals
for professional medical information. The Group’s medical
knowledge solutions deliver medical knowledge content through
multiple user-friendly channels, including its website, mobile
applications, desktop applications, WeChat mini-programs and
WeChat official accounts.

Report of Directors

EEERE

ARREFR(ESB))MAREZ2H £2024
FRANBLEFEAEBEZ2FRELE
TEAMB®mE -

FERHG

AEEETPHELINEREXBE TS
T EFER RSB UREIFE B
BEHELETNEBERRR AEEBEX
FMBEMNERATETERDBEERZR
EXSEIBINEXRER TS - K
AFAUEBALRBY  RHEHERRE
FREBEARFEA-

AEEBBRBE-"MBBRARBERE
BAFR2RENTRTRIETMES K
BIREEEIERMBRTR  BEANH
BRTERNEERBEBEEBRTR A
SEARMO BB REBEEHERTE
RERTRERBHUENERERRBELRAREMR
BrEREHERYE AEETRHEZE
CEBRTR ((BREXRBERBL
AIAERAREN T ANETHIHHRE:
RiEHRERBEERERR Bk Rk
BETENEM2EERIRRARRK

BB RMNE -

AEBENE 2 MB AR EA R TSR
HEBBEBEHAERBRARIFHNFR
LREFREXABHEXBEEENHER -
AEENBENBEARATRBBL @G
BORBRERHEENBAR  BREAE
BHEy BHEAREF ZHERRE
FBENMNEFRBERRR -

BIENEERA R
"R MEER

43



44

Réport of Directors

EEgHRE

The Group’s intelligent patient management solutions offer
comprehensive single disease management services, including
(i) diseases knowledge dissemination and treatment compliance
monitoring management services to patients through Internet
hospital; and (i) condition-specific patient education services in
collaboration with non-profit organizations. The Group’s Internet
hospital-based chronic disease management currently focuses
on breast cancer, lung cancer, ovarian cancer, Parkinson’s,
lymphoma, stroke and diabetes management and will gradually
expand to other chronic diseases in the future. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s chronic disease management
services platform had accumulated approximately 555,000
users and in addition approximately 159,000 participating
physicians.

A list of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, together with their
places of incorporation and operation, principal activities and
particulars of their issued shares/registered share capital, is set
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW
OVERVIEW AND PERFORMANCE OF THE YEAR

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2024, a discussion and analysis on the Group’s
future business development and the key financial and
operational performance indicators employed by the Directors in
measuring the performance of the Group’s business are set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 21 to 33 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is not subject to any significant health, safety or
environmental risks. The Group is committed to fulfilling social
responsibility, promoting employee benefits and development,
protecting the environment and giving back to community
and achieving sustainable growth. Details of such are set out
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report issued
by the Company on the same date as this annual report. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report contains the
information required under Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to various PRC laws and regulations in
relation to its business in the PRC, including, without limitation,
in the aspects of online drug information services, Internet
advertising, Internet security, data privacy protection, value-
added telecommunication services and Internet hospital
business.

As far as the board of Directors (the “Board”) is aware, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group and have obtained all material
licenses, approvals and permits from relevant regulatory
authorities for the operations of the Group in the PRC. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, there has been no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes various stakeholders including
employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders. The Group
strives to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging,
collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with them.

The remuneration of employees of the Group will be based
on their performance, experience and the prevailing market
remuneration. The remuneration package of employees includes
basic salaries and performance-based bonus. Moreover, the
Group has also adopted a pre-IPO share option scheme, a
post-IPO share option scheme and a share award scheme. The
remuneration policy of the Directors is reviewed and determined
by the remuneration committee having regard to the Directors’
experience, responsibilities, workload and time devoted to the
Group and performance of the Group.

The Group’s customers primarily include (i) pharmaceutical
companies, medical device companies, hospitals, research
institutions and contract research organisations or CROs for
precision marketing and corporate solutions, (ii) physicians
and other users, including other healthcare professionals, for
medical knowledge solutions and (iii) patients, pharmaceutical
companies and non-profit organizations for intelligent patient
management solutions.
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The Group’s top suppliers are primarily providers of information
technology services, telecommunication services, customer
services, product procurement services, property rental services
and others.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
shareholders of the Company through focusing on business
strategies that aim to achieve sustainable profit growth and
rewarding shareholders with dividend payouts taking into
account the business development needs and financial health of
the Group and/or growth in the Company’s valuation.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
material and significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers, customers and/or other stakeholders.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the Group’s business. The Board
is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks and the
principal risks and uncertainties are summarized below:

° the growth of the Group depends on its ability to monetize
the Medlive platform. Failure to successfully implement
the Group’s monetization strategies or business initiatives
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations;

° the Group’s customers primarily include pharmaceutical
and medical device companies. A limited number of
customers have contributed a significant portion of the
Group’s revenues in the past. The Group’s high customer
concentration exposes it to risks faced by its major
customers and the Group may be subject to significant
fluctuations or declines in revenues;
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even though the Company implements measures to
review medical knowledge information and sponsored
information in light of the relevant laws and regulations as
well as internal guidelines before they are published on the
Company’s platform, such measures may not be effective
and the Company may still be held liable for information
displayed on, retrieved from or linked to the Company’s
platform or created by the Group;

any damage to the reputation and recognition of the
Group’s brand names, or failure to maintain or enhance
users’ trust in the Company’s platform, may materially
and adversely affect the Group’s business operations and
prospects;

failure to manage external physicians with whom the
Group collaborates to offer Internet hospital services may
subject the Group to penalties or medical liability claims
in connection with its Internet hospital services under the
intelligent patient management solutions, which could
cause the Group to incur significant expenses and be
liable for significant damages if any claim is not covered by
insurance;

the Group’s clinical research services under the corporate
solutions rely on hospitals and their physicians and other
supporting staff to update and enrich healthcare data
through their diagnosis and research activities and the
Group is not able to guarantee the accuracy, quality and
timeliness of such data;

the Company may become subject to claims, lawsuits and
liabilities in connection with its patient recruitment service
under the corporate solutions if any of these patients
incur personal injury or other harms from drugs or devices
tested on them;

failure to keep up with rapid changes in technologies
or adapt the Company’s platform to changing user
requirements or emerging industry standards, or if the
Group’s efforts to invest in the development of new
technologies are unsuccessful or ineffective, its business
may be materially and adversely affected; and
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° the Group is subject to extensive and evolving regulatory
requirements. The Group may be adversely affected by the
complexity, uncertainties and changes in PRC regulations
in relation to healthcare, digital healthcare, anti-corruption,
data privacy and Internet-related business and companies,
including limitations on its ability to own key assets.

The Company believes that risk management is essential to
the Group’s efficient and effective operation. The Company’s
management assists the Board in evaluating material risk
exposure arising internally and externally from the Group’s
business, including operational risks, financial risks,
regulatory risks, etc. and proactively setting up appropriate
risk management and internal control mechanism which is
embedded in daily operation management.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING YEAR
There was no important event affecting the Group which

occurred after the end of the Reporting Year up to the date of
this report.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2025

In 2025, the Group will continue its efforts to further solidify its
position as the leading online professional physician platform
in China by pursuing the strategies set out in pages 17 to 20 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this Directors’ Report, the Directors are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tian Liping (Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian Lixin
Mr. Tian Lijun
Ms. Zhou Xin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya
Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Richard Yeh
Dr. Ma Jun
Ms. Wang Shan

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 34 to 42 of this
annual report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

Each of the Company’s executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company on 17 June 2024, and each
of the Company’s non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors have signed letters of appointment
dated 25 June 2024 with the Company. The service contracts
with each of the executive Directors and the letters of
appointment with each of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors are for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from 18 June 2024 in the
case of the executive Directors and from 15 July 2024 in the
case of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors (other than Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo whose
term of appointment commenced from 14 April 2023). The
service contracts and letters of appointment may be terminated
in accordance with the respective terms thereof. The service
contracts may be renewed in accordance with the Company’s
second amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association (the “Articles of Association”) and the applicable
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Tian Lijun, Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya and Ms. Wang Shan shall retire
by rotation at the annual general meeting (the “Annual General
Meeting” or “AGM”) and they being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not determinable by the employer within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Due to expiry of his term, Dr. Ma Jun, an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, has ceased to be the
chairman of anti-leukemia association of the China Society of
Clinical Oncology (# Bl B fK f& /& 2 &) from January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
Directors’ biographical details which are required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Directors believe that effective talent management is the
foundation for the Group’s successful long-term development.
The Group greatly values its employees and will continue to
attract, cultivate and retain talent. The Group has adopted
comprehensive training program, pursuant to which employees
regularly receive training from management, technology,
regulatory and other internal speakers or external consultants.
All employees are eligible to attend relevant internal trainings and
they may also attend external trainings upon their supervisors’
approvals. The Group compensates employees and executive
Directors with base salaries and performance-based bonuses.
The Group has designed annual review systems to assess the
performance of its employees and executive Directors, which
forms the basis of the determinations on salary raises, bonuses
and where applicable, promotion. The Directors believe the
salaries and benefits that the Group’s employees receive are
competitive with market standards. In addition, the Company
has adopted share incentive schemes to incentivize employees
and senior management and to align their interests with that of
the Company.
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PENSION SCHEME

Details of the Group’s pension scheme are set out in notes 2.4
and 6 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The Group has three share incentive scheme, namely the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme, the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and the Share Award Scheme (as defined below). The Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme are
regulated under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 June 2021, a post-IPO share option scheme (the “Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was approved
and adopted by the shareholders of the Company. The
purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to incentivize
and reward the employees (whether full time or part-time) or
directors of members of the Group or associated companies of
the Company (the “Eligible Persons”) for their contribution to
the Group and to align their interests with that of the Company
so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company. Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, the Board (including any committee or delegate of the
Board appointed by the Board to perform any of its functions
pursuant to the rules of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme)
may, at its absolute discretion, offer to grant an option to an
Eligible Person to subscribe for such number of shares of the
Company (the “Share(s)”) as the Board may determine.

The total number of Shares available for issue upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme is 69,017,600 Shares (representing 9.42% of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) as at the
date of this report), or such higher limit as may be permitted
following compliance with the applicable Listing Rules (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit.
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No options and share awards shall be granted to any Eligible
Person under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the
Share Award Scheme which, if exercised, would result in such
Eligible Person becoming entitled to subscribe for such number
of Shares as, when aggregated with the total number of Shares
already issued or to be issued to him under all options granted
to him (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of offer of
such options, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date.
Any further grant of options to an Eligible Person in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders
in general meeting with such Eligible Person and his close
associates (or if such Eligible Person is a connected person of
the Company, his associates) abstaining from voting.

Share options granted shall be open for acceptance for a period
of not exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, the date of
offer of the share options, provided that no such offer shall
be open for acceptance after the expiry of the duration of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. An offer of share options not
accepted within this period shall lapse. An amount of HK$1.00
is payable upon acceptance of the grant of share options and
such payment shall not be refundable and shall not be deemed
to be a part payment of the exercise price.
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The exercise price shall be such price as determined by the
Board and notified to an option-holder and which shall not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of offer of the share option; (ii) the average of the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
qguotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the share option; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Shares.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date.
Accordingly, as at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately 6.5 years.

Any share option shall be vested on an option-holder in
accordance with any vesting schedule and/or conditions
specified in the offer of the share option, provided that the
vesting period shall not be less than 12 months. Any vested
share option which has not lapsed and which conditions have
been satisfied or waived by the Board in its sole discretion
may, unless the Board determines otherwise in its absolute
discretion, be exercised at any time from the next business day
after the offer of share options has been accepted. Any share
option which remains unexercised shall lapse upon the expiry
of the option period, which period shall be determined by the
Board and shall not exceed ten years from the offer date of the
share option.

No share options have been granted, vested, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and there are
no outstanding share options under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme. As such, the remuneration committee has
not discussed and decided on any matter relating to the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2024. The total number of options and share awards
available for grant under the scheme mandates of the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme as
at both 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 is 69,017,600,
representing approximately 9.42% of the issued share capital
(excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at the date of this
report.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 29 March 2021, a pre-IPO share option scheme (the
“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was
adopted. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is intended to provide employees of the Group (including
management) with an opportunity to enjoy its success and
incentives to their future performance. The principal terms of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are nearly the same as the terms
of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme except for the following:

(a)

save for the Pre-IPO Share Options granted on 2 April
2021, no further Pre-IPO Share Options has been granted
or will be available for grant on or after the Listing Date;

the option period in respect of the Pre-IPO Share Options
granted shall be from the Listing Date until the 5th
anniversary of the Listing Date, after which unexercised
Pre-IPO Share Options shall lapse and the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall terminate. Accordingly, the remaining
life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is approximately
1.5 years;

the Pre-IPO Share Options shall be vested in four equal
tranches with the vesting date on the first, second, third
and fourth anniversary date of the Listing Date;

the total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Pre-IPO Share Options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 26,754,000 Shares, representing 3.65% of the
issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the
Company as at the date of this report and representing
3.67% of the weighted average number of Shares in issue
(excluding treasury shares) (being 729,071,150) during the
year ended 31 December 2024; and

the exercise price per Share shall be RMB0.38 per
Share, which was determined with reference to the net
assets value of the Company and the historical financial
performance of the Company prior to the Listing of the
Company and with a view to incentivising the grantees of
the Pre-IPO Share Options.
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Pre-IPO Share Options for an aggregate of 26,754,000 Shares,
representing 3.65% of the issued share capital (excluding
treasury shares) of the Company as at the date of this report,
have been granted to 62 grantees on 2 April 2021 and all
grantees have accepted the grant. No further share options have
been granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme after
that date and no further share options can be granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme after the Company’s listing on
the Stock Exchange. Each Grantee is required to pay RMB1.00
by way of consideration for the grant of the Pre-IPO Share
Options. Particulars of the outstanding share options granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme as at 31 December
2024 are set out below:

No. of Shares

/A AlB 56202@4)%25 Me2% & &% A

& H 7] 2 826,754,000 A% 15 (15 A
%Ki&iaﬁﬁeﬁé TRAR(TBIEE
5%)#}%&2&%%&%%@%1&
% Fﬁﬁ?&)\iﬁafﬂm& o ZH1% -
BEREBEXAMRAZESH] %Hﬂ%ﬁrﬁu
— SR BB E HZ!SAT %2 BT E
mE WMTreEsREBX “Eﬂ%éé%ﬁuﬁﬁ
PR E R M ERE - FEBRAA
EZH/\E%H QOTEAREE I AAEE
AIEE L E AR B - 70202412 A31H » 1R
BEEAAAZEERESIEREM
MARITHENEREFBEHINDOT

No. of Shares

involved in involved in
outstanding outstanding
share Share Options
options as at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed asat Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price (RMB
Name/Category of grantees Date of grant 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024 per Share) Exercise period®
2024 2045
BRI 12ANAXGE
ERERY ERERY ifi3
REALE/ BRI RHAH Ro&E  ERRE  EAGR EREE FAAR RHEE (BRARY) figH
Tian Liping (Chairwomar, Chief Executive 2 April 2021 5,069,000 - 2534500 - - 2,534,500 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
Offcer and executive Director)
BUT(EZk FEATEAHTES) WNE4RA WNETABAZABETAA
Tian Lixin (xecutive Digctor) 2 April 2021 1,275,000 - 637,600 - - 637,500 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
ik 22 0215428 2ETABAZNBE A58
Tian Lijun ferecutive Director) 2 April 201 1,275,000 - 637,500 - - 637,500 038 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
RUE(H7£E) E4RR WAETABAZABETAE
Zhang Xiaofeng (spouse of Ms. Tian 2 April 2021 50,000 - 25,000 - - 25,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
Liping)
RREFTTL12E8) E4RR WAETABAZABETAE
Liu Lingdi /spouise of M: Tian Livin) 2 April 2021 50,000 - 25,000 - - 25,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
YeRarirsih) 0215428 WNETABAZABETAE
Employees 2 April 2021 5,618,000 - 2,064,000 - 25,000 3,639,000 0.38 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2026
8 15428 NETAIAZ06ETAI5A
Toti\ 13,337,000 - 5913500 - 25,000 7,398,500
R

(1) The above share options shall be vested in four equal tranches with
vesting date on 15 July 2022, 15 July 2023, 15 July 2024 and 15 July
2025.

The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the dates on which the Pre-IPO Share Options were
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2024 was
HK$7.89.

The remuneration committee has not discussed or decided on
any matter relating to the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board adopted a share award scheme which took effect
from 24 December 2021 (the “Share Award Scheme”). The
main purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to encourage and
retain selected personnel to work for the Group or to make
contribution to the Group and to provide additional incentive for
them to achieve performance goals, with a view to achieving the
objective of increasing the value of the Company and aligning
the interests of the selected personnel with the Shareholders
through ownership of Shares.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration
of the Board or any committee of the Board delegated with the
power and authority by the Board to administer the Share Award
Scheme from time to time (the “Administration Body”).

The eligible participants of the Share Award Scheme are
employees (full time or part time), directors, officers, agents
or consultants of the Company, its subsidiaries or holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries and associated companies of the
Company (the “Eligible Participants”).

The Administration Body may, at its absolute discretion and in
fulfilment of the purposes of the Scheme, grant such number of
share awards to any Eligible Participant at the grant price and at
such vesting price as the Administration Body may determine.
The grant price, which is payable by the Eligible Participant
upon accepting the share awards, shall be US$0.00001 per
underlying Share of the share awards, being the par value of
the Shares. The vesting price, which is payable by the Eligible
Participant upon vesting, shall be such amount per underlying
Share of the share awards as determined by the Administration
Body at the time of grant, having taken into account factors
such as the position and past performance of the relevant
Eligible Participant. The vesting price can be nil. The Eligible
Participant shall also pay all fees, expenses and taxes in relation
to the transfer of Shares to him upon vesting.

The Administration Body shall determine and set out in the
grant letters the vesting conditions, which shall include minimum
period for which the share awards must be held before they
vest. Such minimum period shall not be less than one year and
shall not be more than 10 years. Other vesting conditions may
include performance targets of the individual Eligible Participant
and/or the Company. Share awards may be clawed back, i.e.
withheld or reduced, if the applicable performance targets are
not reached.
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The total number of Shares available for issue pursuant to the
Share Award Scheme (together with Shares to be issued upon
exercise of options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme), shall not exceed 69,517,600 Shares (the “Share
Award Scheme Mandate Limit”), representing approximately
9.49% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury
shares) as at the date of this report. The Share Award Scheme
Mandate Limit may be refreshed by approval of shareholders
of the Company, as permitted and in accordance with the
requirements under the Listing Rules. No individual Eligible
Participant shall be granted share awards where such grant will
result in him being granted in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of grant, share awards and share options in
aggregate over 1% of the Shares in issue at the time of grant
(or such percentage limit permitted under the Listing Rules from
time to time), unless such grant is approved by shareholders of
the Company in a general meeting where the grantee and his
close associates have abstained from voting.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on 24 December 2021. Accordingly,
as at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the Share Award
Scheme is approximately 7 years.

On 17 January 2022, the Company appointed Futu Trustee
Limited as an independent trustee for the purpose of the
Share Award Scheme. Futu Trustee Limited is a trust company
registered under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance (Chapter
29 of the Laws of Hong Kong). It is a third party independent
of and not connected with the Company and/or any of its
connected persons.

Particulars of the outstanding share awards granted under the
Share Award Scheme as at 31 December 2024 are set out
below:

BRI RN SEE AT 8 AT B TR D GER
RAITEREI AN ARAEERERETE
FITrEREMEITORD BETE
{8 1869,517,6008% i 19 (X R R A 3k & B
HHEBETROTEEERERM A
199.49%) (LA T 5 T [ A% 19 48 @b =1 81 12 /&
PREE]) - WEARFIREMEBEC(ET
MEADAFHEET - RDEEEIRE
REATFTEH - TABEAAKLEEE
BlphERE EEHERTRAERES
B)IH12fE AR AT ERKR KD EB LB
BRESTTEBBERTFREETRMHMI%
(HCETREADTRFREBDLLERH) B
FEABAREZEZHEARERER
BRT  AREIRERABRRAS LALE
ZERE -

f& fr 2Z Bh 5T 81 A X HA & 852021912 H24
Hif104F - At » R2024F12A318 © &
HEEFTEMNGTFIRNAETE -

2022F1A178 » AR A G AR 1D 22 Bh &t &
ZHEEREATERRAIABIITA
ERETERQAARABRBRERTEEMFE29
B(RFEAEOEISN)IEEMBOETEAR
Bl BBYFE=ZH - BARE KR SKEME
fAIREE AT EREE o

M20245F12 A31H R 1% A 17 B Bh 51 81 8%
HERITERD BB FBEIWT

No. of Shares No. of Shares
involved in involved in
unvested unvested
share awards Vested and share awards
asat Granted  exercised  Cancelled Lapsed asat Exercise
1 January during during during during 31 December price (RMB
Category of grantees Date of grant 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024 perShare) Exercise period®
20245 20245
1H1RREER 12A%BARE
kL] ERER R %R il
ARAESR REAH FYROER  EARE Rk EMEE  ERAN KURBEE (BRARY) fkE
Employee 17 January 2022 437,500 - 62,500 - - 375,000 =019 July 2023 to 19 July 2030
3 N2E1R1TA N23ETH19R 2203077198
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Notes:

(1)  The grantee paid US$0.00001 per share award upon acceptance of
the 500,000 share awards. No further consideration is payable by the
grantee upon vesting and exercise.

(2)  The share awards shall be vested in eight equal tranches with the
vesting date on 19 July of each year beginning in 2023 and ending in
2030.

(3) No shares award was granted and no Share was issued pursuant to
the Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The total number of share awards and options available for
grant under the scheme mandates of the Share Award Scheme
and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as at both 1 January
2024 and 31 December 2024 is 69,017,600, representing
approximately 9.42% of the issued share capital (excluding
treasury shares) of the Company as at the date of this report.

The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately
before the date on which the Share Awards were vested and
exercised during the year ended 31 December 2024 was
HK$8.00.

The remuneration committee has not discussed or decided on
any matter relating to the Share Award Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December
2024, none of the Directors or their respective associates had
engaged in or had any interest in any business which competes
or may compete with the business of the Group.
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DEEDS OF NON-COMPETITION BY THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the Company’s controlling shareholders, namely Ms.
Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun and Tiantian Co.,
Limited (as one group) and M3, Inc., has entered into a deed of
non-competition dated 18 June 2021 in favor of the Company
pursuant to which, each of them has undertaken, in summary,
not to carry on or engage in any business in the PRC which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of any member of the Group as at the date
of the deeds of non-competition (the “Principal Business”),
for so long as they remain as controlling shareholders. In
addition, the Company and M3, Inc. have undertaken to each
other that if either of them intends to carry on or conduct the
Principal Business outside of the PRC (the “Business Plans”),
such party shall inform the other party in writing and explore
collaboration opportunities regarding the Business Plans with
the other party.

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed in writing
that it has complied with its respective deed of non-competition
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of the
compliance by the controlling shareholders of the deeds
of non-competition, and were satisfied that the controlling
shareholders have duly complied with the Deeds of Non-
Competition.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted
in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, during the
year ended or as at 31 December 2024.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions of the Group constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

A. CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group is primarily engaged in the operation of an
online professional physician platform and mainly offers
three types of solutions, namely precision marketing and
corporate solutions, medical knowledge solutions and
intelligent patient management solutions.

Beijing Yimaihutong Technology Co., Ltd. (1t = & ik &
BRI AR AR (“Yimaihutong”) operates the Group’s
Medlive website and desktop and mobile applications. The
provision of medical knowledge solutions on the Medlive
website and desktop and mobile applications involves
the provision by Yimaihutong of medical information
and content for fees (including membership fees) and
therefore is subject to restrictions under PRC regulations
relating to value-added telecommunication. Furthermore,
Yimaihutong is engaging in the business for any foreign-
related market investigation and planning to engage in
the production of online medical radio and television
video shows and programs. Once such production
commences, Yimaihutong will be engaging in the
production of radio and television video and programs and
Internet culture business. Yimaihutong holds the relevant
licenses, including the value-added telecommunications
business operating license for provision of Internet
information services (the “ICP License”), the radio and
television program production license (the “Radio and
TV License”), the Internet cultural operation license
(the “Internet Culture License”) and the License for
Foreign-Related Investigation (the “Foreign-Related
Investigation License”), required for carrying out
the above services and operating the aforementioned
businesses. In addition, the business focus of Yinchuan
Yimaitong Internet Hospital Co., Ltd. (iF JI| & Ik & & ¥

BB AR A AF) (“Yinchuan Yimaitong’), a Wholly—
owned subsidiary of Yimaihutong, is to provide online
consultation and e-prescription services through its own
platform through cooperation with a qualified hospital
in Ningxia Autonomous Region, or Internet hospital
services. Yinchuan Yimaitong holds the medical institution
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practicing license (the “Medical Institution Practicing
License”), required for carrying out the Internet hospital
service. Furthermore, the business scope of Shanghai
Yimaitong Huilin Medical Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Huilin”), a 60% subsidiary of Yimaihutong, includes
data processing and storage support services which
are subject to foreign investment restrictions. In October
2021, the Group acquired 60% equity interest of Beijing
Medcon Information Consulting Co., Ltd. (it REM#BE(E
B #%#AARAR) (“Beijing Medcon”). Beijing Medcon
is a well-known software as a service or SaaS solution
platform for academic conferences in the PRC and is one
of the leading professional and prominent technology
providers in academic conference management focusing
on medical conference. Beijing Medcon currently holds (i)
the Radio and TV License; (ii) the Internet Culture License;
and (iii) the ICP License. The aforementioned businesses
conducted by Yimaihutong, Yinchuan Yimaitong, Shanghai
Huilin and Beijing Medcon (together the “Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”) are considered to involve (i) value-
added telecommunications services; (i) foreign-related
market investigation business; (iii) radio and television
program production business; (iv) Internet culture business;
(v) data processing and storage support services; and/or
(vi) Internet hospital services, which are subject to foreign
investment restrictions and/or prohibition under applicable
PRC laws and regulations.

The revenue contribution of all of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to the Group amounted to approximately
26.7% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. As at 31 December 2024, the total
assets of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in aggregate
represent approximately 3.3% of the total assets of the
Group. In particular, the total assets of Beijing Medcon
represent approximately 1.8% of the total assets of the
Group.
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Because the businesses carried out by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities are subject to foreign ownership
restrictions and/or prohibitions, the Company does not
directly own any equity interests in the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities. Yimaihutong is held by Ms. Tian Liping as
to 50% and Mr. Tian Lixin as to 50%, Yinchuan Yimaitong
is wholly-owned by Yimaihutong and Beijing Medcon is
owned as to 60% by Yimaihutong.

In line with common practice in industries in the PRC
subject to foreign investment restrictions, the Company
gains effective control over, and receives all the economic
benefits generated by the businesses currently operated by
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the contractual
arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
between the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Kingyee
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. (@ E XKL R)BIHBERAF) (Jinye
Tiancheng”), on the one hand, and Yimaihutong (which
holds the equity interests in Yinchuan Yimaitong and
Beijing Medcon) and Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin
(together, the “Registered Shareholders”), on the
other. The Contractual Arrangements allow the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to be consolidated into the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Group under
HKFRS as if they were subsidiaries of the Group.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of
economic benefits from Yimaihutong to the Group as
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:

THEEFHAEGHNL M ARE
I BB 2 AR E A LA IRA -

60%

,,,,,, Registered Shareholders!”
The Company BRI
ARF 100% ©
i 100%
.
i imi Yimaihutong
Kingyee (HK) Co., Limited BT
i 100% ‘ 60%
Jinye Tiancheng | 100%
e .
SRR Yinchuan Yimaitong
R B xS

Shanghai Huilin
HiBER

Beijing Medcon
Bl e S i)

,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,

—— denotes direct legal and beneficiary ownership in the equity

---- denotes contractual relationships under the Contractual Arrangements

[ ZZ1 denotes the equity interests controlled by the Group under the Contractual Arrangements
[—1 denotes Consolidated Affiliated Entities

Notes:

(1) The Registered Shareholders are Ms. Tian Liping and Mr.
Tian Lixin, who holds 50% and 50% of the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, respectively.

(2)  The Exclusive Operations Service Agreement, Exclusive
Option Agreement, Loan Agreements, Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement and Spouse
Undertakings (summaries of which are set out below) together
form the legal relationship under the Contractual Arrangements.

Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin are shareholders of
Tiantian Co., Limited, a controlling shareholder of the
Company and both Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin
are Directors of the Company and therefore they are
both connected persons of the Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. As they each holds 50% of
the equity interests in Yimaihutong, each of Yimaihutong
and its subsidiaries is an associate of each of Ms. Tian
Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin and a connected person of
the Company under Rule 14A.07(4) of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
Contractual Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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A description of each of the specific agreements that
comprise the Contractual Arrangements is set out below.

Exclusive Operation Services Agreement

The Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong have
entered into exclusive operation services agreement
with Jinye Tiancheng on 14 April 2023 (the “Exclusive
Operation Services Agreement”), pursuant to which,
Yimaihutong agreed to engage Jinye Tiancheng as its
exclusive provider of technical support, consulting services
and other services in exchange for a service fee.

Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, the
services to be provided include but are not limited to (i)
provide advice, support and assistance relating to the
operation of medical information business, investigation
business and e-detailing business, operation, project
and membership management and accounting and tax
management; (i) formulate plans relating to Yimaihutong’s
current and future assets and business operations
and be responsible for implementing these plans; (iii)
provide opinions, suggestions and management to
improve Yimaihutong’s human resources and operational
capabilities; (iv) assist Yimaihutong in collecting technical
and commercial data and conducting market research and
provide industry information and management strategies;
(v) screen and recommend customers for Yimaihutong
and provide recommendations and strategies relating
to promotion; (vi) second Jinye Tiancheng’s technicians
and employees to Yimaihutong to provide technical
operation monitoring, market strategy research, and
formulate operating strategies; (vii) provide suggestions
and opinions on the establishment and improvement of
company structure, management system and department
configuration; (viii) screen and recommend suppliers for
Yimaihutong; (ix) license Yimaihutong the right to use all
necessary intellectual property rights of Jinye Tiancheng;
and (x) other relevant technical services, operation
and maintenance, equipment and facilities provision,
management and consulting services provided from time
to time at the request of Yimaihutong as permitted by the
laws and regulations of the PRC.
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Jinye Tiancheng has exclusive proprietary rights and
interests to all the intellectual properties developed or
created by itself from the performance of these services
and has the right to use such proprietary rights free of
charge.

Under the Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, the
service fee shall be an amount equal to 100% of the
distributable net profit of Yimaihutong of a given audited
financial year, after deducting losses from the previous
financial years (if any) and any statutory provident fund
(if applicable). Apart from the service fees, Yimaihutong
shall reimburse all reasonable costs, reimbursed payments
and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by Jinye Tiancheng
in connection with the performance of the Exclusive
Operation Services Agreement and provision of services.

The Exclusive Operation Services Agreement shall become
effective from signing and shall continue to be effective
until being terminated in accordance with the terms
therein. According to the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement, unless otherwise required by applicable PRC
laws and regulations, none of the parties to the agreement
(except Jinye Tiancheng) is entitled to unilaterally
terminate the agreement. Furthermore, pursuant to the
Exclusive Operation Services Agreement, it may only be
terminated in the event that (i) continued performance
of the obligations of the agreement will result in violation
of or non-compliance with the applicable PRC laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules or the requirements of the
Stock Exchange, (ii) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person(s) directly holds all the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity
interests in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.
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Exclusive Option Agreement

On 14 April 2023, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into the exclusive
option agreement (the “Exclusive Option Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, (i) each of the
Registered Shareholders irrevocably and unconditionally
grants an exclusive option to Jinye Tiancheng which
entitles Jinye Tiancheng to elect to purchase at any
time, itself or through its designated person(s), when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, (a) all or
any part of the equity interests in Yimaihutong and (b)
the Registered Shareholders’ present and future rights,
interests, income, claims, current or future receivables
and compensations related to their equity interests in
Yimaihutong and dividends and other payments distributed
from Yimaihutong to the Registered Shareholders from time
to time and (i) Yimaihutong irrevocably and unconditionally
grants an exclusive option to Jinye Tiancheng which
entitles Jinye Tiancheng to elect to purchase at any time,
itself or through its designated person(s), when permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the assets
of Yimaihutong. The transfer price of the relevant equity
interests and assets shall be the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC law, and each of the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong will undertake that she/
it will, subject to applicable PRC laws, return in full the
consideration received in relation to such transfer of equity
interests or assets to Jinye Tiancheng.
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The Registered Shareholders undertake to develop the
business of Yimaihutong and not to take any action which
may affect their asset value, goodwill and effectiveness
of business licenses. Furthermore, in the absence of
prior written consent of Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders shall not (i) transfer or otherwise dispose
of any option under the Exclusive Option Agreement, or
create any encumbrances thereon; and Yimaihutong shall
not assist in transferring or otherwise disposing of any
option under the Exclusive Option Agreement, or creating
any encumbrances thereon; (ii) require Yimaihutong to
distribute dividends or other forms of profit distribution in
respect of their equity interest of Yimaihutong. In any event,
if the Registered Shareholders receive any of Yimaihutong’s
income, profit distribution, or dividends, the Registered
Shareholders shall, within the scope permitted by laws and
regulations of the PRC, waive the receipt of such income,
profit distribution, or dividends, and immediately pay the
same to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s); (iii)
directly or indirectly (by itself or through the entrustment
of any other natural person or legal person entity) carry
out, own or acquire any business that competes with or
will likely compete with the business of Jinye Tiancheng or
the Group; and (iv) engage in business operations or any
other conduct which will adversely affect Jinye Tiancheng’s
reputation.

In the absence of prior written consent of Jinye Tiancheng,
Yimaihutong shall not (i) directly or indirectly dispose
or dilute the rights and interests of its subsidiary and
branches; (i) change its principal business, conduct any
business activities that may have a significant impact on
its assets, business, rights and operations; (iii) carry out
merger, form partnership or joint venture with any person,
acquire or invest in any person, carry out division or
reorganization, amend its articles of association or any joint
venture contract and change registered capital or the form
of the company; and (iv) incur, inherit, guarantee or allow
any debt, except (a) debts generated in the normal course
of business other than through loans; and (b) debts that
have been disclosed to, and approved in writing by, Jinye
Tiancheng.
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In addition, the Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong
undertake that, upon Jinye Tiancheng issuing the notice
to exercise the option in accordance with the Exclusive
Option Agreement, they will implement necessary actions
to effect the transfer and relinquish any pre-emptive
right, if any. Each of the parties to the Exclusive Option
Agreement confirms and agrees that (i) in the event of a
dissolution or liquidation of Yimaihutong under the PRC
laws, all the residual assets which are attributable to the
Registered Shareholders shall be transferred to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s) at the minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC law, and each of the
Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong undertakes that
they will, subject to applicable PRC laws, return in full the
consideration received in relation to such transfer to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s), (i) in the event of
bankruptcy, death or incapacity divorce of the Registered
Shareholders, change of shareholders or any other event
which causes changes to the Registered Shareholders’
shareholding in Yimaihutong, the successor of the
Registered Shareholders’ equity interest in Yimaihutong
shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements, and
(i) any disposal of shareholding in Yimaihutong shall be
governed by the Contractual Arrangements unless Jinye
Tiancheng consents otherwise in writing.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall become effective
from signing. The Exclusive Option Agreement has an
indefinite term and a termination provision which stipulates
that the Exclusive Option Agreement may only be
terminated in the event that (i) continued performance of
the obligations of the agreement will result in violation of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations,
the Listing Rules or the requirements of the Stock
Exchange, (ii) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s)
directly holds all the equity interests in Yimaihutong,
and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity interests
in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.
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Loan Agreements

Pursuant to the loan agreement dated 6 November 2013
between Jinye Tiancheng and Ms. Tian Liping (the “Tian
Liping Loan Agreement”) and the loan agreement dated
14 April 2023 between Jinye Tiancheng and Mr. Tian
Lixin (together with the Tian Liping Loan Agreement, the
“Loan Agreements”), Jinye Tiancheng (i) made a loan
in an amount of RMB1,000,000 to Ms. Tian Liping for the
capitalization of Yimaihutong, (i) made a loan in an amount
of RMB1,260,998.02 to Mr. Tian Lixin primarily for the
payment of the consideration for the transfer of 50% equity
interest in Yimaihutong from Dr. Li Zhuolin to Mr. Tian Lixin.
Pursuant to these loan agreements, Ms. Tian Liping and
Mr. Tian Lixin can only repay the respective loans by the
sale of all of their respective equity interest in Yimaihutong
to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person. They must
sell all of their respective equity interests in Yimaihutong
to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person and pay
all of the proceeds from sale of such equity interests or
the maximum amount permitted under PRC law to Jinye
Tiancheng. In the event that any of them sell their equity
interests to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person
with a price equivalent to or less than the amount of the
principal, Jinye Tiancheng shall waive the repayment of the
remaining amount. If the price is higher than the amount
of the principal, the excess amount will be paid to Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person. The consideration of
RMB1,260,998.02 received by Dr. Li Zhuolin for the transfer
of 50% equity interest in Yimaihutong to Mr. Tian Lixin was
used to repay in full the loan due to Jinye Tiancheng by Dr.
Li Zhuolin under the loan agreement dated 2 March 2021
between Jinye Tiancheng and Dr. Li Zhuolin. The Loan
Agreements do not have a term and the loans must be
repaid immediately under certain circumstances, including,
among others, (i) the death of the Registered Shareholders
or when the Registered Shareholders become persons
with limited capacity, (i) the Registered Shareholders are
suspected of criminal activities or (iii) breach of the terms
and conditions of the Loan Agreements.
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Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement

On 14 April 2023, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into the
shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement”).

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, the Registered Shareholders irrevocably and
unconditionally agree to authorize Jinye Tiancheng (and its
successors or liquidators) or a natural person designated
by Jinye Tiancheng (the “Attorney”) to exercise all of his/
her rights and powers as a shareholder of Yimaihutong (as
applicable), including without limitation:

° to suggest, propose and attend shareholders’
meetings of Yimaihutong and to execute any
and all meeting notices, written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
shareholder;

o to file documents with the relevant companies
registry;

° to exercise all shareholder’s rights and shareholder’s
voting rights in accordance with PRC laws and the
constitutional documents of Yimaihutong, including
but not limited to (i) deal, manage and obtain the
assets of, and obtain the income of, Yimaihutong; and
(i) the sale, transfer, pledge or disposal of any or all
of the equity interests in Yimaihutong;

o to nominate or appoint the directors, supervisors,
general manager and other senior management of
Yimaihutong; and

° to make decisions on major matters related to
Yimaihutong’s business and review and approve all
relevant reports and plans.

As Jinye Tiancheng is a subsidiary of the Company, the
terms of the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
will give the Company control over all corporate decisions
made by such Attorney and exercise management control
over Yimaihutong.
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The Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement shall
become effective from signing and has an indefinite
term. The Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
may only be terminated in the event that (i) continued
performance of the obligations of the agreement will result
in violation of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules or the requirements of
the Stock Exchange, (ii) Jinye Tiancheng or its designated
person(s) directly holds all the equity interests in
Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered Shareholders’ equity
interests in Yimaihutong or all of the assets of Yimaihutong
attributable to the Registered Shareholders are transferred
to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant to applicable PRC laws and
regulations or (iii) Jinye Tiancheng unilaterally terminates
the agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreement

On 14 April 2023, Jinye Tiancheng, the Registered
Shareholders and Yimaihutong entered into equity pledge
agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”). Pursuant to
the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered Shareholders
agree to pledge (i) all of their respective equity interests
in Yimaihutong to Jinye Tiancheng, and (ii) the Registered
Shareholders’ present and future rights, interests, income,
claims, current or future receivables and compensations
related to their equity interests in Yimaihutong and
dividends and other payments distributed from
Yimaihutong to the Registered Shareholders from time to
time, to secure performance of, among other things, their
obligations under the Equity Pledge Agreement.

If Yimaihutong declares any dividend during the term
of the pledge, Jinye Tiancheng is entitled to receive all
dividends or other income arising from the pledged equity
interests, if any. In case of any breach of obligations by
any of the Registered Shareholders and Yimaihutong, Jinye
Tiancheng, upon issuing a written notice to the Registered
Shareholders, will be entitled to all remedies available in
the Contractual Arrangements including but not limited to
disposing of the pledged equity interests.
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In addition, pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the
Registered Shareholders undertake to Jinye Tiancheng,
among other things, not to transfer their pledged equity
interests and not to create or allow any pledge or
encumbrance thereon that may affect the rights and
interest of Jinye Tiancheng without its prior written
consent. Yimaihutong undertakes to Jinye Tiancheng,
among other things, not to consent to any transfer of the
pledged equity interests or to create or allow any pledge
or encumbrance thereon without Jinye Tiancheng’s prior
written consent.

The pledge in respect of Yimaihutong takes effect upon the
completion of registration with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce and shall remain valid until
after (i) all the contractual obligations under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements have been fully performed; (ii)
all the outstanding debts under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully paid; (iii) Jinye Tiancheng,
as permitted by the laws and regulations of the PRC,
decides to purchase all the equity interest in and/or assets
of Yimaihutong held by the Registered Shareholders in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement; and (iv)
the equity interest of the Registered Shareholders has been
transferred to Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s)
in accordance with the laws and regulations of the PRC
and Jinye Tiancheng or its designated person(s) can legally
engage in Yimaihutong'’s business.

The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective from
signing. The Equity Pledge Agreement has an indefinite
term and a termination provision which stipulates that the
Equity Pledge Agreement may only be terminated in the
event that (i) continued performance of the obligations of
the agreement will result in violation of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations, the Listing Rules
or the requirements of the Stock Exchange, (ii) Jinye
Tiancheng or its designated person(s) directly holds all the
equity interests in Yimaihutong, and all of the Registered
Shareholders’ equity interests in Yimaihutong or all of
the assets of Yimaihutong attributable to the Registered
Shareholders are transferred to Jinye Tiancheng pursuant
to applicable PRC laws and regulations; or (iii) Jinye
Tiancheng unilaterally terminates the agreement.
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SPOUSE UNDERTAKINGS

The spouses of each of the Registered Shareholders have
each signed an undertaking (the “Spouse Undertakings”)
to the effect that he/she has no right to the respective
50% equity interests in Yimaihutong held by the Registered
Shareholders. Each of the Spouse Undertakings does not
have a term.

The above arrangements provide protection to the
Group even in the event of death or divorce of the
Registered Shareholders and the death or divorce of such
shareholder would not affect the validity of the Contractual
Arrangements, and Jinye Tiancheng or the Company can
still enforce their right under the Contractual Arrangements
against the Registered Shareholders and their successors.

OTHER KEY TERMS THEREUNDER
Dispute Resolution

Each of the agreements under the Contractual
Arrangements contains a dispute resolution provision.
Pursuant to such provision, in the event of any dispute
arising from the performance of or relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, any party has the right to
submit the relevant dispute to the Beijing Arbitration
Commission for arbitration, in accordance with the then
effective arbitration rules.

Succession

The provisions set out in the Contractual Arrangements
are also binding on any successor(s) of the Registered
Shareholders as if such successors were a signing party
to the Contractual Arrangements. As such, any breach by
the successors would be deemed to be a breach of the
Contractual Arrangements. Under the PRC Civil Code, the
statutory successors include the spouse, children, parents,
brothers, sisters, paternal grandparents and maternal
grandparents. In the case of a breach, Jinye Tiancheng
can enforce its rights against the successors.
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Conflicts of Interests

Each of Registered Shareholders undertakes that,
during the period that the Contractual Arrangements
remain effective, they shall not take or omit to take
any action which may lead to a conflict of interest with
Jinye Tiancheng or Jinye Tiancheng'’s direct or indirect
shareholders. If there is any conflict of interest, Jinye
Tiancheng shall have the right to decide in its sole
discretion on how to deal with such conflict of interest
in accordance with the applicable PRC laws. Registered
Shareholders will unconditionally follow the instructions
of Jinye Tiancheng to take any action to eliminate such
conflict of interest.

NO MATERIAL CHANGE TO CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

There has been no material change to the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements during the year ended 31
December 2024 and until the date of this report.

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

There are the certain risks that are associated with the
Contractual Arrangements, including:

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the operations
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the PRC do
not comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if these laws or regulations or the interpretation of
existing laws and regulations change in the future,
the Group could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual
Arrangements and may be forced to relinquish its
interest in those operations.

° Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership.
The Consolidated Affiliated Entities or the Registered
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements and the
Registered Shareholders may have potential conflicts
of interest with the Company.
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o The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities, and a finding that
the Group owes additional taxes could negatively
affect its financial condition.

° The Group’s current corporate structure and business
operations may be affected by the Foreign Investment
Law, which is relatively new and uncertainties exist
in relation to its interpretation and implementation,
and it remains uncertain whether the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed to be in violation of the
market access requirements for foreign investment in
the PRC.

° The Group may lose the ability to use, or otherwise
benefit from, the licenses, approvals and assets held
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities if any of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities declares bankruptcy
or becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation
proceeding.

° The Group does not have any insurance which covers
the risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements and
the transactions contemplated thereunder.

MITIGATION ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY

The Company’s management works closely with its
external legal counsels and advisors to monitor the
regulatory environment and developments in PRC laws
and regulations to mitigate the risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements.

The Group has adopted measures to ensure the
effective operation of the Group’s businesses with the
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements and its
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements, including,
among others:

()  major issues arising from the implementation and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements or any
regulatory enquiries from government authorities will
be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for review
and discussion as and when they arise;
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(i)  the Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at
least once a year;

(i) the Company will disclose the overall performance
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in
the annual reports;

(iv) the Company will engage external legal advisers or
other professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the
Board to review the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Jinye
Tiancheng and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
deal with specific issues or matters arising from the
Contractual Arrangements; and

(v) the independent non-executive Directors will review
the compliance of the Contractual Arrangements
on an annual basis and their confirmation will be
disclosed in the Company’s annual report.

WAIVER FROM THE STOCK EXCHANGE

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The Company has applied to the Stock
Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver (i) pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules from
strict compliance with the announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements,
and (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for the
transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under
Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement
of limiting the term of the Contractual Arrangements to
three years or less under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules,
for so long as Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,
subject to certain conditions. For details, please refer to
the section “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus and the Company’s announcement dated 14
April 2023.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
of the Company contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried out during the year ended 31 December 2024
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements; (ii) no
dividends or other distributions have been made by
Yimaihutong to the holders of its equity interests which
are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred
to the Group; and (i) no new transactions, contracts and
agreements or renewal of existing agreements have been
entered into between the Group and Yimaihutong during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONFIRMATION FROM THE COMPANY’S
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN RESPECT OF THE
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ernst & Young has issued its unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions in connection with Contractual
Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2024, in
particular, confirming that the transactions have received
the approval of the Directors, have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant Contractual Arrangements,
and that no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the
holders of their equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
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PRECISION MARKETING AND CORPORATE
SOLUTIONS SERVICES FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement entered into by
the Company and M3, Inc. on 18 June 2021, the Company
provides digital market research services and digital
content creation and digital detailing services to M3, Inc.
and/or its associates.

The Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services
Framework Agreement became effective on 15 July 2021
and is valid for one year.

The service fee receivable by the Company under the
Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services
Framework Agreement is determined on normal
commercial terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis, on
similar basis as the Group conducts businesses with
other independent third parties and shall be at rates no
less favorable than rates at which the Company and/or its
subsidiaries charge independent third parties for similar
services.

On 24 March 2022, the Company and M3, Inc. entered into
a renewal agreement to extend the term of the Precision
Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services Framework
Agreement to 31 December 2024 and on 11 November
2024, the Company and M3, Inc. entered into the 2024
Renewal Agreement to extend the term of the Precision
Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services Framework
Agreement to 31 December 2027. The annual caps for
the years ending 31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027 are
RMB20.0 million, RMB20.0 million and RMB20.0 million,
respectively. Details of the 2024 Renewal Agreement
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 11
November 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the amount of
service fees payable by the Group under the Precision
Marketing and Corporate Solutions Services Framework
Agreement was approximately RMB10.50 million, which is
below the annual cap of RMB13.6 million.

M3, Inc. is a controlling shareholder of the Company
and is a connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions
contemplated under the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement (the “MS3, Inc.
Continuing Connected Transactions”) constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS IN RESPECT
OF THE M3, INC. CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the M3, Inc. Continuing Connected Transactions
and confirm that the M3, Inc. Continuing Connected
Transactions were entered into by the Group (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of its business; (i) on normal
commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions and on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONFIRMATION FROM THE COMPANY’S
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS IN RESPECT OF
THE M3, INC. CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transaction
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Ernst & Young has issued an unqualified letter containing
their conclusion in respect of the M3, Inc. Continuing
Connected Transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as of the date
of this annual report, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in accordance with the
provisions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the disclosure of connected transactions.

Further details on related party transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save for the transactions under the Contractual
Arrangements and the Precision Marketing and Corporate
Solutions Services Framework Agreement disclosed in this
Report of Directors, none of the related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction that are subject to the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which would be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) were as follows:

() INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OF THE COMPANY

Name of Director/

Chief Executive

§$/
BITBRABH®HSE

Nature of interest
EamnHE

Ms. Tian Liping®
Ay ¥zt

Interest in controlled corporation
REEEER

Beneficial interest®

B RO

Interest of spouse®

B zme

Mr. Tian Lixin®
B FftEe

Interest in controlled corporation
R LAEER

Beneficial interest®

EmEm®

Interest of spouse®

LB REE

Beneficial interest
EmEm

Mr. Tian Lijun®®©
R <7 % 4 £ @0
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NEEKFEEARENETNAR) K
BIE(EFRBEIEG)FEISE AL HER
AARREFEHNELMAOEZR AR &
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PREVREZ MOR BT

() FLFEEREBTHRARMGE
=

Approximate
Number of percentage of

underlying shareholding
Shares interest
HEROHE BMAREESL
267,540,000 36.51%
10,494,500 1.43%
100,000 0.01%
267,540,000 36.51%
2,550,000 0.35%
100,000 0.01%
2,200,000 0.30%



All interests stated are long positions.

Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun are brothers
and sister of each other. Tiantian Co., Limited is held as to
48%, 37% and 15% by Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr.
Tian Lijun, respectively. Tiantian Co., Limited directly holds
267,540,000 Shares, and Ms. Tian Liping and Mr. Tian Lixin
are deemed to be interested in the 267,540,000 Shares held by
Tiantian Co., Limited.

Ms. Tian Liping is interested in 7,960,000 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 2,534,500 Shares. Ms. Tian
Liping is deemed to be interested in the 75,000 Shares and
Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for 25,000 Shares held by
her spouse, Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng.

Mr. Tian Lixin is interested in 1,912,500 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 637,500 Shares. Mr. Tian Lixin
is deemed to be interested in the 75,000 Shares and Pre-
IPO Share Options to subscribe for 25,000 Shares held by his
spouse, Ms. Liu Lingdi.

Mr. Tian Lijun is interested in 1,562,500 Shares and Pre-IPO
Share Options to subscribe for 637,500 Shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued shares
of the Company was 732,876,000 and the Company held no
treasury shares.
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(1) INTEREST IN THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARY,

BEIJING YIMAIHUTONG TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.

Name of Director/

Chief Executive Nature of interest
B

BEETHRABH®HS EEME

Ms. Tian Liping Beneficial owner
Ay¥i+ Ex#EAEA

Mr. Tian Lixin® Beneficial owner

B FEEn EmEAA
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Registered Percentage of
capital interest

AEMER EEHD

RMB5,000,000 50%
registered capital
EERIIIEC N
A K #5,000,0007T

RMB5,000,000 50%
registered capital
EERIIE =
A K #5,000,0007T



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or which would be recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name Nature of interest

mE A8 EEME

Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng Interest of spouse®

oR B & % A4 REERO
Interest of spouse®
Bic 18 #E 25 @
Beneficial interesﬂS)
& *’E iy

Ms. Liu Lingdi Interest of spouse®
BB+ B 18 #E 25 @
Interest of spouset
EERY
Beneficial interest®

Tiantian Co., Limited® Beneficial owner
ExnBEAA

M3, Inc.?® Beneficial owner

ERmBEBA

Sony Group Corporation® Interest in controlled corporation

Ry EEER

FIL Limited® Interest in controlled corporation

Ry EE R

Pandanus Associates Inc.® Interest in controlled corporation

R rE R

Pandanus Partners L.P.® Interest in controlled corporation

Ry EE R
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
underlying shareholding
Shares interest

HREROBE SRERSHL

267,540,000 36.51%
10,494,500 1.43%
100,000 0.01%
267,540,000 36.51%
2,550,000 0.35%
100,000 0.01%
267,540,000 36.51%
267,540,000 36.51%
267,540,000 36.51%
66,236,955 9.04%
66,236,955 9.04%
66,236,955 9.04%
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Notes:

All interests stated are long positions.

Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng is the spouse of Ms. Tian Liping. Mr. Zhang
Xiaofeng is deemed to be interested in 267,540,000 Shares held by
Tiantian Co., Limited in which Ms. Tian Liping is interested, as well as
the 7,960,000 Shares and the Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for
2,534,500 Shares held by Ms. Tian Liping.

Includes 75,000 Shares and Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for
25,000 Shares held by Mr. Zhang Xiaofeng.

Ms. Liu Lingdi is the spouse of Mr. Tian Lixin. Ms. Liu Lingdi is
deemed to be interested in 267,540,000 Shares held by Tiantian Co.,
Limited in which Mr. Tian Lixin is interested as well as the 1,912,500
Shares and the Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for 637,500
Shares held by Mr. Tian Lixin.

Includes 75,000 Shares and Pre-IPO Share Options to subscribe for
25,000 Shares held by Ms. Liu Lingdi.

Tiantian Co., Limited is held as to 48%, 37% and 15% by Ms. Tian
Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin and Mr. Tian Lijun, respectively.

Sony Group Corporation is interested in approximately 33.95% of
the shares of M3, Inc.. Sony Group Corporation is deemed to be
interested in the 267,540,000 Shares held by M3, Inc.. Sony Group
Corporation is the largest shareholder and an affiliate of M3, Inc..

Pandanus Associates Inc. has 100% control over Pandanus Partners
L.P., which in turn has 41.00% control over FIL Limited. Therefore,
Pandanus Associates Inc. and Pandanus Partners L.P. are deemed
to be interested in the 66,236,955 Shares in which FIL Limited has a
notifiable interest.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of issued shares of the
Company was 732,876,000 and the Company held no treasury

shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons who had any
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which would be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
December 2024 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company
(including their spouse and children under 18 years of age)
to acquire benefits by an acquisition of shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or its associated
corporations.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether for
the provision of services or otherwise, to the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
MAJOR CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenues from the
Group’s top five customers accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s total revenue.

All of the Group’s five largest customers for the year ended 31
December 2024 are independent third parties of the Group.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or previous Director or any of their close associates or to
the best knowledge of the Directors, any shareholder of the
Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5.0% of the number of issued Shares (excluding treasury
shares)) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or any of their close associates or to the best knowledge of
the Directors, any shareholder of the Company (which, to
the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5.0% of the
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares)) had any
interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
not entered into any contract with any individuals, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial
part of any business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Each Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or trusts or otherwise in relation
thereto in accordance with the Articles of Association. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 121 to 122 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

The Board has resolved to recommend a final dividend of
RMBO0.1366 (equivalent to HK$0.1480, based on the rate of
HK$1.08310 to RMB1.00, being the official exchange rate of
HK dollars against Renminbi as quoted by the People’s Bank of
China on 21 March 2025) per Share. Subject to the passing of
the relevant resolution at the annual general meeting, the final
dividend will be paid at HK$0.1480 per Share in Hong Kong
dollars. The final dividend will be paid on or around 6 June
2025 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 16 May 2025.
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Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution at the annual
general meeting, which is proposed to be held on 8 May 2025,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 14
May 2025 to 16 May 2025 (both days inclusive) for the purpose
of determining shareholders’ entitlements to the final dividend.
In order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfer documents,
accompanied by relevant share certificates, must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 13 May 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report. As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s distributable
reserves calculated under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands comprise the share premium and retained profits
totaling approximately RMB3,987.7 million (2023: approximately
RMB3,965.8 million).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations amounting to
RMB169,992 during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB116,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 13 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares were listed on the The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15 July 2021. The
net proceeds from the Company’s global offering (including
the exercise of the over-allotment option) was approximately
HK$4,677 million (the “IPO Proceeds”), which were to be
utilized for the purposes as set out in the prospectus of the
Company dated 30 June 2021 (the “Prospectus”). On 12
June 2023, the Company announced re-allocation of the
use of the IPO Proceeds, the extension of timing of the use
of the IPO Proceeds and the possible utilisation of idle IPO
Proceeds to subscribe for or purchase wealth management
products (the “Announcement”). The outbreak of the novel
COVID-19 pandemic and its consequential travel restrictions
and corresponding lockdown measures have affected the global
social and economic environments. The pandemic has caused
delay in the implementation of certain projects of the Company
and thereby delayed the timing of the planned use of related
IPO Proceeds by roughly two to three years. The pandemic also
caused changes in economic conditions. This coupled with the
Company’s success in external growth through acquisitions
made after its listing led the Board to decide that more IPO
Proceeds should be allocated to pursuing strategic investments
or acquisitions opportunities. For further details and reasons for
such changes, please refer to the Announcement. The following
table shows a summary of the allocation of the intended use of
the IPO Proceeds as adjusted and set out in the Announcement,
and the utilization as at 31 December 2024:
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EEEWmE
Allocation of
intended use of Remaining Remaining
IPO Proceeds balance asat  Utilization as at balance asat  Expected
Intended use of IPO proceeds (as adjusted) 31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2024  time of use
ERDMRE
figsa B 220235 HZ20045 HZ20245
RERRAR 124318 128318 128318
ERARBERERERERR (83%) i3 EBRLE WHE EIDRRE
(HKS millons) (HK$ millons) (HK$ millons) (HK$ millons)
(BE#7) (BE#7) (BE#T) (BE#T)
A.  Business Expansion
ZBER
(1) enhance medical knowledge solutions of the 280.7 2445 91.6 189.1  before December 2027
Company and enrich medical knowledge
information and tools on the platform of the
Company
FEALAMBEAZRAN R LEEARA 2027128
FaHESMREERIA
() improve patient care offerings 1871 1534 95.3 91.8  before December 2027
RAZEERRS 20275127
(3 strengthen intelligent clinical research solutions 140.3 103.5 85.4 549 before December 2027
BEREBRANARRNR 2007512 A8
{4)  strengthen the relationships with the existing 1871 143.8 704 116.7  before December 2027
customers of the Company and develop and
attract additional customers in pharmaceutical,
biotechnology and medical device industries
EEANAERREPHNER RYRNRATSH 2007512 A8
g ENBHRBERBIFNER
(5)  enhance user growth and engagement through 140.3 1.1 46.7 93.6  before December 2027
targeted sales and marketing activities
BASHUHERTAEHED  REAPER 202751285
B2EE
BB R ERAR

—ECNEER
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Allocation of
intended use of Remaining Remaining
IPO Proceeds balance asat  Utilization as at balance asat  Expected
Intended use of IPO proceeds (as adjusted) 31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2024  time of use
ERDREE
ilE ] B 220235 HZ20045 HZ20245
RERRAR 124318 128318 128318
ERORBERSTARERE (B3%) i3 EBRLE NHE RABARE
(HKS millons) (HK$ millons) (HK$ millons) (K8 millions)
(BE#7) (BE#7) (BE#T) (BE#T)
B.  Investment in technology and enhancement of research and development capabilities
RENMTRBEREED
(1) recruit talent and collaborate with experts 467.7 384.1 1337 3340 hefore December 2027
REATREEZ A 20275 12R7
() develop and expand the application scenarios of 374.2 3175 129.2 2450 before December 2027
technology of the Company, particularly, machine
learning, natural language processing, knowledge
graph and user understanding
RERBRRAADRMMERGR LERRS 200112
BE BREGRE NEBERAFER
(8)  buid up the data center of the Company and 93.6 745 65.7 219  before December 2027
strengthen the computing power and storage
capabilities of the IT infrastructure of the
Company
BUARTMARTORREARATERRE 200112
REE Y1)
C.  Pursue strategic investments or 2.338.6 21428 206.9 21317 NA
acquisitions opportunities
PEERRESNERS MR
D.  General replenishment of the working 467.7 361.7 104 373 NA
capital of the Company and for other
general corporate purposes
BRrLE-REERCRAM-REOERE MR
Total 4,677.3 4,036.9 1,035.3 3,642.0
@t
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As at 31 December 2024, approximately RMB639.5 million of
unutilised IPO Proceeds have been used for the subscription or
purchase of Wealth Management Products and the remaining
amount of unutilised IPO proceeds were deposited with licensed
financial institutions. Please refer to the section headed “Debt
investments” in this report for details of the Wealth Management
Products.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company (including
sale of treasury shares) during the Reporting Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set out in the section
headed “Share Incentive Schemes — Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”
above. Save as disclosed above, no equity-linked agreement will
or may result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company in 2024
or subsisted at the end of 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 95 to 113 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has
granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the minimum
public float requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing
Rules, pursuant to which the minimum percentage of the Shares
from time to time held by the public shall be 24.98% of the total
number of issued Shares of the Company. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Waivers and Exemptions from Strict
Compliance with the Listing Rules and the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance” in the Prospectus.
Based on the information that is publicly available and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of more than 24.98% of the
Company’s issued shares.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITOR

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. A
resolution will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the auditor of
the Company.

By Order of the Board

Medlive Technology Co., Ltd.

Tian Liping

Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to upholding high standards of
corporate governance practices and business ethics in the
firm belief that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and
performance of the Group and to safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders. The Board reviews the Company’s corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the
expectations of stakeholders and comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance. Set out below are the
principles of corporate governance as adopted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code on the Stock Exchange (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
complied with the applicable code provisions as set forth in
Part 2 of the CG Code, except for a deviation from the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles of the chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Details of such deviation are
summarized below in the subsection headed “Chairwoman and
Chief Executive Officer”.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code
and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own
code for securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, it is confirmed that all Directors
have complied with the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2024,

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board will regularly review the contribution required of a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time in performing
them. The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report

BFETESXHNFEETA

AT ERMCETHE B 8 C3FTHE 1Y
ETBETAESTETESLRR %mr&
A(EEFANDEREFTETESFR
M#WONW%%§$¢ﬁﬁEEm%
BMRERBEENE E2024F12A318 1t
FE—HETIZESER -

EFe

EX2REEEAEEMNER  RER
BRRR YERFEBHWASARFNKE
M EEHORTE o

EEeRAEHESESTHERITHARA
BEERAEFELNER UREERS

ERBEARRATRRE EFTNM
ARBRARRERIREG RNEEN B LR

KRB RIORER 2 EIELH L EFE -



BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises nine Directors. During the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Company has four executive Directors, two non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. Tian Liping (Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tian Lixin
Mr. Tian Lijun
Ms. Zhou Xin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya
Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Richard Yeh
Dr. Ma Jun
Ms. Wang Shan

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has, at
all times, met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the independence
requirement set out in the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages
34 to 42 of this annual report.
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The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time
to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”, the Directors do not have any other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one
another.

CHAIRWOMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual.

Ms. Tian Liping (“Ms. Tian”) is the chairwoman and chief
executive officer of the Company. With extensive experience
in the medical information technology industry, Ms. Tian is
responsible for formulating and implementing the overall
development strategies and business plans of the Group
and oversees the overall development and operations of the
Group. Ms. Tian founded the Group in 1996 and is instrumental
to the Company’s growth and business expansion since its
establishment. The Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairwoman and chief executive officer in the same person is
beneficial to the management of the Group. The balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operation of the senior
management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises
four executive directors (including Ms. Tian), two non-executive
directors and three independent non-executive directors and
therefore, in the Company’s view, has an appropriate level of
independence element in its composition.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code
and maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report

EFEREMRBIDTRARRRE(LD
MADARBELHNABERARBMAPHE -
REBECETRER) - A R BB R E
EHRBIIFAITES -

BIEEMSRERRE] —HMWEEIN -
SRR ZHE BEMEMBTRE - X575 -
Rk EMEKR HBEBRE -

EERREBUTE

ERERBTHUTAKRIEC21GMRTE -
EERMNEFROTENBREATED
AAIARE—AEE -

Ay Y&+ (H&at)ARXAAESEE
FEFNTTE HXIBELYENEE
EEHMITELR AEFHEREREAR
SEERRREEBELERTE  UKE
BERAEENERBERAEE - AR
1996F N L ANEE - B ARE AR
ANERREBEERZEEE -EFC
RAEHR-—AETEERAEFEHNTE
EMRAEEER SHAEREEBERES
THEBLEMEBRMATHEANK £E
ERREPESHRENRERNOTE - £
ECEIAHNEZRTES(BIEARLT)
MEERATEER BB UIENITES
M Al ARERAEEEBEK LA
HBHEEBINITE -

EZERFERIREERARANTER
NBTEXRERTHRGERARAND
KFERERER



APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract (in the
case of the executive Directors) or has been issued a letter of
appointment (in the case of the non-executive Directors and the
independent non-executive Directors) for a specific term of three
years, which is renewable by mutual consent and subject to the
Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the next following general
meeting of the Company.

Every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall also be subject to retirement and re-election by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.
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The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision A.21 of the CG Code. These include
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board; reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management
of the Company; reviewing and monitoring the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; developing, reviewing and monitoring the code
of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to the
Directors and employees of the Company; and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code from time to time
adopted by the Company and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report to be contained in the Company’s annual
report.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgment on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company. Furthermore, during the year ended 31 December
2024, independent professional advisers such as legal advisers
and/or auditors attended all relevant Board meetings to provide
input to subject matters discussed at Board meetings and
to answer questions of Directors. The Board considered that
such mechanism is an efficient and effective way to provide
independent views to the Board.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities
and to ensure that they remain informed and relevant for their
contribution to the Board.

In 2024, the Company organized an internal training session
on the treatment of contingent consideration in business
combination and its impact on the Company’s financial
statements. All the Directors have also been provided with
training materials in relation to the training.

Each of Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun, Ms. Zhou
Xin, Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya, Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo, Dr. Ma Jun, Mr.
Richard Yeh and Ms. Wang Shan attended the training.

Each Director also received a memorandum summarising
the amendments to the Listing Rules in 2024, as well as
consultations on changes to Listing Rules published in 2024.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each Director at Board meetings and
Board Committee meetings of the Company held during the
year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the table below:

EERERENAMHFRLS

NEE2024F 12 A31B L EERTHARA
REEeeaNESTELECeERRE
EMEFELHEEIRTR:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/8RXE

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
EEps Exg ERZES FMzES REZE®
Ms. Tian Liping 4/4 = = 11
Hy¥zt
Mr. Tian Lixin 4/4 — — —
RV iPs
Mr. Tian Lijun 4/4 = = —
ByELAE
Ms. Zhou Xin 4/4 - - -
Bkt
Mr. Eiji Tsuchiya 4/4 — — —
BER-_%AE
Mr. Kazutaka Kanairo 4/4 — — —
SE-BEAE
Mr. Richard Yeh 3/4 3/4 01 0/1
ERxAE
Mr. Ma Jun 4/4 3/4 11 11
SERM
Ms. Wang Shan 4/4 4/4 11 11
Izt

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company held
four Board meetings in total to, among other things, approve
the Company’s 2023 annual results and report, the 2024 interim
results and report, review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and to review the Group’s
financial performance in the first quarter and the first three
quarters of 2024. The Board also by written correspondence
considered the matter concerning the resignation of Ms. Chu
Cheuk Ting as a joint company secretary and Ms. Yang Yanling

becoming the sole company secretary of the Company.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31 December 2024. The Audit Committee also met the external
auditors once during the year ended 31 December 2024 without
the presence of the executive Directors and the management.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting and the
Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

All the members of the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive Directors, and the
majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Wang Shan, Mr. Richard Yeh
and Dr. Ma Jun. Ms. Wang Shan, being the chairwoman of the
committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules
3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section D.3 of the
CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal controls system of the Group, oversee the audit
process, review and oversee the existing and potential risks
of the Group and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee
held four meetings to review the 2023 annual results and report,
the 2024 interim results and report, the financial performance
of the Group for the first quarter and the first three quarters
of 2024 and significant issues on the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems. The Audit Committee also considered the renewal
of a continuing connected transaction with M3, Inc., being the
renewal of the Precision Marketing and Corporate Solutions
Services Framework Agreement.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr. Ma
Jun and Ms. Wang Shan, all being independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Richard Yeh is the chairman of the committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section
E.1 of the CG Code. The main duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to establish and review the policy and structure
of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
and make recommendations on the same as well as employee
benefit arrangement and to review and/or approve matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The executive Directors are remunerated with base salaries and
performance-based bonuses. Non-executive Directors are not
compensated by the Group whereas independent non-executive
Directors receive a fixed annual director’s fee which was
determined with reference to the amounts of director’s fee paid
by comparable companies.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of Directors
and senior management, including the remuneration of Directors
in the renewed directors’ service contracts and letters of
appointment entered into in 2024.

No share options of share awards were granted during the year
ended 31 December 2024. There was also no other matter
requiring the Remuneration Committee to consider and form a
view as required under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
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by bands for the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows: (BEERINBFIMFBERT
Number of
employee(s)
EE®AE
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,001/% JT £2,500,0007% 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001/ 7T 23,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 3,500,001/ Jt £4,500,0007 7T =
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to EZEZFFHMFBH RN AFRESMIEHRE
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report. B 58 ©
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZERE®
The Nomination Committee consists of four members, namely EZZEeHhmUEZKEMAK  EE R
Ms. Tian Liping, the chairwoman and chief executive officer, R EEHITEHZFL T - B IEHRIT
Mr. Richard Yeh, Dr. Ma Jun and Ms. Wang Shan, being Z=Z=EHZ%i4E FEEE Eﬂi&EIﬂﬁﬁi

independent non-executive Directors. Ms. Tian Liping is the
chairwoman of the committee. The majority of the Nomination
Committee members are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in Part 2, section B.3 of
the CG Code. The main duties of the Nomination Committee
are to make recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment of Directors and Board succession.
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The Company has formulated and adopted the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) for compliance with the
Listing Rules and the code provisions concerning the diversity
of board members. The Board Diversity Policy sets out the
approach adopted by the Board regarding diversity of Board
members.

The Company recognizes the importance of achieving diversity
in the Board and the Board Diversity Policy sets out the
approach to include and make good use of differences in the
talents, skills, knowledge, regional and industry experience,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, gender, length
of service and other qualities of the members of the Board.
In particular, there will be no discrimination on the ground of
race, age, gender or religious belief. These differences will be
considered in determining the optimum composition of the
Board and when possible should be balanced appropriately.

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, one-third of
whom are female Directors, including the Chairwoman of the
Company, Ms. Tian Liping, who is also a controlling shareholder
of the Company; Ms. Zhou Xin, an executive Director who was
originally seconded to the Company from MS3. Inc., another
controlling shareholder of the Company and Ms. Wang Shan, an
independent non-executive Director. The Company is of the view
that gender diversity in respect of the Board has been achieved.
Of the 747 employees of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
505 are female, including one senior management member.
Accordingly, the Company considers that gender diversity is
also achieved in its workforce generally.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2024 and is of the view that such
policy has been effectively implemented.
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
which sets out a set of nomination procedures and selection
criteria for Directors. The Nomination Committee shall evaluate
and select candidates based on the criteria by reference to
character and integrity, business experience relevant and
beneficial to the Company, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills and knowledge that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, willingness to
devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the
Board and other significant commitments, present needs of the
Board for particular expertise, skills or experience and whether
the candidates would satisfy those needs, requirement for
the Board to have independent Directors in accordance with
the Listing Rules and whether the candidates for independent
Directors would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and the
board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2024 to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board, as well as to consider the renewal of
directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
REVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for maintaining
sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s
risk management and internal control systems provide a
comprehensive and organized structure with clearly defined
scopes of responsibilities, authorities and procedures. The Audit
Committee supports the Board to oversee the effectiveness of
the risk management system on an ongoing basis.
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The Company has a designated risk management and internal
control team (the “team”) which is responsible for identifying
and monitoring the Company’s risks and internal control issues
and reports directly to the Board of any findings and follow-up
actions. Risks and internal control issues are identified through
close watch of regulatory environment, market conditions and
issues or matters concerning competitors or other industry
participants. All departments of the Company are required
to adhere to the Company’s internal control procedures and
report to the team of any risks or internal control issues. Once
any potential risk or internal control issue is identified, a cross
department meeting will be held to address such issue and
to the extent necessary, new policies will be established to
manage such risk. The risk management and internal control
system described above are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee of the Board also reviews the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control systems
at least once a year.

The Board has received confirmation from the management that
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024:

— the financial records have been properly maintained and
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
operations and finances of the Group; and

— the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are effective.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board heard a
management presentation on session risk management and
internal control matters and the work of the internal audit. This
session provides the forum for the Board to review and make
comment and recommendations on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to resolve internal
control defects although no material defect was identified.
Furthermore, in light of the various acquisitions made by the
Company after its Listing, the Company established an internal
audit function since 2022.
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Based on the framework for risk management and internal
control systems established by the Group (including the internal
audit function), the Board and the Audit Committee considered
that, through the review of risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, it can evaluate and improve their
effectiveness. The Board, with the concurrence of the Audit
Committee, considered that the Company’s internal control
systems, including financial, operational and compliance, as
well as the internal audit function, were effective and adequate
for the year ended 31 December 2024 based on the work
performed and report prepared by the team, the confirmation
letter received by the management, and most importantly, the
review conducted by the Board. The Company will perform
ongoing assessments to update all material risk factors on
a regular basis. In any case, review of risk management and
internal control systems by the Board will be conducted
annually.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board will conduct regular review and assessment of
inside information, discuss with the management or authorized
persons of the Company about disclosure of inside information
who have responsibility to report to the Board once any inside
information is identified for dissemination.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 114 to
120 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy which is in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Articles of
Association. Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Company
may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be
paid to the members of the Company but no dividend shall
be declared in excess of the amount recommended by the
Board. No dividend shall be declared or payable except out of
the profits and reserves of the Company lawfully available for
distribution, including share premium. No dividend shall carry
interest against the Company. The Company may distribute
dividends by way of cash or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate, based on various factors such as the
Company'’s results of operations, cash flows, financial condition,
shareholders’ interests, capital requirements, payment to the
Company of cash dividend by its subsidiaries and other factors
that may be relevant. The Company will continue to re-evaluate
its dividend plan in light of its operation needs, earnings,
financial condition, working capital requirements and future
business plans as the Board may deem relevant at such time.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted
to RMB2.0 million and nil, respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company had engaged TMF Hong Kong Limited, external
service provider, and Ms. Chu Cheuk Ting had been appointed
as a joint company secretary of the Company. Ms. Chu resigned
with effect from 15 July 2024. While she was a joint company
secretary of the Company, her primary contact person at the
Company is Ms. Yang Yanling, the then other joint company
secretary of the Company. After Ms. Chu’s resignation, Ms.
Yang became the sole company secretary of the Company.

The joint company secretaries attended sufficient professional
training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31 December 2024 to update their skills and
knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more members deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) held as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the voting rights (on
a one vote per share basis) of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman lIslands Companies Law for shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out
in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person
for election as a Director, please refer to the “Procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as director” of the
Company which is posted on the Company’s website.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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CONTACT DETAILS

The contact details of the Company are set out in the
Company’s website (http://ir.medlive.cn).

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) will be available to meet shareholders and answer
their enquiries. An annual general meeting was held on 24 May
2024, at which meeting all the Directors were present either in
person or by video conference to address any enquiries that
shareholders might have.

The Company maintains a website at http://irmedlive.cn as a
communication platform with shareholders of the Company and
investors, where the financial information and other relevant
information of the Company are available for public access.

Meetings with investors were held after annual results and
interim results announcements in 2024. The Company also
received from time to time queries from shareholders which
were adequately addressed. As such, the Company is of the
view that its shareholders’ communication policy is effective.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has
not made any changes to its Articles of Association.

The current version of the Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange.

VR =4

\t")

=

Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRE

EEXH

REE2024F12A31BIEFE - ARQARI
EUHGEREREMBEDEL M ER -

(BB ERA@ADNRARANARARQE
KX ER -

BIENEERA R
"R MEER

> e

113



114

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BEN R E

Ernst & Young LK EHT AN BT
27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

ANE— 2712

EY::

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Medlive Technology Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Medlive Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 121 to 252, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill in the
consolidated financial statements amounted
to RMB192,525,000 as at 31 December
2024, The Group has performed an annual
impairment test on the recoverability of
goodwil in accordance with HKAS 36. No
impairment charge against gooawil has been
recorded in the current year. Management's
impairment test is important to our audit
because the assessment process is complex
and requires significant judgement and
estimates on assumptions including cash-
generating unit identfication, gross margin
and discount rate.

The Group's disclosures about impairment
testing of goodwill are included in note
2.4 Material accounting policies, note 3
Significant accounting jucgements and
estimates and note 15 Goodwil, which
specifically explain the accounting policies,
management’s assumptions and accounting
estimates.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

We reviewed and tested management's
forecasted future cash flows and key
assumptions by comparing them to
the Group’s development plan, budget
and financial projections and analysis
of the industry. We involved our internal
valuation specialist to assist in evaluating
the key valuation parameters such as the
discount rate applied and the valuation
model used with forecasted cash flows.

We also assessed the adequacy of
the related disclosures in the financial
statements.

HREFRER (&)

BRENSE

BERERNH
SRNBRRNEERAEN0AF1
RA3BBAR%192505000m c E&
BREFR T EAROR AN
KEEREFETHENR A ERY
BLSEARERERR - ERENE
ﬁWTﬁﬁfW%V@*E; RR%E

NEARERAZEHRRAELER
M%&ﬁﬁ BREASELEMAN.
ENMRERE -

AREARATAENROREARN
HUEABTHR WL ZEHH
FRETENEEE EPREIBE
SRR ERENRRREHHR

ARNERNARERRENSE

INENLARERENRAR AT
RERIERR MEE RRENYR

Rit 8l BERABRANRAEAM
g8 - AMEABREER R
REEESE ANRARERENAY
RERIEER -

RN ERBERAERER T AR -



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the Management
Discussion and Analysis of the Annual Report (but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s Statement, the Business
Overview and Outlook, the Report of Directors and the
Corporate Governance Report, which are expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed
on the other information that we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Business
Overview and Outlook, the Report of Directors and the
Corporate Governance Report, if we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate
the matter to the Audit Committee.
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B BEN R E

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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B BEN R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Hooi Wan Yee.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GREREREMEZERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I FZ

Notes 2024 2023
i & 20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR ARETTL
REVENUE I 3 5 558,455 412,004
Cost of sales HERKA (231,233) (160,669)
Gross profit EH 327,222 251,335
Other income and gains H A A Rl g 5 223,821 188,483
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHRAX (33,428) (32,778)
Administrative expenses THHEY (175,566) (144,481)
Other expenses HEBY (789) (9,071)
Finance costs BEKA 7 (786) (361)
Share of profit of an associate AEEE RANEF - 5
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B Bt A0 A 6 340,474 253,132
Income tax expense FEREY 10 (10,173) (1,372)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEREAN 330,301 251,760
Attributable to: WAL LG :
Owners of the parent BAREEA 315,146 242,301
Non-controlling interests FERER 15,155 9,459
330,301 251,760
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BRAAIEEREEAELES
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS R 2 A
OF THE PARENT
Basic BN RMB43.23 cents  RMB33.56 cents
12 AK#43.23% AR#33.56%
Diluted i RMB42.80 cents  RMB32.99 cents
12 AR#42.80% AR#32.99%
BIRBEREARATR
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I FZ

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBREREMEZEKER

2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARETF T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 330,301 251,760
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2 EkE
Other comprehensive loss that may be REBEBETEEEN?E
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent ERGEMNEMEZEER:
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BEBIEBEREZR
operations (6,671) (6,261)
Other comprehensive income that will not be REEBRIEENIES
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BamEm2EKER:
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of BERRRUMBREAZ
the Company’s financial statements into SIERCERZEZR
presentation currency 64,303 69,317
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR EREMZEKE (BN
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BiE) 57,632 63,056
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FRAXEAKNGLE
THE YEAR 387,933 314,816
Attributable to: ATALRELR:
Owners of the parent (SYNCIET YN 372,778 305,357
Non-controlling interests FERER 15,155 9,459
387,933 314,816

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
mEMBRRK

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

Notes 2024 2023
Bt 2 2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment MxE - REIZE 13 12,472 2,620
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 25,574 8,455
Goodwill S 15 192,525 192,525
Other intangible assets HEMEREE 16 72,122 66,736
Investment in an associate KB E NE IR E 360 360
Debt investments BEEE 17 440,374 =
Time deposits 7E B 77 3K 22 - 42,014
Deferred tax assets R IEE E 26 8,260 8,518
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 751,687 321,228
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE - 99
Trade receivables =) L& 18 134,671 109,871
Contract assets BHEE 19 40,180 46,049
Prepayments, other receivables and TEATSRIE - H b FE UK
other assets BREEMEE 20 35,688 15,674
Debt investments BEBERE 17 199,087 =
Financial assets at fair value through R AR BETE B E#
profit or loss FrABENERE
23 21 102,147 42,640
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIREEEY 22 3,844,723 4,358,255
Total current assets mBEERE 4,356,496 4,572,588
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables 2 5 RIA 23 13,863 14,771
Other payables and accruals H A T RIE K&
EEtE R 24 150,765 135,238
Contingent consideration payables B SARE 25 16,189 18,242
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 11,601 4,549
Tax payable FE 18 14,692 16,972
Total current liabilities mEaEERE 207,110 189,772
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 4,149,386 4,382,816
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRDER
CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,901,073 4,704,044
BIRBEREARATR

R MFER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BBEIRR R

31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

Notes 2024 2023
B 7E 2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT AR®ETRT

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FnBEME
Lease liabilities HERE 14(b) 11,032 3,643
Contingent consideration payables R SARE 25 26,716 47,663
Deferred tax liabilities EETHIEAE 26 8,707 7,536
Total non-current liabilities EMBAERTE 46,455 58,842
Net assets BEFE 4,854,618 4,645,202
EQUITY &=
Equity attributable to owners BRRIHAABLER
of the parent
Share capital fig 2 27 46 46
Reserves 1 29 4,798,981 4,597,323
4,799,027 4,597,369
Non-controlling interests JEE IR R = 55,591 47,833
Total equity T = 4B R 4,854,618 4,645,202
Ms. Tian Liping Mr. Tian Lixin
HiZ¥&Zt B #EE
Chief executive director Director
BREHITE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERBREHR

Year ended 31 December 2024 # 22024F 12 531H i F /&

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREEARE
Share-based  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share payment surplus  fluctuation ~ Retained controlling
capital  premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests Total equity
Notes WRBREE  tEB&®  ERED
i3 ke ROEEE HRAREE R i BREW g3 FEREE  ERER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARBTR AR%TR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(note 27)  (note 29) (note 28)  (note29)  (note 29)
(Watar)  (W&k29)  (Wies)  (Wit2e)  (K&20)
At 1 January 2023 2023%1 A1H 45 3,898,396 31,502 19,174 216,623 175,283 4,401,023 30,801 4,431,914
Profit for the year Rt - - - - - 242,301 242,301 9,459 251,760
Other comprehensive income ERApEENE:
for the year:
Exchange differences ERZZ - - - - 63,056 - 63,056 - 63,056
Total comprehensive income EMRENEEE
for the year - - - - 63,056 242,301 305,357 9,459 314,816
Transfer to statutory suplus reserve. BB ZETRREE - - - 7,003 - (7,993) - - -
Acquisiton of a subsidiary RENBAR - - - - - - - 12,084 12,084
Issue of shares Bk 1 5,043 - - - - 5,044 - 5,044
Shares repurchased BEERR - (663) - - - - (683) - (683)
Share-based payments HRRBRENF - - 10415 - - - 10415 - 10415
Dividend declared and peid BERREMRE - - - - - (foagEn)  (124687) - (12488)
Dividends paid to  non-controling BREERRERS
shareholder - - - - - - - 4,601) (4,601)
At 31 December 2023 and 023E12A318 R
1 January 2024 2024F151R 46 3,903,656 Ho11 21,161 339,679 284904 4,597,369 47833 4,645,202
Profitfor the year @i - - - - - 315,146 315,146 15,155 330,301
Other comprehensive income EREp2EkE:
for the year:
Exchange differences EiZE - - - - 57,632 - 57,632 - 57,632
Total comprehensive income ER2ENEEE
for the year - - - - 57,632 315,146 312,718 15,155 387,933
Transfer to statutory suplus reserve. BB ZETRREE - - - 10,845 - (10,845) - - -
Issue of shares ERh i - 2247 - - - - 2,041 - 2,047
Share-based payments WRHBERNH 2% - - 5,669 - - - 5,669 - 5,669
Dividend declared and paid BERREARE il - - - - - (179,036) (179,036) - (179,036)
Dividends paid to non-controling BiEERRERE
shareholders - - - - - - - (7,397) (7,397)
At 31 December 2024 2024%F12831H 46 3,905,903 47,586 38,012 397,311 410,169 4,799,027 55,501 4,854,618

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB4,798,981,000 (2023: RMB4,597,323,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

ZERBEEBRAEAVEBERRARFOEE
i A R #4,798,981,0007T (20234 : A R
¥4 597,323,0007T) °

BIRBNHARAT
—E-NEER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I FZ

Notes 2024 2023
B = 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHFBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax bR %5 Bl s A 340,474 253,132
Adjustments for: RTINS EEHFE:
Finance costs RN 7 786 361
Share of profit of an associate DIGEEE AR A - (%)
Bank Interest income RITH BUA (179,134) (183,496)
Investment income from financial assets BAnRBEFEEHE
at fair value through profit or loss B ABEENERE
ERERA 5 (1,538) (786)
Interest income from debt investments BB EMEHNERA 5 (25,585) —
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BEREEBERTE
equipment 13 2,091 1,594
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 14(a) 9,975 5,301
Amortisation of other intangible assets H & s 16 3,534 2,476
Impairment of trade receivables, net Z 5 E WA RE S5 18 512 505
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE  MERK
plant and equipment HEHEE 6 - 4
Loss on disposal of leases HEHENERE 6 262 —
Fair value adjustment of contingent FARENAAEE
consideration oA 25 (9,133) 2,161
Share-based payment expense AR 17 B B 3R
i 28 5,669 10,415
147,913 91,662
Decrease in inventories FERD> 99 100
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e W R IR IE N (25,312) (1,164)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BREERL,/ (M) 5,869 (15,153)
Increase in prepayments, other receivables T8 Z I8 « H b E I 3¢
and other assets BRHEAMEEEN (20,014) (1,999)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables BHRAREBECRD),/
N (908) 6,247
Increase in other payables and accruals Hi R RER ETE
A 11,693 33,981
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 119,340 113,674
Income tax paid BERFER (11,024) (11,808)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHMERERE
F 2 108,316 101,866

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv_\ é IE, %:}2& % %
Year ended 31 December 2024 & 2024412 531H I FE

Note 2024 2023
B = 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Net cash flows from operating activities REETHMBERENE
FEE 108,316 101,866
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFMEEERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B W F B 164,666 153,214
Placement of time deposits BT EBER (5,686,677) (6,024,464)
Withdrawal of time deposits REEBER 6,335,772 5,331,026
Purchases of items of property, BEWE WMERRZE
plant and equipment 1BE (11,958) (750)
Additions to other intangible assets NEHMBEREE (8,920) (31,776)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERAAEBEGNER
through profit or loss HEFHFTAEZNEH
BE (180,500) (9,000)
Purchases of debt investments BEEBKERE (625,233) 3
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HER AN BEFEER
at fair value through profit or loss HEBABRNER
BEMBINAE 121,000 2,410
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE - BEK
and equipment RS RIE 15 =
Receipts of investment income from WERAAEBEGFEAR
financial assets at fair value through profit ~ HE & Bzt ABHH
or loss CHEENRERA 1,531 786
Receipts of investment income from debt BBEBKREN
investments ®EWA 11,357 —
Payment of contingent consideration for ST EAN NG BT
acquisition of a subsidiary KE 25 - (10,020)
Acquisition of subsidiaries U B Fft B A A (10,033) (46,371)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing K& EFHME/(FTA)
activities ReneFs 111,020 (634,945)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METBHFEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT IR0 FTi5 3R 2,247 5,944
Repurchase of shares & 17 B 1= - (683)
Dividends paid to equity holders of ENEAREREFAA
the parent sy (179,036) (124,687)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B EZERBEERE
shareholders (7,397) (4,601)
Principal portion of lease payments HENZAE LD (12,915) (5,542)
Interest paid for lease liabilities HEBBHNERME (786) (361)
Dividend paid to the then shareholders ENHMERRERRE
of a subsidiary SN - (3,200)
BIRBEREARATR

R MFER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & 22024412 H31H I FZ

Note 2024 2023
B = 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARET T
Net cash flows used in financing activities ~ BEFHAABRERE
FEE (197,887) (133,130)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASH R&RRSEENF
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS g,/ (&) 21,449 (666,209)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FONHeIREEEY
of year 75,092 678,245
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, EXEHHTET
net 57,632 63,056
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERESREESEEY
END OF YEAR 22 154,173 75,092
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH REeRBEEENE &
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2
Cash and bank balances REe MIR1TE 154,173 75,092
Time deposits EHTFE 3,690,550 4,325 177
Less: Non-current time deposits W IERBEBER - 42,014
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in BBRAKRAIES R
the statement of financial position ReZFEEY 3,844,723 4,358,255
Time deposits with original maturity of over E SR EIHHE B
three months when acquired =@ AKE TR (3,690,550) (4,283,163)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RERERMINEA S K
the statement of cash flows fﬁi—rfﬁ% 154,173 75,092

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on 8 April 2013. The registered
address of the Company is PO Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were principally
engaged in the provision of precision marketing and
corporate solutions, medical knowledge solutions, and
intelligent patient management solutions.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company does not
have an immediate holding company or ultimate holding
company. Ms. Tian Liping, Mr. Tian Lixin, Mr. Tian Lijun and
Tiantian Co., Limited (as one group) and M3, Inc., which
is incorporated in Japan, are the controlling shareholders
of the Company, as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

1.

Notes to Financial Statements

B TS ¥R 2R Y

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

LAFREEEH

N AR & — M R20183F4H8H 1
RMERSIMA LN BRAA -
AN A ) FE it 3 4k A PO Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands °

ARA S —RREZERAF - RA
FE ARAMNBRAANEEZEERR
RIERBELSHROEBRRT R
BENBBANTRERRERBEETE
BRORTTER o

BERE ARATEEELERA
Al HEARER AR - By &£
37 %5t & B3 E S & KTiantian
Co., Limited ({E & — @l & &) & M3,
Inc. (RBAFMAKZH AR ABEAR
AEERR(EERGEBHERS
FTERAREHLMRAD) -

EARTRH

ARREEMBARFBEHIIWNT

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity

registration and place of registered share attributable to
Name operations capital the Company Principal activities
EMAYL/ EREER BRAEE/ KRR KSR
28 EXLE AMBAEE REEAL IEXE
Direct Indirect
E& A&
Kingyee (HK) Co., Limited Hong Kong United States dollar 100% - Investment holding
(US$")
495,000
Kingyee (HK) Co., Limited BB 405000 (7)) REER
BB R ERAR

—EomEsy 129



Notes to Financial Statements
py E e

31 December 2024 202412 431H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFIREEEH (&)

(Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) MEAREH(Z)

RARFEMBARIFIEHIINT :

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Nominal value of

(&)

Place of incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and place of registered share attributable to
Name operations capital the Company Principal activities
AMRY/ EREER BRTER/ ERAER
! EXnY AMRAEE REBDL IERE
Direct Indirect
E& A&

Kingyee (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (‘Jinye People’s Republic of China Renminbi — 100% Provision of precision
Tiancheng’) () (£ X (3t 7) & (‘PRC’)/ (‘RMB’) marketing and corporate
BAERAA) Mainland China 309,000,000 solutions, medical

knowledge solutions,
and intelligent patient
management solutions

SRR R BRERAT FEARLREA(PEL)/ ARBIARY)) RUBEERRCERAA
(REXKD ) RE R 309,000,0007T £ BEAZBATRRE

RELERRANE

Beijing Yimaihutong Technology Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 — 100% Provision of precision
Ltd. ("Yimaihutong’) (i) ii) marketing and corporate
GHRERTEREBRAE) solutions, medical

knowledge solutions,
and intelligent patient
management solutions

IRBRERNRARAT hE/hERE  AK%10000,0007T REREEHRCEBAT
(TBARE B ) (i) £ BEAZBANERE

RELERRANE

Shijiazhuang Maili Technology Co., PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 — 100% Research and development
Ltd. ("Shijiazhuang Maili") (ii
(AFEBRBEERAA)

AEREEBHHMBEERARA hE/hER AR 2,000,007 kS
(RREER) (i)

Yinchuan Yimaitong Internet Hospital PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 — 100% Provision of internet hospital
Co., Ltd. ("Yinchuan Yimaitong’) services
i) (i)

RIEKREHEBRARAR)
RlBRBEHABRERAR hE/hERE  AR%10000,0007T RETHEBRRE

(TSR )11 B8 AR ) (i)

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AFIREEEH (&)

(Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) MEAREH(Z)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARREEWMBRRIFBEHINAT
follows: (Continued) (#%&)

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and place of registered share attributable to
Name operations capital the Company Principal activities
AMAY/ EREER BRTER/ ERAER
8 E3 AMRAEE REESL TEER
Direct Indirect
E# A&

Beijing Medcon Information PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 — 60% Provision of precision
Consulting Co., Ltd. (‘Medcon’) (i marketing and corporate
(i) A RFBRESEAGRAF) solutions, medical

knowledge solutions,
and intelligent patient
management solutions

IREBRERFABRAA hE/hERE  AR%1000,0007T RUBELHREZBAT
(T B8 ) (i) £ BEANZBANRRE

REEERBANE

Beijing Focus Innovation Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 — 60% Planning and publication of
Co., Ltd. (‘Focus Innovation’) (ii medicine guidelines and
GEREFEFRREERAA) medical consensus

TR RARRAA hE/hERE  AR%1000,0007T RUREBEEBR
Q- %:3-Fal BEsy

Beijing SCMedcon Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000 - 50%  Organising medical exhibition
("SCMedcon’) (i) conferences and provision
HRAREEEXAERAT) of medical services

TRAREEEARRAR hE/hERE  AR%1500,0007 HREEREER
(TREEE]) (i REBRRS

Linberg Consulting & Intelligence PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 — 60% Provision of research
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd. (‘Linberg’) (ii services to pharmaceutical
(AEMSELHA(LE)ERAR) companies

ABTSEL A (LB BRAR hE/hER AR 1,000,000 RRENTRHFERE

() i)

BIENEERA R

R MFER
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Notes to Financial Statements
py E e

31 December 2024 202412 431H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

This entity is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise established
under the PRC law.

These entities are limited liability enterprises established under
the PRC law.

These entities are controlled by the Company through a
series of contractual arrangements entered into between
Jinye Tiancheng and these entities (the “Contractual
Arrangements”). They are collectively referred to as the
“Consolidated Affiliated Entities”.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and contingent
consideration payables which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary
is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Notes to Financial Statements

B TS ¥R 2R Y

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

BERBK (2)
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RAEVBRRBEAARRE
MEBAR(GBIAEE)HE
2024128318 It & & &) B 75
BE - -MBARAARAEE
IEEZHNEB(BRELB
ER) EAKEEHSHEEE
7 ¥R B) B 3R A E R B 5
ZEEFMAREBBHEFIKE
FTREND(NAEEER TR
BRENUETHEIEEFBAE
BHNBGTREMN) FEZEOR
BNV EX 15 58 Il 4 -

R—BBERATHFEEZHERERE
BEKIZEHIRZERE - EAR
RBEARKET —FUTERR
RS BEER - Al ANK B
MERTHRRETHEREN
RBRHERAEHEBEEERER
B

@ HEERETHMERERH
AR BRRHE:

(o) HAbA#H & PEATELRHE
RIS
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Notes to Financial Statements
py E e

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current

year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16

RV B RELRFE165 (BT A)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB G ERFEIRUEFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB G ERFE15R ST A)
Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2. EitlE (&)
22 B RRRBEEEREE

AEBRAFENMEHRRE
KRBT EIETH BT R

SR @ A -

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ER#AEINHE A E
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments’)
BEDE R E I E ([2020F 1557 &)
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments’)
B % 2 3F 69 I i B B (& (/2022 4F 15 5T &)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

FEREGERETRK
FEEUHRE

e Bl 575K (5 5T )

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or
loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

REBBEZD

RETEEMBHREER S5
BAMMEERZEIRMT:

(@)

55 RS E R FE165%
(BETAR) B EE A AR A
EEERHERRSPE
ERNHEBERERANE
Ko ABREHAE AT
CHRAEERENGEHE
HENTARSRBEES
Bo-HRNEBXAERAES
B IS SR 5 £ B SE165% 2 B
BoAEBYENERE
~HER A FEBUR P 5 E sk A
EMERBARRS » W&
ZEIIREAEBNNKG
AR R I EAT
o,

BIENEERA R
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(o)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can
be settled in its own equity instruments, and
that only if a conversion option in a convertible
liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments
further clarify that, among covenants of a liability
arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the classification
of its liabilities as current or non-current
remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users
of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure
to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments
did not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been
issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18
BB I 15 E R B85
HKFRS 19

BRIV REERE195%
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
BEEUBHRELERNFIRREBUB
WEERF7TIRUSETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
BERMBHREENZORREBY B R
EEB|FETH (BT A)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
ERMBREENE10RE LB B G5t
AR 285k (1B ET )
Amendments to HKAS 21
BB G ERNE215% (BETA)
Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11
ERVMBREENGHEANFEE
Wi — F1E

JF B

Notes to Financial Statements

2.3

B TS ¥R 2R Y

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

EEBE (&)

ERMERRENNE M BEE
2 B @ &t A

AEBY ARZSUBHREANER
THIE BB M R AR 2 HTET KA
BRI B BT BHREER SR o
AEEBRRZENTIREEITERBE
B TS R 5 2 A 2 5F 2 B A BT LA
FER(mEA) -

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?

B & # & 1) 2 5l R # #ES

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures?

FERNRZTLETHE L F] 1% FES

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments?

2T AN ERGE(IEFTF)?
Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity?
RN RE B A BEIR L & T B & A2

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

REZFHABENAAEELEZFNEELES

Lack of Exchangeability’

= A2 L

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS
10 and HKAS 72

BB HHEERER - BB BEHREERETR

BB HEEREIN - BB BHIREEREI10%

REE & ERE7HE (1EFTA)?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

& Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2027

£ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

1 R2025F1 18 3k 2 1% 3 14 /) & [Z 5

il A 2K

2 R2026F1A1B Rk 2 & IR FE H

8 &

3 MR2027FE1 A1 R 2 BB EE

HE R AR

& M N B TE ORI A B H 0 HER TR
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have
been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited
changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income into one of
the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires
disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information
in both the primary financial statements and the
notes. Some requirements previously included in
HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and
HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and
the consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is
required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS
18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period,
an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have
public accountability and must have a parent (ultimate
or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use which comply with
HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application
is permitted. As the Company is a listed company,
it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some
of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset
or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an
accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to
assess the contractual cash flow characteristics
of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features.
Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other
component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and
can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify
the application of the “own-use” requirements for
in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow
hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The
amendments also include additional disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
effects these contracts have on an entity’s financial
performance and future cash flows. The amendments
relating to the own-use exception shall be applied
retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use
of hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge
accounting shall be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date
of initial application. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall
be applied at the same time. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at
the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11 set out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance
on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are expected
to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
The amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, 1G14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of
simplification or achieving consistency with
other paragraphs in the standard and/or with
the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments
clarify that the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs
of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional
requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The
amendments clarify that when a lessee has
determined that a lease liability has been
extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9,
the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of
HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11 set out amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance
on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:
(Continued)

e HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties
acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

e HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition of
“cost method”. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20%
of the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates
is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has
been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment
continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference
between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment
and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified
as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and
best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to

the fair value measurement is unobservable

F=F — EREAAREBEFAENFEEANNITBRESREBBARENGES X

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax
assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

or

(o)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(iD)

(i)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary
or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(v)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Electronic equipment
Office equipment

Leasehold improvements

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.
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31 December 2024 202412 431H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that they may be impaired.
Such intangible assets are not amortised.

Software

Purchased patents and software are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3
to 10 years.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Customer relationship

Customer relationship is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses and are amortised using
the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of
the underlying products not exceeding ten years,
commencing from the date when the products are put
into commercial production.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.

(@)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 5 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(o)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented
separately in the statement of financial position.
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31 December 2024 202412 431H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BEEEK (&)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 24 EXEHBEE)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(¢) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office premises (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 180 days past
due. The Group has rebutted the 90 days past due
presumption of default based on reasonable and
supportable information, including the Group’s credit
risk control practices and the historical recovery rate
of financial assets over 90 days past due. However,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EHEE (&)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 EXEBEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) TREERMEE)
General approach (Continued) — R % (&)
A financial asset is written off when there is no WELZEGEFHKBEENRS
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual mE - BIMEEmEE -
cash flows.
Debt investments at fair value through other ERAREBETEEEZHTA
comprehensive income and financial assets at EmrERanEBRE iR
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the BENATENESREERR
general approach and they are classified within the — A EAFIRBE BRESE
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for WHIBBREATXHFM S
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach EON - BEEEBEMNGER
as detailed below. IATIERETHE -
Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial

ESL

recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

EERRBRBVEERNRLIAERBZE NN SR ITE  BEEGR T -_EAR
HEEBEFE

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

F2PE KR EERRBREBVEBAUREBEEZEENEYFEEREEREENERIAE B
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Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

F3PE R RBEERMEEERENIBEXREFERBEINEREE  EREBEKRIBRA

HEEHERFE

BIENEERA R
R MFER

163



164

Notes to Financial Statements
py E e

31 December 2024 202412 431H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on market historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, contingent consideration payables and
lease liabilities.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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31 December 2024 202412 431H

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the specific
identification. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits
as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business
combination is initially measured at its fair value.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i) the
amount that would be recognised in accordance with
the general policy for provisions above and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
the amount of income recognised in accordance with
the policy for revenue recognition.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

®* in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of the reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

The Group transfers control of goods or services over
time and recognises revenue over time, if one of the
following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract
by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or services.

The Group derives revenue mainly from rendering
of services of precision marketing and corporate
solutions, medical knowledge solutions and intelligent
patient management solutions.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@) Precision marketing and corporate solutions

The Group is engaged in providing precision
marketing and corporate solutions which include
precision marketing solutions and corporate
solutions to pharmaceutical and medical device
companies, hospitals and research institutions,
and contract research organisations (“CROs”).

Precision marketing solutions mainly include
precision digital detailing service (including
online meeting delivery), digital marketing
consulting service, digital content creation
service, application software development
service and other relevant services.

For precision digital detailing service, digital
marketing consulting service and digital
content creation service, the Group agrees
to the sales price for each service with the
customers upfront and bills the customers
based on the actual service rendered and
completed. Revenue is generally recognised
at the point in time when the services are
rendered and accepted by the customers.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@) Precision marketing and corporate solutions
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

For application software development
service, the software developed is
customised for each customer, therefore
the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment from the customer for its
performance completed to date according
to the contracts. As a result, revenue from
application software development service is
recognised over time.

Input method is used to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction
of the service, because the Group has
an enforceable right to payment from the
customer for its performance completed to
date according to the contracts. The input
method recognised revenue on the basis of
the labour hours expended relative to the
total expected labour hours to complete
satisfaction of the service.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@) Precision marketing and corporate solutions
(Continued)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

For certain application software
development service, the Group also
provides related maintenance service for
a specific period (normally one year after
the customer’s acceptance) after sale
as stipulated in the same contract. The
maintenance service is provided to maintain
the effectiveness of the application software
and therefore is accounted for as a
separate performance obligation. Revenue
from the provision of maintenance service
is recognised over the service period.

Corporate solutions mainly include
the provision of application software
development service, digital market
research service and other relevant
services.

For certain application software
development service, revenue is recognised
over time, using an input method to
measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service. For certain
application software development service,
revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the service is completed and
accepted by the customer.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(@)

Precision marketing and corporate solutions

(Continued)

(i)  (Continued)

Digital market research service is generally
delivered in the form of medical technical
survey report or samples. The contract
usually contains multiple deliverable units
and each of the deliverable units has an
individual selling price specified within the
contract. The Group recognised revenue at
the point of time when the deliverable units
are delivered to the customers.

Medical knowledge solutions

Medical knowledge solutions involve the
provision of professional medical information
covering continuing medical education and
clinical decision support, including licensing
software to physicians and other healthcare
professionals.

Revenue from software licensing service is
recognised over the estimated lifespans of the
software, which are determined based on the
expected usage periods, because there is an
explicit or implicit obligation of the Group to
update the software content and allow users to
gain access to it.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(©

Intelligent patient management solutions

Intelligent patient management solutions involve
the provision of patient education services to
patients, pharmaceutical companies and non-
profit organisations with medical focus, including
medical conference service, application software
development, patient counselling service and
other relevant services.

For the delivery of conference service, the
revenue is recognised at the point in time when
the conference is completed.

For application software development service,
revenue is recognised over time, using an input
method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service.

Revenue from patient counselling service is
recognised over the scheduled period on
a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or
services to a customer before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the contract
terms, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets
are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to
trade receivables when the right to the consideration
becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees for grants is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The
fair value is determined by an external valuer using a
binomial model, further details of which are given in
note 28 to the financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to (the statement of profit or loss) for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that
period.

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled
award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions
within the control of either the Group or the employee
are not met. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in
the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government and the central government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting
period, but prior to the date of authorisation for
issue, about conditions that existed at the end of the
reporting period, it will assess whether the information
affects the amounts that it recognises in its financial
statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognised in its financial statements to reflect any
adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light
of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change
the amounts recognised in its financial statements,
but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting
events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if
applicable.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. Interim
dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare
interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB.
The functional currency of the Company is the United
States dollar (“US$”). The Group’s presentation
currency is RMB because the Group’s principal
operations are carried out in Mainland China. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation
of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the
Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their profits or losses are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Contractual Arrangements

The Consolidated Affiliated Entities are engaged in the
value-added telecommunication services business, internet
hospital services, production of radio and television video
and programs and internet cultural business. Under the
scope of “Encouraged Industry Catalogue for Foreign
Investment (2020 version)” and “Special Administrative
Measures on Access of Foreign Investment (Negative List)”,
foreign investors are prohibited to invest in such business.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the financial statements, the
Group exercises control over the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and enjoys substantially all economic benefits of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the Contractual
Arrangements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
Contractual Arrangements (Continued)

The Group does not have any equity interests in the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities. However, as a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Company has power
over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and is therefore considered to have control over them.
Consequently, the Company regards the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities as indirect subsidiaries. The Group has
consolidated the financial position and results of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in the financial statements
during the year.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits, together with future tax planning
strategies.

The Group has tax losses of RMB37,913,000 (2023:
RMB43,086,000) carried forward. These losses related to
subsidiaries that have a history of losses, have not expired,
and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere
in the Group. The subsidiaries have neither any taxable
temporary difference nor any tax planning opportunities
available that could partly support the recognition of these
losses as deferred tax assets. On this basis, the Group has
determined that it cannot recognise deferred tax assets on
the tax losses carried forward.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)
Deferred tax assets (Continued)

Further details on deferred taxes are disclosed in note 26
to the financial statements.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding
tax in respect of the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries of the Group established in Mainland China
to the extent that the directors are of the opinion that
they would be probable for distribution in the foreseeable
future. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that should
be recognised. Further details are contained in note 26 to
the financial statements.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2024 was RMB192,525,000 (2023:
RMB192,525,000). Further details are given in note 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of the reporting period.
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates
are based on the ageing period and days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical expected default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number of
defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At every
reporting date, the historical expected default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation between historical
expected default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note
18 and note 19 to the financial statements, respectively.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into
business units based on their services and only has one
reportable operating segment. Management monitors the
operating results of the Group’s operating segment as a
whole for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(@ Revenue from external customers
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2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®ETT
Mainland China A A 3 547,622 402,130
Overseas NERIN 10,833 9,874
Total revenue Y 558,455 412,004
The revenue information above is based on the AW EEREREFPVEE
locations of the customers. e
(b) Non-current assets (b) ERBEE
All non-current assets of the Group are in Mainland REEMMBFERBDEEHN
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS
No revenue from the Group’s sales to a single customer

accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

BESBEH (&)

FHREEREFMEH

#H 20244 K2023%FE12 A31H IF F
B MEXBAEBRE—SFHE
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. kg  r Htlk AR 2
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W ot :
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARETT
Revenue from contracts with BEP &KW
customers 558,455 412,004
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS EFSHKE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@ DEWREHR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR AREFTr
Types of services REER
Precision marketing and corporate R AR T DNEASE S N
solutions DAl 512,532 372,687
Medical knowledge solutions BENEBRATR 17,883 16,141
Intelligent patient management B BEBTERA
solutions F =R 28,040 23,176
Total 45 558,455 412,004
Geographical markets ih & T 5
Mainland China R A D 547,622 402,130
Overseas & 5N 10,833 9,874
Total st 558,455 412,004
Timing of revenue recognition W 3 5 A
Services transferred at a point in time 7 3 — B 5] 24 5 ;% 4
Rz 7 428,249 330,036
Services transferred over time BEREAED SRR 130,206 81,968
Total e 558,455 412,004
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(Continued)

(a)
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@ « Rttt A RS (&)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS ERaWE (&)
Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (@ PEWRERE)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TREH N E A RS B EER
recognised in the current reporting period that were WEtABREHBEVEHNEEDN
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning WameBARRBTHMER
of the reporting period and recognised from WEEXNBAREEN N ESE
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods:
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR AR%Tr
Revenue recognised that was included #& 2 &) 51 A 3k 2 8 6 4]
in contract liabilities at the beginning A4 B &M UK 3
of the reporting period:
Precision marketing and corporate FE2E & 88 & 1 E fR R
solutions =R 37,912 9,415
Intelligent patient management B BEERES
solutions Vil 374 148
Medical knowledge solutions BEENEBEATR - 186
Total FES 38,286 9,749
Performance obligations (b) EHEMFE

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Application software development service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered or at the point in time when
services are accepted according to the agreement.
Payment is generally due within 120 days from the
date of billing, except for certain customers, where
payment in advance is required.

BRI B 1T H AR
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BHEERBARKE  BERE
1 AR 75 B By ] 5 P 3K B W B 0E
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
(Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (Continueq)
Software licensing service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment in advance is
normally required.

Patient counselling service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 120 days from the date of billing.

Other services

The performance obligation is satisfied at the point
in time when the individual service is rendered and
payment is generally due within 120 days from the
date of billing.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as
follows:

g« Rttt A RS (&)

ERSHkE(E)

(b)

BHEE(E)

B ] R
BAETRERMEREAEREE
B —RRBATBMNRIE -
BE B AR
BAHETRERMEREAEREEZE
K BE—RBEEREZHIEI20
HARXNRIE -

H R
BHBEENRRAEE RS ZE

K BE—RBEEREZHIEI20
HARXNRIE -

R1I2ABEBS K TR SKRENE
ECREBEITHMORETIHOR
ZERMT :

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARET

Amounts expected to be recognised B HAHE R A UK 25 HY XA

as revenue:

Within one year —F R 258,641 114,951
After one year —F iz 13,236 67,345
Total B 271,877 182,296
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. k& +  Htuk ARWKE (&)
(Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS ERSVKE (&)

(Continued)

(b) Performance obligations (Continued) (b) BHREFEE)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to
the remaining performance obligations which are
expected to be recognised as revenue after one year
relate to precision marketing solutions and corporate
solutions, of which the performance obligations
are to be satisfied within three years. All the other
amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations are expected to be
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts
disclosed above do not include variable consideration

which is constrained.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

DTEEAHN - FRERA/W
SMHBRTITENREINRSER
TRHRERELHBERATR D
EBMATRAR EFTENE
ERR=FREKX - DEER
TEANEENMABEMRSE
REBRAHER —FARR D
W - L FENSEIERE
IR GIE AT Z A o

HAi WA MRS DT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BT ARETT
Other income and gains Hih g A R W=
Bank interest income R1TF B WA 179,134 183,884
Interest income from debt investments (& & #& & T 55 B4 A 25,585 =
Fair value adjustment of contingent HAREBENANLEBEFAE
consideration 9,133 —
Government grants* BT f8 B~ 3,793 3,680
Investment income from financial BEARBEFTEAEEEZF
assets at fair value through FABZEHNEREERE
profit or loss WA 1,538 786
Foreign exchange gains, net b 5 Uk 2= 0% 58 3,237 —
Others HAth 1,401 133
Total other income and gains H b g A KU %5 4258 223,821 188,483

* The government grants mainly represent incentives awarded

by the local governments to support the Group’s operations.
There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached

to these grants.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. FRIRAIET
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ ANEB ZBFADER BEME (G
(crediting): AN) T3 & IEBEE:
Notes 2024 2023
B 20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTFT
Cost of services provided* B 12 it AR 7% Ak A8 231,134 160,481
Cost of inventories sold EEFENAR 99 188
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BEREE
equipment e 13 2,091 1,594
Depreciation of right-of-use assets THEEERE 14(a) 9,975 5,301
Amortisation of other intangible assets*™ H b £ 2 & & # §5* 16 3,534 2,476
Impairment of trade receivables, net B 5 W IE R E
FER 18 512 505
Research and development costs ot 2% S 64,581 54,255
Lease payments not included in the AMAHEGENE
measurement of lease liabilities 77 & 5 3K 14(c) 1,152 3,053
Bank interest income WITH BHA 5 (179,134) (183,884)
Interest income from debt investments &% & A5 7 &
N 5 (25,585) =
Government grants B A 4 B 5 (3,793) (3,680)
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEER - FE (3,237) 6,757
Investment income from financial assets & A A {BE:TE B &
at fair value through profit or loss ZEAABRNR
MEEREWRA 5 (1,538) (786)
Fair value adjustment of contingent IAREBNAAREE
consideration B 25 (9,133) 2,161
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BMERR
plant and equipment HIEE R EE — 4
Loss on disposal of leases HEHENEE 262 =
Auditor’s remuneration % 2R B & 2,086 2,043
Employee benefit expense (excluding EERAMAXZ(TEE
directors’ and chief executive’s EERERRITHA
remuneration (note 8)): B M (M 7E8)) :
Wages and salaries TERF® 156,547 126,002
Pension scheme contributions*** RIRE 5T 8 FU 17,347 15,128
Staff welfare expenses EERAMAX 4,391 2,228
Share-based payment expense AR 15 A B R
B 3,296 5,744
Total st 181,581 149,102
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

*

The employee benefit expense included in “Cost of services
provided” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income is RMB62,895,000 (2023:
RMB51,027,000) during the year.

> The amortisation of other intangible assets is included in “Cost
of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by

the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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6. FBRREAR (&)

* BERAMASIEHAAGABERZRE
ftb 2 T U 2 R AT 4R 4 AR 75 Ak A
N RERAB AR 628950007
(20234 : A R #51,027,0007T) °

o HMEVEERHCHAGSER
REMEEARGEROMBEERAIA -

o AFEAEEWERET) A NRRE
LEBEFOKRF R HR -

7. MERE
BMEREASTOT
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®TRT

Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b)) & & & 7 B (Ff 7 14(b)) 786 361
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EERBETHRARTH

B R ETIA B R R 5 B
RIECET R AN - BB AR IEDIE
383(1)(@) * (b) (o) K (f) &k A {2 A
(REEEF 2 AR RADH20 ¥
REMT -

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRE ARBTT

Fees we 405 360
Other emoluments: Hu & :
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e EAL AR
benefits in kind EYET 6,195 4,828
Pension scheme contributions BIREET B 198 189
Share-based payment expense AR A EENNRAX 2,373 4,671
Total @t 9,171 10,048

In prior years, certain directors were granted share options,
in respect of their services to the Group under the share
option scheme of the Company, further details of which
are set out in note 28 to the financial statements. The fair
value of such options, which has been recognised in profit
or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial
statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(A)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 202412 31H

8. EERERSTHRARTHM (&)

(A) BIFRTES

FANTEUEATESNE

during the year were as follows: SR

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥BTR AR%T

Richard Yeh ZER 135 120

Ma Jun 5E 135 120

Wang Shan + i 135 120

Total BE 405 360
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRAWERMNBILIENTES

independent non-executive directors during the year

(2023: Nil).

B E At Bl & (20234 : F) o
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H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND NON-

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

8. EERESTHRARTHM (&)

(B) MITEERFHITES

Salaries,
bonuses, Pension  Share-based
allowances and scheme payment
Fees benefits in kind contribution expense Total
e wa DRBREER
we RUERENEN BASHEME HRAX @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR AR%TR ARBTTR ARETTR ARETR
2024 20245
Executive directors; HTEE:
Tian Liping* B - 2,076 - 1,579 3,655
Tian Lixin ik - 1,803 66 397 2,266
Tian Lijun BiyE - 1,603 66 397 2,066
Zhou Xin AR - 713 66 - 779
Subtotal N - 6,195 198 2,373 8,766
Non-executive directors: FFE{TE %
Eiji Tsuchiya BREHR= - - - - -
Kazutaka Kanairo tE—8 - - - - -
Total B - 6,195 198 2,373 8,766

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report
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31 December 2024 202412 31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EEREETTHARFH (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND NON- (B) MITEERIFERITESR 2
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)
Salaries,
bonuses, Pension Share-based
allowances and scheme payment
Fees  benefits in kind contribution expense Total
\ e ?E@[‘ \ R AEER \
we RERENEN EREHEER HRAX @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTL ARETTL
2023 2023F
Executive directors: WiTES:
Tian Liping* R - 1,732 - 3,107 4,839
Tian Lixin M3 - 1,293 63 782 2,138
Tian Lijun AYE - 1,193 63 782 2,038
Zhou Xin AR - 610 63 - 673
Subtotal et - 4,828 189 4,671 9,688
Non-executive directors; FFHITEE
Eiji Tsuchiya MEH= - - - - -
Kazutaka Kanairo 26—-8 - - - - -
Total @ - 4,828 189 4,671 9,688
* Tian Liping is the chief executive of the Group. * HYFAAREERSITHRALR °
There was no arrangement under which a director REARN BEESFHHEETH
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any A BN E =R B HE 1 & o
remuneration during the year. = BE °

BB ARAT
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2023: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: two)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

IEEEFHER

REAN IERRTMEEEE=
FREE(023F =HEF) FHARK
EFMOFBEEHR EXWES - R
FA FARBEFTIRRSITHA
BMERT MRS % B & 8 (20234
ME)WFHMFISESI T

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AREFTIT

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and e fEA EEREYREF
benefits in kind 2,357 2,039
Pension scheme contributions RIREET B R 134 126
Share-based payment expense AR AEENMN KA 1,619 3,287
Total 4ot 4,110 5,452

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands are as follows:

FHMNFATHERNIFESTRIEER
BITBRAENESFHMEES AB L
T

Number of employees

EE A"
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 1,500,0017% 7T £ 2,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,500,000 2,500,001 T £3,500,000 7T 1 —
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,500,000 3,500,001 Jt £4,500,0007% 7T - 1
Total 4B et 2 2

In prior years, share options were granted to a non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employee in respect
of his services to the Group, further details of which are
included in the disclosures in note 28 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has
been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is
included in the above non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report
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10.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands, the Company is not subject to any income tax in
this jurisdiction.

The statutory tax rate for the subsidiary in Hong Kong is
16.5%. No Hong Kong profits tax on the subsidiary has
been provided as there was no assessable profit arising in
Hong Kong during the year.

The provision for current income tax in Mainland China is
based on a statutory tax rate of 25% of the assessable
profits of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group as determined
in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law.

Jinye Tiancheng, Yimaihutong, Medcon and Focus
Innovation are accredited as High and New Technology
Enterprises and were entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15% (2023: 15%) during the year. Shijiazhuang Maili,
Yinchuan Yimaitong, Beijing Yimaitong Medicine Co., Ltd.,
Linberg and Shanghai Yimaitong Huilin Medical Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Huilin”) are accredited as Small and Micro
Enterprises and were entitled to a preferential tax rate of
5% (2023: 5%) during the year.

The income tax expense of the Group during the year is
analysed as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

10. FRr 810
REFAREEEEREENEK
BEAREBKE QAR EM&&ETE

a%@m,ﬂ%m% B o
BERESHENHIRER KA
ABBERZ A EEEREBHN TGRS
o

REBZHBRAREZEHREXA
16.5% - HRNFABMBREBEAE
FERB BN I ERHBRARZ
BB G RERE -

7N 5 B $225% B 0% E B R (1R B\ (F
BEXMEHREZ)ETE) HEFBEM
JB B e R B A 5t R R B A 3t B
HIPT S BB -

SEXK BRERA ZHELE
TEIFERUT A TR EE F
N R TSR B15% (20234 :

15%) o A K 4 B ﬁH &R @ -
km ckmEBZGR AR FEBR

FEBIKREE Egﬁﬁﬂﬁtmﬁﬁi
(ERDEZAMANMELE  FR
BRI K E5% (20234 : 5%) ©

AEBENFRAMSHADOMT

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥BTR AR%Tr

Current — Mainland China BNER — ARE A

Charge for the year FE 8,702 1,983
Under provision in prior years BAFEREBETR 42 2
Deferred tax (note 26) i X 7% 18 (B 5226) 1,429 (613)
Total tax charge for the year FREMBRMNIBLRRE 10,173 1,372
BIRBEREARATR

—ECNEER
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31 December 2024 202412 431H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. FRrf8 1R (&

ERARRPEAMEERRFTEDN
B B0 A1 A A A5 TR S B iR B R A

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate in Mainland China to the tax

200

expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

Rt EMB B L HEDT

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Profit before tax B 75 AT A 340,474 253,132
Tax at the statutory tax rate 1% B A X TE B R25% T B
of 25% in Mainland China ORI 85,119 63,284
Preferential tax rates enacted by local i 77 # #& | & 898 B/ X
authority (14,757) (8,620)
Effect of tax rate differences in other HE M A EAERANFEREZE
jurisdictions TR (48,667) (41,786)
Income not subject to tax AR WA (124) (1,574)
Additional deductible allowance ®E SN B R S AT 40 Rk O B
for research and development
expenses (8,439) (6,432)
Expenses not deductible for tax TR A 409 58
Additional deductible allowance for BT B R 58 SN AT 40
share options exercised EHES (4,322) (6,338)
Tax losses not recognised RERNIEEE 959 2,953
Tax losses utilised from previous BAECS A IEEE
periods (47) (179)
Adjustments in respect of current tax  Ft i@ E B BN EA R EBAE B9
of previous periods & 42 2
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax A EBE BB K+ E MR
rate HAX 10,173 1,372

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

DIVIDENDS 11. B2
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTR ARETT
Interim — RMB12.05 cents hH — BREBKRARE
(2023: RMB10.67 cents) per 12.05% (20234 : A R#&
ordinary share 10.67%) 88,311 78,010
Proposed final — RMB13.66 cents BEAH - ERTARAR
(2023: RMB12.48 cents) per #13.66% (20234 : A R ¥
ordinary share 12.48%)) 100,111 90,725

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 729,071,150 (2023: 721,911,495)
outstanding during the year. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares for the year is adjusted to reflect the
ordinary shares issued under the share award scheme
adopted by the Company.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number
of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as used in
the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

12.

REEZZRBREALERRA R
RREERRBFRE LHAE -

BAFRIRBEGIAAEWES
Gl

EREXRRMNEFAGRAIEZ AR
BEABGEZF RETENEBR
h0AE 15 729,071,150 4% (20234 :
721,911,495/ ) 5T & - N QA A B F
A 3B AR oINS 35 B A R BR AR 1 AR
NAEFTERAIR D EE TS BT
L@ o

BERBEERANZS AR EARTSE
ABIEFRENFE - SHFERBAZ
ERRMEFHERFRETEIN
EEREAGIESRAEXNRRF PTH
ZEBBEBB)ARBRRBITEN
BEREEBENERRREBKEE
EBRERTZEBRRMEFGE -

BIENEERA R
R MFER
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31 December 2024 202412 431H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BAFIHEREFAARELS
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT BREF (&)
(Continued)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share EREARBERF ZETETIER
is based on:
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T
Earnings B F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity & AR E@RIFAR A
holders of the parent, used in the EiEaF - AREE
basic and diluted earnings per BREAR#EBERT
share calculation 315,146 242,301

Number of shares

% 13 & B
2024 2023
2024 20234
Shares % 12
Weighted average number of ordinary 4 A 2 17 £ 9 38 A%
shares outstanding during the year ~ ji#EFH & - AR
used in the basic earnings per TESREKNEF
share calculation 729,071,150 721,911,495
Effect of dilution — weighted average # &% & — L @A MK
number of ordinary shares: 58
Share options i IR 7,188,554 12,671,548
736,259,704 734,583,043

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report



13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

13. B1% - REREM

Electronic Office Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles improvements Total
ETRE  BOERG RE  HENERE @i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTTR ARETR
31 December 2024 2024512 A31H
At 1 January 2024: R204F1R1R
Cost A 6,802 542 733 7,067 15,144
Accumulated depreciation Z2iiE (4,683) (451) (609) (6,781) (12,524)
Net carrying amount FRFE 2,119 91 124 286 2,620
At 1 January 2024, net of 202441818 + 11k
accumulated depreciation ZitihE 2,119 91 124 286 2,620
Additions NE 1,083 203 - 10,672 11,958
Disposals mE (15) - - - (15)
Depreciation provided during ERHRENE
the year (note 6) (P 3t6) (1,192) (82) (101) (716) (2,091)
At 31 December 2024 net of R2024E12A318 + 1
accumulated depreciation BE2ime 1,995 212 23 10,242 12,472
At 31 December 2024: R2024%12A318 :
Cost A 7,870 745 733 10,672 20,020
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (5,875) (533) (110) (430) (7,548)
Net carrying amount FRFE 1,995 212 23 10,242 12,472
BIENRERAT
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. W% - BEREME (&)

(Continued)
Electronic Office Motor Leasehold
equipment equipment vehicles  improvements Total
BTR LN T nE HEMERE @i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
31 December 2023 2023%12A31A
At 1 January 2023; R2023F1 /18 :
Cost A 5,945 536 733 7,067 14,281
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (3,620) (387) (408) (6,598) (11,013)
Net carrying amount RETE 2,325 149 325 469 3,268
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1A18 + Mk
accumulated depreciation 25t E 2,325 149 325 469 3,268
Additions HE 745 5 - - 750
Acaquisition of subsidiaries WERBAT 199 1 = = 200
Disposals e @ - - - @
Depreciation provided during ERFRAE
the year (note 6) (Bt 3t6) (1,146) (64) (201) (183) (1,594)
At 31 December 2023, net of P2023F12/318 + 1M
accumulated depreciation REHTE 2,119 91 124 286 2,620
At 31 December 2023; 202312 A31A :
Cost A 6,802 542 733 7,067 15,144
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (4,689) (451) (609) (6,781) (12,524)
Net carrying amount RmFE 2,119 o1 124 286 2,620

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

14. LEASES 14. 8
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE FREEBEHEA
The Group has lease contracts for office premises used AEEHESEMARAEMEDN
in its operations. Leases of office premises generally have MEGH WAEYWHEHEENHEE
lease terms between 2 and 5 years. Generally, the Group is BER2ESF - —EBEARAT A&
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets R B FE AN R B 2 o e i R AR
outside the Group. HEBE -
(a) Right-of-use assets () FRAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use AEEFAREECREER
assets and the movements during the year are as FAREHBRET
follows:
Office premises
WAEYE
RMB’000
ARBT T
At 1 January 2023 720231 H1H 11,304
Additions NE 2,150
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B Bt 8 2 /) 302
Depreciation charge (note 6) wEEM (Kse) (5,301)
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 #2023 12H31H &
202441818 8,455
Additions NE 29,972
Depreciation charge (note 6) e B R (M o) (9,975)
Disposals & (2,878)
As at 31 December 2024 2024512 H31H 25,574
BICARNRERAE
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

14. LEASES (Continued) 14. 8 (&)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) FEEEREBEANE)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEEE
The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the HEAGENEREBERFANEH
movements during the year are as follows: BRAMAT:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRE ARBTT

Carrying amount at 1 January M1A1EREREE 8,192 11,262
New leases HHE 29,972 2,150
Acquisition of a subsidiary W B8 B B A &) - 322
Disposals aek== (2,616) —
Accretion of interest recognised FARERE S LN

during the year (note 7) (B 5E7) 786 361
Payments E:N (13,701) (5,903)
Carrying amount at 31 December M12 A31BE M EREE 22,633 8,192
Analysed into: DR
Current portion BN HA &6 2 11,601 4,549
Non-current portion JE BN EA 28 5 11,032 3,643
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEEBRNI MO HEERE
note 35 to the financial statements. % & M 5235 ©
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

14. LEASES (Continued) 14. 8 (&)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) FREEREHEAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to () RE=MERNIEEAEFKIEN
leases are as follows: i
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®TR

Interest on lease liabilities HEBEME 786 361
Depreciation charge of right-of-use ~ FREELENEER
assets 9,975 5,301
Reduction due to termination of B #% (EHE & om
leases (2,616) —
Expense relating to short-term HEMEEEENRX
leases (included in administrative (FFATTER R 30 (Bt 7%6)
expenses) (note 6) 1,152 3,053
Total amount recognised in profitor REHRANERN LS E
loss 9,297 8,715
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note d HEEMNReRHATEFEERH
30(c) to the financial statements. % # 2< M1 7:30(c) °
BIRBEREARATR
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

15. GOODWILL 15. B8
RMB’000
AREF T
Cost as at 1 January 2023 R202341 18 &) B K 111,518
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B B B8 A &) 81,007
Net carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 2028312 A31B W R E F & 192,525
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December  7A2023%F12 A31H &
2023 and 31 December 2024 2024F 12 A31H AR A K
BREFE 192,525
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL e 2 iR {8 R B
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is FREBEHRENEBEIEEN
allocated to the following cash-generating units for THREELESEMETRENHA
impairment testing:
e Medcon cash-generating unit; s XHEBASEABA:
e Focus Innovation cash-generating unit; s HIEIFNRESEABN:
° SCMedcon cash-generating unit; and e [FKEBERSELBEAN: N

e Linberg cash-generating unit. e JEREEAEN -

208 MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
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15. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (Continued)
Medcon cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Medcon cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on a
financial budget covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The gross margin applied to the cash
flow projections is 57.00% (2023: 52.00%). The terminal
growth rate applied to the cash flow projections is 0.00%
(2023: 0.00%). The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 12.00% (2023: 11.50%).

Focus Innovation cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Focus Innovation
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on a financial budget covering a five-year period approved
by senior management. The gross margin applied to the
cash flow projections is 52.00% (2023: 44.50%). The
terminal growth rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 0.00% (2023: 0.00%). The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 12.50% (2023: 11.50%).

SCMedcon cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the SCMedcon cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on a
financial budget covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The gross margin applied to the cash
flow projections is 46.00% (2023: 54.00%). The terminal
growth rate applied to the cash flow projections is 0.00%
(2023: 0.00%). The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 15.00% (2023: 15.00%).

Linberg cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the Linberg cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on a
financial budget covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The gross margin applied to the cash
flow projections is 44.00% (2023: 41.00%). The terminal
growth rate applied to the cash flow projections is 0.00%
(2023: 0.00%). The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 13.20% (2023: 13.50%).

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

15. B8 (&)

EmEEEN(E)
XHEREELEN

THERSELEMNNTRKS
%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ”#i Z &t

BENFERAERSREEEML AN

iﬁﬁ Hﬂ“ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁﬁi/miﬁ EU
BenEsdlmAENX 7%57 00%
(20234 : 52.00%) ° 3 & it = T8 Al
BT FA 4% 45 38 & 3K 50.00% (20234 :
0.00%) > & R EFB B KA
& 512.00% (20234 : 11.50%) °

EIRHREELEEN

%;‘Iéﬂ%ﬁiﬁ@%iﬁﬁﬁﬁ?@u&i
EREBEFEAEETEET %t &
Efiﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁm‘ﬁ&g EE#AENASF
Hﬁ aﬁ%%iﬁ Eﬁiﬁi/nbiiﬁ E'J C Iﬁ
& % = 78 8l FT A £ 7 X A£52.00%
(20234 : 44.50%) » 3R & i = T8 Al
Fir A #3538 & & 50.00% (20234 :
0.00%) - IR &A= FE R IRK BRI
R 512.50% (20234F : 11.50%) °

AREBEEBEESEEEN

Ak g %ﬁi?%%hﬁ’]?@ﬂ&é
EREBEFEAEBETEETE  ZitH
NERERSREEERAEANASF
HA Hﬁ%% EWRen=EE - 1
i //IL E i{’ﬁa\ EU ﬁﬁ )EH EE f'J = 7%46 00%
(20234 : 54.00%) ° 3R & it = 78 Al
BT A #8338 & & 50.00% (20234 :
0.00%) » IR & 7 = T8 Bl % B 19 8L I8
& 515.00% (20234 : 15.00%) ©

IBREELEN

FEREELEMRA B WS EEIR
BEEREEFEETE  ZiAENLE
AERESRAEEEMENTFHY
%%%E\ miﬁélllbi E\/E\’J % iﬁﬁ/ﬁ%
TEBIFT A E A K 544.00% (20234 :
41.00%) ° I8 & 7t = 788 BT A 48 b 18
£ & 50.00% (20234 : 0.00%) ° 3}
&= B R B A AL IR X B213.20%
(20234 : 13.50%) °

BIRENEERAT
—ECNEER
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

15. GOODWILL (Continued) 15.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (Continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units is as follows:

me (F)
o i (E B ()

PEREEEBESELEEMNNEERNER
HEMT :

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETRT

Medcon cash-generating unit THREREeEEEM 69,723 69,723
SCMedcon cash-generating unit ANEEREeEEEM 53,449 53,449
Focus Innovation cash-generating unit E )X gI¥ IR & E £ BN 41,795 41,795
Linberg cash-generating unit DEREELESN 27,558 27,558

192,525 192,525

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the above cash-generating units for 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Gross margin — Gross margin is based on the average
gross margin achieved in the past three years before the
budget year.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth
rate is based on management expectations and does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industry
relevant to the cash-generating unit.

Discount rate — the rate reflects management’s estimate
of the risks specific to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on
gross margin and discount rate are consistent with
management’s past experience and external information
sources.

With regards to the assessment of the value in use of the
above cash-generating units, the directors of the Company
believe that reasonable possible changes in above key
assumptions would not lead to the carrying value of each
cash-generating unit to exceed the recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2024.
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. Hth - E &

Deferred
development Customer
Software costs relationship Total
Bt BERERL EFBR @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
31 December 2024 2024512 331A
Cost at 1 January 2024 net of accumulated R2024F1 BB M A »
amortisation HEESE 5 9,446 39,198 18,092 66,736
Additions — internal development NE - N - 8,920 - 8,920
Internal transfer nHEs 5,433 (5,433) - -
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) & /5t iR £ B 5 (Ff &6) (2,402) - (1,132) (3,534)
At 31 December 2024 2024512 4318 12,477 42,685 16,960 72,122
At 31 December 2024: 202412 318 :
Cost KA 16,261 42,685 20,852 79,798
Accumulated amortisation Eg £ (3,784) - (3,892) (7,676)
Net carrying amount FHFE 12,477 42,685 16,960 72,122
31 December 2023 2023512 431R
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 120231 A1BHIA A -
amortisation HEESE 3 8,881 8,143 7,312 24,336
Additions — internal development HNE - MR 721 31,055 = 31,776
Acaquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR - - 13,100 13,100
Amortisation provided during the year (note 6) 4 A5t 1 &1 5 85 (11 3%6) (156) = (2,320) (2,476)
At 31 December 2023 #2023%12A31R 9,446 39,198 18,092 66,736
At 31 December 2023: 120235128318 :
Cost KA 10,828 39,198 20,852 70,878
Accumulated amortisation Eg £ (1,382) - (2,760) (4,142)
Net carrying amount REFE 9,446 39,198 18,092 66,736
BIRBEREARATR
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF DEFERRED
DEVELOPMENT COSTS

The intangible assets of the Group include the deferred
development costs which are the expenditure incurred in
the development phase of each project. The management
of the Company tests the deferred development costs
which are not yet available for use for impairment at least
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired, by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts.

The recoverable amounts of deferred development
costs have been determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections which are based
on financial forecast approved by senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
14.50%, which is determined by reference to the average
rates for in progress research and development projects
with similar business risk and after taking into account the
risk premium in connection with the related research and
development efforts.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of deferred development costs as at 31 December 2024.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of deferred development
costs:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks in respect of the related research and
development efforts.

Profit margin — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the profit margin is the expected
commercialising markets.

Growth rate — The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows beyond the forecast period is based on the
estimated growth rate of the Group taking into account the
industry growth rate, past experience and the medium-term
or long-term growth target of the Group.

The values assigned to the key assumptions are consistent
with historical experience of the Group and external
information sources.
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

DEBT INVESTMENTS 17. RHEERSE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTRT ARETT
Unlisted investments, at cost JEETRE - HERA 639,461 —
Less: Due within one year B —F AR 199,087 —
440,374 =

The unlisted investments represented certain certificates
of deposits and bonds issued by commercial banks. They
were classified as financial assets at amortised cost as
their contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal
and interest.

FETREEBERITEITINET
FEREZ BAREANEASRE
BERINAERMNE  BOBRR
HEHKAGTENEREE -

TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. B HEIFHRIA
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTRT ARETT
Trade receivables =) & 136,502 111,190
Impairment BB (1,831) (1,319
134,671 109,871

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit. The credit terms granted generally ranged up
to 180 days, depending on the specific payment terms in
each contract. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

AEBRAEAZFZHEMNESGHRA
FEERE —BRETRZI180KH
SEH - REEAS DN AR RE
HME AEEBRIRERERE
BRERWGIA Z BB IEH - 8 M &R
e EEEETHMEN AEEY
EEHREFBAGE SR B EME
HmEMEEREREGE B8
WK B A EEFLE o
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. A HRIE (&)
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of REBEHERREZEHENNIL L
the reporting period, based on the invoice dates and net of HMBEEERENEZEBFKIENR
loss allowance, is as follows: oM :
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®TR

Within 6 months DLRNEA 129,119 106,424
6 to 12 months ANETZM@EA 3,978 2,633
1 to 2 years —EWF 1,505 761
2 to 3 years Mz = 69 53
134,671 109,871

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BRI HERREBEREZS

trade receivables are as follows: PN

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®TRT

At beginning of year F1 1,319 814
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BB & 18 F '8 (K1 3E6) 512 505
At end of year FXR 1,831 1,319
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting RERESBHEABEBBETR
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit BN Ust2BHEEEE - &
losses. The provision rates are based on ageing and days HBEEREABUBRAERNN S @
past due for groupings of various customer segments EPHENRRILABAXHEEL - Z
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the FAERMTEMENEER  BER
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and MEEUAERRREBHTESNS
reasonable and supportable information that is available at RBAEEH - BRI DR KL B
the reporting date about past events, current conditions MATBRMEEBEMEERERER

and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 18. BHMIEHRIE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk LATHINBEBASEEE 5 EWKKIE
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a FTRABEERNEERRAER

provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2024 K2024%F12 A31H

Trade receivables ageing

EREWTERER
Less than 6 to 12
6 months months 1to2 2t03 Over 3
andpast and past yearsand yearsand years and
Current due due pastdue pastdue pastdue Total

SR6EA 6F128F 1ZE2FR 2E3FR  HBIER
IR RE# i35 a4 ok ok @t

Expected credit loss rate BHEEBREX - 0.4% 1.3% 31.7% 86.0%  100.0% 1.3%
Gross carrying amount BERE
(RMB'000) (ARETL) 119,119 10,039 4,030 2,203 494 617 136,502
Expected credit losses BHEERE
(RMB'000) UN:: S - 39 52 698 425 617 1,831
As at 31 December 2023 MR2023F12 A31H
Trade receivables ageing
EHRMIERE
Less than 61012
6 months months 1t02 2103 Over 3
and past andpast  yearsand  yearsand  years and
Current due due past due past due past due Total
DPR6EA 6Z12EAR  1E2ERk  2Z3ER  RBB3ER
5 gl g g o jaft EEH)
Expected credit loss rate BHEEFRE - 0.3% 5.9% 40.3% 61.0% 100.0% 1.2%
Gross carrying amount BERE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 91,857 14,606 2,798 1,274 136 519 111,190
Expected credit losses BHEERE
(RMB'000) (ARETT) - 39 165 513 83 519 1,319
Note: The Group estimated the expected credit loss rate to be MaE: ASEBEFTAHEZEBRENTE
minimal on the current trade receivables. HEEEBEBXEARK -

BN ARAT
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

19. CONTRACT ASSETS 19. E¥IEE
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%Tr
Contract assets arising from: BREEXRE:

Precision marketing and FBEZHERBESR £

corporate solutions 37,028 44,303
Intelligent patient management BB ETEMRA

solutions 3,059 1,547
Medical knowledge solutions BEEMBRATR 93 199
40,180 46,049

Contract assets are initially recognised in relation to
revenue earned from the provision of precision marketing
and corporate solutions, intelligent patient management
solutions and medical knowledge solutions as the receipt
of consideration is conditional on successful completion of
multiple services. Upon completion of multiple services, the
amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to
trade receivables. The decrease in contract assets in 2024
was the result of the decrease in the ongoing provision of
services at the end of the year.

Included in the Group’s contract assets are amounts due
from entities controlled by M3, Inc., a shareholder of the
Company, of RMB2,973,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB6,355,000), which are repayable on credit
terms similar to those offered to the major customers of
the Group.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets as at 31 December is as follows:

BREERNERSREHBELH
RERBARTER SHBEEER
RITRRBENBERTEAE R
@ AWEREBURRKI EXZ
HRF - REZERB KK R
RAEMNEENZBEREF IBEER
Z W RIE - N2024F - ANEE
B Rk T R B R R AR BE A AR A% B R
DFTE -

2024F12A3IBAEBAEHNEENRN
B AR E B EMS, Inc. BT 15 %I & 52
B &5 R 5018 A R 2,973,000 (2023
F: A R#6,355,0007T) © % ik IR
REFAEBEZTEEFNHELOEE

R B E o

M12A31H » & 4 & E & I8 5t WK
SEREREWT :

2024 2023

2024%F 20234F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRT ARETIT

Within one year —F R 40,180 46,049
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19.

20.

CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates for the measurement of the
expected credit losses of the contract assets are based on
those of the trade receivables as the contract assets and
the trade receivables are from the same customer bases.
The provision rates of contract assets are based on ageing
of trade receivables for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. As
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

Notes to Financial Statements

19.

20.

B TS ¥R 2R Y

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

SHRE (&)

RNERSBHFERBEEEEETR
B UEtEBHEEEIE - &
EANEERHEERBNEREBE
NZEE SRR BB ERRBEE
BERABEHNEERESREKKIEY
KER—XBFH  GHEENEE
EDEREBEUEEEANS @
EFEFHENEZIREUZRBREKET
ZETERM T ERNELR SR
MEAENUERBKEBSRTESNES
RBESM - BN FR R
MABBANEENEENESE - &
202445 K 2023412 A31H # &5 18 #
HHEFEARE -

AMHRER « - HttERRERE
ftb 38 &=

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR ARET

Prepayments TR 3K IE 29,179 10,462
Deposits and other receivables & & H i B U FR I8 6,509 5,212
35,688 15,674

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

FTAL AN SR & EET Y
AR A0 B K B HA & BB A E WSk IE
1878 o R20244F K 20234124318 -
EEBRHEETHARRE -

BIRBNHARAT
—E-NEER
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. B2 ARBEFERLREHHA

PROFIT OR LOSS

BEEMEMmEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRE ARBTT

Unlisted investments, at fair value

FLEMHRE - RA(E

102,147 42,640

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by commercial banks in Mainland China.
They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows
are not solely payments of principal and interest.

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME

DEPOSITS

EAEETRERTEAMEER
TEOTHNEYER BHREAHR
EREBIFARINARE RHME -
HEGDBERRAANEBEFERR
HHFABRENEREE -

22 BaRBaSERMRENER

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®STRE ARBTT

Cash and bank balances B4 NMIRTTH & 154,173 75,092
Time deposits T HFK 3,690,550 4,325,177
Subtotal INET 3,844,723 4,400,269

Less: Non-Current time deposits

W 3E 7 B E BT AR

- 42,014

Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESZEY 3,844,723 4,358,255
Denominated in RMB NARKEEE 460,076 462,489
Denominated in HK$ LA TTET & 429,467 1,598,990
Denominated in US$ LA TEHE 2,951,873 2,337,988
Denominated in GBP AR 85T E 3,070 802
Denominated in JPY AR B 5T & 237 =

Cash and cash equivalents and
time deposits

RehReFEYETE

H3 17 3K

3,844,723 4,400,269
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22,

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TIME
DEPOSITS (Continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for
varying periods from seven days to thirty-six months
and earn interest at the fixed time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

22.

23.

B TS ¥R 2R Y

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

ﬁ%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ#%
(&

ARBAATERALBSEMER
AT - AR IR P B RO COM EE B IR 16
B RCHERE - EERNEEERE)
AREEREZBEREETINER
BRRTHARBLBBEMER

RITHESRBARTERMKXGE
BF B R R BRERF R o EHE R
HEMTRERE=+TREATSE
I 12 7 B A7 SR A R BREA B o $R1T
Rk B EBAIRTT

RAEMTHRIT

RESHER EREZEHNE
ZREMNFRBENREDTWOT

2024 2023
20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRT ARETIT

Within 3 months DR =1E A 12,382 12,722
3 to 6 months =&=~f@H 154 1,099
6 to 12 months ~NE+-{EA 341 797
Over 1 year Hmid—F 986 153
13,863 14,771

Included in the Group’s trade payables are amount due to
M3, Inc., a shareholder of the Company, of RMB1,291,000
as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB778,000), which are
repayable on demand.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within six months.

7N & B A2024512A31B W B 5 JE
1 3038 B 38 FE S R 2 B AR R M3, Inc.
FKIE A R #1,291,0007T (20234 : A
R #778,0007T)  Z X BHKE EK

Joo
BR o

B RMNFREBEAFTE A RN
ARGE -

=

BIRBNHARAT
—E-NEER
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31 December 2024 2024412 31H

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

24. HthEFRREREEA

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 ARTR AREKTT
Payroll payables EBRTE 69,163 65,528
Contract liabilities aHAaE (a) 45,412 39,759
Taxes other than income tax Bk T 15 B AN < B 18 8,458 8,745
Deferred revenue iR T W 2 4,299 4,012
Accrued expenses FEstAX 1,751 280
Other payables H b FE {5 5XIR (b) 21,682 16,914
150,765 135,238
Notes: B 5

(@)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (a8 ABHEEFBOT:
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

Short-term advances received from customers 2 Y& 52 B # 5

Precision marketing and corporate solutions BELSHEHELEMRRAIR 43,929 39,212
Medical knowledge solutions BEEMBRATR 1,103 356
Intelligent patient management solutions BRRBEEEMARR 380 191
45,412 39,759

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
render services. The increase in contract liabilities in 2024 was
mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received
from customers in relation to the provision of Precision
marketing and corporate solutions at the end of the reporting
period.

(o)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on
demand. Included in the Group’s other payables are amount
due to Yunnan Medcon, an associate of the Company, of
RMB280,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB280,000).

MEDLIVE TECHNOLOGY CO., LTD.
2024 Annual Report

EHEEBERMARE MK E
HI 8 3K - 20245 - &R0 B EME
MEBRBREE P W ER &
SRR BTSN ERR
TRAMEE B REEN -

(b) HMEMZEANFEBERERE
B o 2024F12A31A AN £ E H fth &
NRBABEARGBKE AR ER
X i B # R 3IA A R #280,0007T
(20234 : A R #280,0007T) °



Notes to Financial Statements

25. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 25.

As parts of the equity transfer agreements in relation to the
acquisition of Focus Innovation, SCMedcon and Linberg,
a portion of the consideration was determined to be
contingent, which is dependent on the net profits of Focus
Innovation for the years ended/ending 31 December 2022,
2023 and 2024, the net profits of SCMedcon for the years
ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026
and the net profits of Linberg for the years ended/ending
31 December 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026, respectively.
The movement of the fair value of contingent consideration
payables is as follows:

B TS ¥R 2R Y

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

EARRARE

BEEBEBEE IR aXKEER
DEREEEHZE SOREEE
BIARE  DRKRTEIEFEHZE
20224 + 20234 202412318 1k
FERNFuF - AKESE Z=2028
T 20244F 20254 2026412 A31
B IEFE /3R H &9 1EE £2023
&\ 20244 20254 [ 2026412 531
BIEFEEMFHEMNME - BAIHAR
EBENAALBEEZEHMOT:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRE ARBTT

At beginning of year F1 65,905 41,759
Arising from acquisition of SCMedcon U & £ ik 28 & & 4+ - 26,393
Arising from acquisition of Linberg WS RIEEE - 15,645
Payments B - (10,020)
Reclassified to other payables ENOoEEHMENNKIE (13,867) (10,033)
Fair value changes (note 6) NAEEZE (M E6) (9,133) 2,161
At end of year FR 42,905 65,905
Current Bl ER 16,189 18,242
Non-current JEBNEA 26,716 47,663
42,905 65,905

BIRBEREARATR
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BRI R M aE
31 December 2024 2024412 A31H
26. DEFERRED TAX 26. EERIA
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FAELCHEEERBEZHUOT :
the year are as follows:
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS EBERRASE
Fair value
Impairment Share-based  adjustment
of trade Accrued Deferred payment  of contingent Lease
receivables expenses revenue expense consideration liabilities Total
L] L HRHRER AREAR
i 5 b BEUE  WOERX BEAZ HERE it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETr  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 120231 A1H 122 3812 459 3644 2p 1,690 9,973
Acquistion of a subsidiary KERERT - - - - - 16 16
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profitor ~ #VE2 (11l /3t AB B RE
loss [note 10) RA(H0) 76 652 143 (71g) 8 (639) (404)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 #2023512A31A
2041 A1R 198 4,464 602 2,926 328 1,067 9,585
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profitor ~ RBEZHA/(MB)HELE
loss [note 10) RE(W10) m 470 43 (520) (328) 2211 2019
At 31 December 2024 R20UE12A318 VI 4,934 645 2,406 = 3,344 11,604
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26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

26. SRIERIE ()

FRELEHNEEERESEEDHMT

the year are as follows: (Continued) (#&)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES BIERTARAR
Fair value
adjustments Fair value
arising from adjustment
acquisition of Right-of-use of contingent
subsidiaries assets  Withholding tax ~ consideration Total
RHEHEAR
MELEM ARREN
MEEAER EREgE B AABERE Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
As at 1 January 2023 120231 A1A 2,378 1,695 2,262 - 6,330
Deferred tax credited to profitor  RE&FTANELH A
loss (note 10) (Fir3E10) (405) (612) = - (1,017)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WERE AR 3,275 15 = - 3,290
Asat 31 December 2023 and  H2023F12A31B R
1 January 2024 02451818 5,243 1,098 2,262 - 8,603
Deferred tax (credited)/charged to M8 (3t A) /M1 0
profit or loss (note 10) B (M0 (608) 2,679 = 13717 3448
As at 31 December 2024 R2024E12831R 4,635 3777 2,262 1,377 12,051

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax

HRIIHEE > ETELERBEE
MBEECEMBEHRRPETER -
AEERMBEREBNM S WET

balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes: MIBEBROTET
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Net deferred tax assets recognised R4 A MR R KRER
in the consolidated statement of MIBEEFHE
financial position 8,260 8,518
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised 47 & B 75 Ak 5 3= #& 52 B 4 1T
in the consolidated statement of MIEBEFE
financial position 8,707 7,536
BIRBEREARATR

—ECNEER
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31 December 2024 2024412 A31H

26. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China
of RMB37,913,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB43,086,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as
it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At the end of the reporting period, the directors of the
Company, based on the Group’s operation and expansion
plan, estimated that part of the retained earnings of
subsidiaries in the PRC would be retained in Mainland
China for use in future operations and investments. In
the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amounts of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately RMB313,066,000 at 31
December 2024 (2023: RMB185,615,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. &
SHARES B% {7
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
uUs$ USs$
Epe D
Authorised: JETE
50,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 50,000,000,0000% & 37 % &
US$0.00001 each f%0.00001% JT 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BERITEBE:
732,876,000 (2023: 726,962,500) 732,876,000 (20234 :
ordinary shares of US$0.00001 726,962,500) f% 3 i % &
each f%0.00001%E JT 7,328 7,269
Equivalent to RMB HERARK 46,000 46,000
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital ARRIZBRAEHHFELT
is as follows:
Number
of shares
in issue Share capital
21T
g2 g=! Ji% <
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 717,348,000 45
Issue of shares for share award scheme  ZtA% {5 #E B 51 2| 2 17 A% 1 9,714,500 1
Repurchase % [0 (100,000) —
At 31 December 2023 and PR2023F12 A318 &
1 January 2024 2024F1A1H 726,962,500 46
Issue of shares for share award scheme A% 0 2 B 51 21 32 17 A% 1
(note) (Bt 3%) 5,913,500 =
At 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H 732,876,000 46
BiIREREERATR

—EopEgy 220
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27.

28.

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

SHARES (Continued)

Note:

In July and October 2024, the Company issued 5,888,500 and
25,000 ordinary shares with par value of US$0.00001 each with total
amount of US$58.89 (equivalent to RMB420) and US$0.25 (equivalent
to RMB?2), respectively, for the exercise of share options under the
Company’s share option scheme. The exercise price was RMB0.38
per share, resulting in the issue of 5,913,500 shares for a total cash
consideration of RMB2,247,000.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 29 March 2021, the Company adopted the pre-IPO
share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme”). The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is intended
to provide employees of the Group with an opportunity
to enjoy the success and incentives to their future
performance. The participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are employees or directors of a member of the
Group or associated companies of the Company that are
determined by the board at its discretion.

The option period in respect of the options under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be from the listing
date until the 5th anniversary of the listing date after which
unexercised options shall lapse and the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall terminate. The options shall be vested
in four equal tranches with the vesting date on the first,
second, third and fourth anniversaries of the listing date.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 26,754,000
shares, representing 3.88% of the issued share capital
of the Company immediately following the completion of
the global offering (without taking into account any shares
which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of the
over-allotment option and any option granted or may be
granted under the share option schemes). The exercise
price per share shall be RMBO0.38 per share.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, no dividends (including distributions made upon
the liquidation of the Company) will be payable and no
voting rights will be exercisable in relation to an option that
has not been exercised. Shares allotted and issued on the
exercise of an option will rank equally in all respects with
the shares in issue on the date of allotment. They will not
rank for any rights attaching to shares by reference to a
record date preceding the date of allotment.

On 2 April 2021, an aggregate of 26,754,000 share
options were granted to 62 grantees under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme. The following share options were
outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
during the year:
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28. LRI BEEMMER (&)

HROMBERMRER ()

RIEE R DR EER B RE S
BRFR - WARTTE 2 BIRE TS EIK
RE(BERARBBLRMIENDE)
REBEZRE - RHITEBEREME
BRBTZBMDES T R R
EHZEBETRNEERSERN -
MY EZHFLHEERANEEEBA
B PR 13 P B 2 AE frT A A o

MR2021F4H28 » B E &5 XA A
ERERES S me2E AR ARE
A $£26,754,0001) BE R HE - F A B
RARBEERBRET S M ARTTHE
MR EDT

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
EFHITEE BREHEB
RMB per share
BRAR®ET
At 1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 0.38 23,051,500
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.38 (9,714,500)
At 31 December 2023 and 2023F12 H318 &

1 January 2024 202451H18 0.38 13,337,000
Exercised during the year FRNITE 0.38 (5,913,500)
Forfeited during the year F XU 0.38 (25,000)
At 31 December 2024 202412 A31H 0.38 7,398,500

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise
for share options exercised during the year was RMBO0.38
per share (2023: RMBO0.38 per share).

FRAOTENERERTEBHD
IMEFHRE TR A RE0.387T
(20234 : & A R#¥0.387T) °

BIRBNHARAT
—E-NEER
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

28. LRI BEEMMER (&)

HROMBERMRER(E)

RBEREKR - B RTTEEREN
TTEERITEHRNOT:

2024
20244
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
BRE#HE THEE TR
RMB per share
SRARET
2,500 0.38 15 July 2022 to 15 July 2026
2022 7H15H £2026%F7H15H
2,500 0.38 15 July 2023 to 15 July 2026
2023F7H15H £2026F7H15H
727,500 0.38 15 July 2024 to 15 July 2026
2024 7H15H8 £2026F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15 July 2025 to 15 July 2026
2025 7A15H £2026%F7H15H
7,398,500
2023
20234
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
B E 1B 1T A
RMB per share
BRAR®ET
2,500 0.38 15 July 2022 to 15 July 2026
20224 7H15H £2026%7H15H
2,500 0.38 15 July 2023 to 15 July 2026
2023F7H158 £2026F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15 July 2024 to 15 July 2026
2024F7H158 £2026F7H15H
6,666,000 0.38 15 July 2025 to 15 July 2026
2025 7H15H £2026%F7H15H
13,337,000
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Group recognised a share option expense of
RMB4,167,000 (2023: RMB8,201,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted
was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists
the inputs to the model used:
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28. LIRRinHEENHHR (&)
HROMBERMRER ()

R EE RN E E2024F12A318 |F F
& NFERBE R HER X A R%4,167,000
70 (20234 : A R#8,201,0007T) °

BEYWRAGEBERELLEER
A-EARBYEEREEHERE
ZIEREEF RN T LB G -
TRINE P ERER 28 A BUE

2021

20214

Dividend yield (%) % B 2 (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R 1@ (%) 53.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 3 B2 K1) & (%) 3.05
Expected life of options (year) AR R FH(F) 5.00

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

The 5,913,500 share options exercised during the year
resulted in the issue of 5,913,500 ordinary shares of the
Company and new share capital of US$59.135 (before
issue expenses), as further detailed in note 27 to the
financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
7,398,500 share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 7,398,500
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
share capital of US$73.985 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 7,398,500 share options outstanding under
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, which represented
approximately 1.0% of the Company’s shares in issue as at
that date.

AEAREBERTEMARBDER
R E AT o

& 17 1$5,913,50017 B A% #E & B AR
A A 3 175,913,500 % I 3@ A% & F %
M A59.135% T (R KB EEITHAL) -

EIEE AR e LV

RFEHBR BEEBAAAEE
A B8 % #E 51 2 A A 7] F7,398,5001%
MARTENERE -RBRERXQEH
MEERNERE  BHITFERRTE
B B A% HE 1S B B AN A B35 477,398,500
fi% B8 S 38 AR K 3 hn iR ZN73.9853%F
T(RMBETHAZ) -

RZEVHEREROMEBS  BIE
BRAARAEERERETEARA
H7,398,50017 1A & 17 {F &Y B ix #& -
MARRRZABSHETRMA1.0% °
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 June 2021, the Company adopted the post-IPO
share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”), whose implementation is conditional on the
listing. The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to incentivise
and reward the eligible persons for their contribution to the
Group and to align their interests with that of the Company
so as to encourage them to work towards enhancing the
value of the Company. The participants of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme are employees or directors of
a member of the Group or associated companies of
the Company that are determined by the board at its
discretion.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the total number of shares in issue as at the listing
date, being 69,017,600 shares, or such higher limit as the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited may allow pursuant
to a waiver granted at its discretion. Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the scheme
mandate limit.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
listing date, after which period no further options will be
granted but the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted prior thereto which are at that time or become
thereafter capable of exercise under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, or otherwise to the extent as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, no dividends (including distributions made upon
the liquidation of the Company) will be payable and no
voting rights will be exercisable in relation to an option that
has not been exercised. Shares allotted and issued on the
exercise of an option will rank equally in all respects with
the shares in issue on the date of allotment. They will not
rank for any rights attaching to shares by reference to a
record date preceding the date of allotment.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 24 December 2021, the Company adopted a share
award scheme (“Share Award Scheme”) which shall be
valid and effective for a term of 10 years from that date.
The main purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to
encourage and retain selected personnel to work for the
Group or to make contribution to the Group and to provide
additional incentive for them to achieve performance
goals, with a view to achieving the objective of increasing
the value of the Company and aligning the interests of
the selected personnel with the shareholders through
ownership of shares. The eligible participants of the Share
Award Scheme are employees (full time or part time),
directors, officers, agents or consultants of the Company,
its subsidiaries or related entities. The total number of
shares to be issued pursuant to the Share Award Scheme,
together with the total number of shares to be issued under
all other employee incentive schemes of the Company,
including without limitation, the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme, shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the adoption date.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

On 17 January 2022, an aggregate of 500,000 shares
was granted to one grantee pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme. The amount payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of the grant of the shares is US$0.00001
per share. The shares granted shall be satisfied by the
proposed allotment and issue of 500,000 new shares.
The shares shall be vested in eight equal tranches (each a
“Tranche”) with the vesting date on 19 July of each year
beginning in 2023 and ending in 2030 (each such date
on which the shares are to be vested being a “Vesting
Date”).

The vesting of each Tranche shall be subject to: (a) the
target revenue of the business division of the Group in
which the grantee serves for the financial year immediately
preceding the Vesting Date of such Tranche having been
met (“Target A1”); (b) the target profit of the business
division of the Group in which the grantee serves for the
financial year immediately preceding the Vesting Date of
such Tranche having been met (“Target A2”); and (c) the
target cumulative consolidated revenue of the Group for
the financial year(s) in the completed assessment period
having been met (“Target B”, together with Target A1 and
Target A2, the “Performance Targets”).

In the event that any of the Performance Targets is not
met, the shares granted to the grantee will be clawed back
as follows: with respect to each Tranche, in the event that:
(@) all of the Performance Targets have been met, all of
the shares under such Tranche (i.e. 62,500 shares) shall
vest on the Vesting Date; (b) Target B has been met, but
one or both of Target A1 and Target A2 have not been
met, provided that 80% of both Target A1 and Target A2
have been met, 25% of the shares under such Tranche
(i.e. 15,625 shares) shall lapse and the remaining 75% (i.e.
46,875 shares) shall vest on the Vesting Date; and (c) (i)
Target B has been met, but the business division of the
Group in which the grantee serves failed to meet 80%
of either one or both of Target A1 and Target A2, or (ii)
Target B has not been met, 50% of the shares under such
Tranche (i.e. 31,250 shares) shall lapse and the remaining
50% (i.e. 31,250 shares) shall vest on the Vesting Date.
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28.

29.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of the shares granted was RMB8,331,000
which was estimated as at the date of grant using the
market quoted price, of which the Group recognised a
share award expense of RMB1,502,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group.

SHARE PREMIUM

The share premium represents the difference between the
par value of shares issued and the consideration received.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

The share-based payment reserve represents the
share-based compensation reserve due to equity-settled
share options and share awards.

STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC,
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises
are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax,
as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC
accounting standards, to their statutory surplus reserve
until the reserve reaches 50% of their registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions set out in the Company Law
of the PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve may be
converted to share capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.
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29. RESERVES (Continued) 29. %l (&)
EXCHANGE FLUCTUATION RESERVE BEE = %k B %
The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record EXEHEHEARNARREDEE
exchange differences arising from the translation of the BUIIARENERUBRRELE
financial statements of entities of which the functional MEHZR -
currency is not RMB.
30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30. IFEHE&RERME
OF CASH FLOWS
(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (A) EXEREXS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions RERN AEERBRLREDE
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HEZHEERAREENLME
RMB29,972,000 (2023: RMB2,150,000) and EAENIFREAEDAR
RMB29,972,000 (2023: RMB2,150,000), respectively, A R #29,972,0007T (20234 :
in respect of lease arrangements for office premises. A R ¥2150,0007T) & A R #&
29,972,0007T (20234 : A R #&
2,150,0007T) °
(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM (B) MEFHELAGRHED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Lease liabilities
HE&EE
RMB’000
AR T
At 1 January 2023 1K2023%F1A1H 11,262
New leases FHEE 2,150
Acquisition of a subsidiary I B BT B A A 322
Changes from financing cash flows BHERSREMNE (5,908)
Interest expense B 361
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R2023F12A31H &
2024F1H1H8 8,192
New leases g 29,972
Disposals k= (2,616)
Changes from financing cash flows BMERESRENE (13,701)
Interest expense B 786
At 31 December 2024 1K2024F12 A31H 22,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  30. iz&aH&RERME (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES (C) HERSTHEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FAGERERERNEER
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: R EBEEHIN AT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARET
Within operating activities KEEHA 1,152 3,053
Within financing activities BEEBA 13,701 5,903
14,853 8,956
COMMITMENTS 31. &I
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have REEHER ~AEEHEERNE
any significant commitments. RNAEHE o
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. AMAXS
Details of the Group’s related parties are as follows: AEE BB TFBET :

Company Relationship with the Company
AT B2 AR AT W BA R

M3, Inc. Shareholder of the Company

M3, Inc. RRBIRER

M3 USA Corporation (“M3 USA”)

M3 USA Corporation (M3 USAI)

M3 (EU) Limited (“M3 (EU)”)

M3 (EU) Limited (M3 (EU)])

M Panels Research Services PVT Ltd. (“M Panels”)

M Panels Research Services PVT Ltd. (M Panels])
Qualitative and Quantitative Fieldwork Service AB (“QQFS”)
Qualitative and Quantitative Fieldwork Service AB ([QQFS])
M3 Medical Holdings Ltd. T/AS All GL (“M3 Medical”)

M3 Medical Holdings Ltd. T/AS All GL (M3 Medicall)
Liwen Bianji Co., Limited (“Liwen Bianji”)
IRBHBX M ERERAA(EHEX])

Yunnan Medcon

An entity controlled by M3, Inc.
M3, Inc.1% Ik & 58

An entity controlled by M3, Inc.
M3, Inc.1% Ik & 88

An entity controlled by M3, Inc.
M3, Inc.1% Ik & 58

An entity controlled by M3, Inc.
M3, Inc.1% Ik & 88

An entity controlled by M3, Inc.
M3, Inc.1% Ik & 88

An entity controlled by M3, Inc.
M3, Inc.1% Ik & 88

An associate

g A 7

BERBERRERAF
—ECNEER
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. AWAERH (&)

(@ The Group had the following transactions with related @ AEERFANMEBEETETH
parties during the year: RPWT:
Notes 2024 2023
B 5 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR®ETRT

Precision marketing and fEAE L BH R 1 R R
corporate solutions RAREHT
provided to:
M3 USA M3 USA (i) 2,853 3,961
M3 (EU) M3 (EU) (i 6,913 4,577
M3 Medical M3 Medical (i 115 _
M Panels M Panels (i) 267 331
QQFS QQFS (i) 53 99
10,201 8,968
Intelligent patient management BB ETEMR
solutions provided to: HRESHT:
M3 USA M3 USA (i 173 _
M3 (EU) M3 (EU) (i 127 _
300 =
Software licensing fee to: BUHFAIET:
M3 USA M3 USA (if) 361 301
License and service fees to: FARRBET
M3, Inc. M3, Inc. (i) 571 558
Editing service fee to: mEREET:
Liwen Bianji 15 87 3R 3 (iv) 3 308
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@)

(b)

The Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year: (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

The service fees were determined on normal commercial
terms, negotiated on arm’s length basis, on similar
basis as the Group conducted businesses with other
independent third parties.

The software licensing fee to M3 USA was determined
on the basis of arm’s length negotiations between the

parties.

The license and service fees were determined on the
basis of arm’s length negotiations between the parties.

The editing service fee was determined on the basis of

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

32. MBAXR (&)

@ AEERFANEBEEFETH

TEMT: (&)

B 5 -

0] R BZ —BEEERERT
EREMET  HEEEHEAE
BEEMBYE=ZFETER
M o

(i) MIM3 USASfF K455 Al &
ThiRE TN PEGEE °

vy HWERFKBHEFATERE

arm’s length negotiations between the parties. F o
Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) BB T RSEEES:
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
Contract assets BHEE
M3 USA M3 USA 1,901 3,888
M3 (EU) M3 (EU) 684 1,598
M3, Inc. M3, Inc. - 69
M Panels M Panels 358 629
QQFS QQFS 30 171
2,973 6,355
Trade payables 2 5N RIA
M3, Inc. M3, Inc. 1,291 778
Other payables H fth & I8
Yunnan Medcon TR 280 280
BB R ERAR

—E-NEER
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 32. AWAERH (&)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (Continued) (b)

The outstanding balances with related parties were all
trade in nature except for the amount due to Yunnan
Medcon. Details of the Group’s balances with related
parties are disclosed in notes 19, 23 and 24 to the
financial statements.

>

HEMT N ARGEERS: (B)

b |

BREN T EB BB
HEBMOTNREEEHRGRE
ZMEE o NEE BB S
BRAEBRERNMBRRME
19 ~ 2324 »

i

() Compensation of key management personnel of the c AEEFTZEEEAEFHMH:
Group:
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
Salaries, allowances and benefits Fe EMREWREF
in kKind 10,630 8,274
Pension scheme contributions RIKEFHEI K 464 440
Share-based payment expense WO ABEENNRAX 3,192 6,284
Total compensation paid to key TNETEEBEEAEN
management personnel BN Bz 14,286 14,998

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included
in note 8 to the financial statements.

EEHFHMOFRINMHBERR
B 5E8 ©

The related party transactions in respect of items (a) BIECEMRBDE4AZE - B Lt
() and (a)(ii) above also constitute continuing connected @O & @(NVEEMNBEEFRZINE
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. KIFEBERS -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &
31 December 2024 20244 12/531H

33. ENNBSHEMTIR

RBEHBER SENEMIAZ
BREEAT:

follows:
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST BRESRFHENENEE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREFTIT
Trade receivables 2 5 MW K18 134,671 109,871
Financial assets included in FTATERT ZRIE - H A B GRIE
prepayments, other receivables REMBEEMN SR EE
and other assets 6,509 5,212
Time deposits TE B 15 3K - 42,014
Debt investments BKZE 639,461 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEESEZEY 3,844,723 4,358,255
4,625,364 4,515,352

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

BARRENEARESHHARE
B & ml W E

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFTrx
Financial assets at fair value through AR BETEBHEZESHtA
profit or loss BEalNemEE 102,147 42,640
BIRBEREARATR

R MFER
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. BENEomemTIA (&)
(Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST REMHBFHENEMAR
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥BTR AR%®Tr
Trade payables =Y Ak 13,863 14,771
Financial liabilities included in AAEMBENRIERESER
other payables and accruals MNeRAE 23,433 17,194
Lease liabilities HEAR 22,633 8,192
59,929 40,157
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH BARBEHNEAHESIAER
PROFIT OR LOSS MeEmAR
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT
Contingent consideration payables FER AR E 42,905 65,905
34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHYOF 34. @M ITAMAREBERLAAE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the fair values of the Group’s
financial assets and liabilities approximated to their
respective carrying amounts.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals and the current portion of lease
liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of lease liabilities
have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
The changes in fair value as a result of the Group’s own
non-performance risk for lease liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent
certain financial products, certificates of deposits and
bonds issued by commercial banks in China. The Group
has estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments
by using the valuation technique based on the sum of
principal and interest receivable.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payables has
been estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation valuation
technique based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires
management to calculate some appropriate inputs, such
as discount rate. Management believes that the estimated
fair value resulting from the valuation technique, which
is recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related change in fair values, which is
recorded in profit or loss, are reasonable, and that it was
the most appropriate value at the end of the reporting
period.

Notes to Financial Statements
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4. EMTAMNARRERLAR

EE® (&)

TREEMBENARLEBEZARM
TMR—BBETRZ(REXFREE
BRONF R BB IANSRIIE -

HEBBNIHMPRIN R REE
EEREFREUGR  GERR K
MRTE AN T AERRARSGHH
Tﬁﬁiﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬂixfﬁémgﬁﬁﬁ% 3
AEERBRERRAARBEEEED
BETELNRR %ﬁmﬂﬁﬁ{@
BHAERMIEE

=

AEBERERFLMRE  AFE
BERTBEINETERER 7
BERfEF AEEEEAERER
AR BB 2 R b (B B0 il B %
FFLTHRENAAERE-

ENXAREBENAABEENER
ﬁmﬁ%FWiﬂTﬁ%MF“’
EAXBREERGLERMEE
HEEREEEFENLIEENS
ABE PIMBRE - EEERR
BERMEENEFT 2 TEBEGA
REMBRRRIMEBAIAEE
E2HEABRR)AE ARB/ER
HRARAZEENEE -

BIRENEERAT
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31 December 2024 2024412 31H

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34. @@ T AMAARRERLARRE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) EE®R (=)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs TXeRABEHRENEETAER
to the valuation of financial liabilities together with a B A i 8220244 2023412 A31
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024 HOE(LEREITHE -
and 2023:
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023 20244 K 2023412 A31H
Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of fair value to
technique inputs Rate the input
EEFAEBEEGA DABEHBARBENRR
b B & 1l B NE BE
Contingent Monte Carlo Discount rate 3.01%-3.26% 5% increase/decrease in
consideration simulation (2023: discount rate would result
payables 3.45%-3.87%) in decrease/increase in fair

value by 0.2%
(2023: 0.2%)
FERF AR B SHREER B3R & 3.01%E3.26% BHIEKH FH5%EHA LB
(20234 : BR,180.2%
3.45%%3.87%) (20234 : 0.2%)
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34. @R TAMAARBERLARRE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) ESE® (&)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY NRBEESFH

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIPAEESHMITANAAE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: B 254

Assets measured at fair value: RARBEFENEE:

As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12 4318

Fair value measurement using
AAEBEERRA
Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
REBTSZH EXTEER EAFTUEER
RE AEE BASE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E—%&) (E5=&) (B=8R) @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%®TR AR¥WTRT ARETxR

Financial assets at fair value RARBEEREE
through profit or loss B ARZNSRE
BE - 102,147 - 102,147
As at 31 December 2023 M2023%12A31H
Fair value measurement using
AABEFERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
REBMSE EAUEEE BACIEER
RE ABIE BASE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E—&) (E=8) (B=H) st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR%Tr ARET:
Financial assets at fair value BRAABEMERER
through profit or loss B AEZNSH
BE - 42,640 - 42,640
BIRERBR AR

—Eomrgy 28
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34. @@ T AMAARRERLARRE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

HE®R (=2)
LRBEFRE)
ROARBETENERE:
202412 A31H

Fair value measurement using

AR EEHBRA

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
REBTSH EATEER EAFITEER
BE A8B BARE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(5—-%) (E5=&) (B=8R) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR TR AR TR ARBTR
Contingent consideration payables & gk A B - - 42,905 42,905
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12 A31H
Fair value measurement using
AABEFTERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
REBMHE EAUHERE BATIEER
RE ABE BASE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(E—#&) (E=H) (B=4) @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARBTR ARBTR ARETR
Contingent consideration payables fEff 3 AR B - - 65,905 65,905

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2023: Nil).
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations
in exchange rates between the RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect the
Group’s financial condition and results of operations. The
Group seeks to limit its exposure to foreign currency risk
by minimising its net foreign currency position.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the foreign currency exchange rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising
from foreign currency denominated financial instruments)
and the Group’s equity (due to exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations).
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35. &R MEEEERR B R

AEBENTIZSRIABRERER
ReEEY ZFeMIANTIR
BENERASENEEEREES -
AEENEGEEERELESZRE
femEERRE  WEHEER
BREZENFA -
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“°§$A%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ
BzERR  HHdmT -

b8 R B3

SNERBRIEINEE RSB EHIE
KER ARBEARELERD
FAEME®ENERKEAZER
SEMBEMRARBERE - AKHE
K SN SR ST R RR &/ ME T BR I L
T % 89 5N L B e
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31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

3. eMEAREREEEREEK (&)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Continued) ShHEmBE (=)
Increase/(decrease)
in rate of foreign Increase/(decrease) Increase/(decrease)
currency in profit before tax in equity
NEERH/(B) BEARAE/(R) Bxg /()
% RMB'000 RMB'000
% ARETR ARBTTR
2024 20244
If the US$ weakens against the HKS WETRBTRE 5 21,473 21,473
If the US$ strengthens against the HK$ WETAALHE (5) (21,473) (21,473)
If the RMB weakens against the US$ WARBHEETLEE 5 (62) 2,820
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ A REHE XA E (5) 62 (2,820)
2023 2023%
If the US$ weakens against the HKS WETRBLRE 5 79,950 79,950
If the US$ strengthens against the HK$ WETAATLHE (5) (79,950) (79,950)
If the RMB weakens against the US$ WARERETLEE 5 (61) 3,092
If the RMB strengthens against the US$ A ARBRELHE () 61 (3,092)
CREDIT RISK 15 & W B

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis.
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31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. €A ERHERKE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

CREDIT RISK (Continued) EERE(E)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging B A R AR ER

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TEREBINERAEBEERRNE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EEENRaEERRE  ZEEHK
which is mainly based on ageing information unless other REZEDERERBBEFRIEFA
information is available without undue cost or effort, and fhmANEBZAARKE HENAE
year-end staging classification at the end of the reporting SHER ERRRERBERAFERE
period. BnkE o

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for I eHERERMEENREABEARE

financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12 H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A H
FEBR rHRMEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
F1RR FoRR FI3WR  WEAE st

RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR ARETR

Trade receivables* 2 5 W R - - - 136,502 136,502
Contract assets* BNEE" - - - 40,180 40,180
Financial assets included STABRAFR - Hi
in prepayments, other FER I & H At
receivables and other assets BENSREE
— Normal** — E= 6,509 - - - 6,509
Debt investments BEREE 639,461 - - - 639,461
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEED
— Not yet past due — AR EH 3,844,723 - - - 3,844,723
4,490,693 - - 176,682 4,667,375
BIRBEREARATR

—E—mrgy 24



248

Notes to Financial Statements

b B e

31 December 2024 20244 12 A31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

3. eMEAREREEEREEK (&)

EREE ()

B Ak R R ER (42)

As at 31 December 2023 K 2023F12 318
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 78 8
FEEBR *HBEBREEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1PRE M ER F3fEg  EitrE BEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETT
Trade receivables* B HREW IR - - - 111,190 111,190
Contract assets* BHEE" — = = 46,049 46,049
Financial assets included SAFEMFTE  Hi
in prepayments, other FEMCFRIE K B
receivables and other assets EEREREE
— Normal** — g 5,212 — — — 5,212
Time deposits EBEX 42,014 - - — 42,014
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEFEY
— Not yet past due — BARE 4,358,255 — = — 4,358,255
4,405,481 - — 157289 4,562,720
3 For trade receivables and contract assets to which the * RAEBEAG LA EFTERESN

Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, further
information is disclosed in notes 18 and 19 to the financial
statements, respectively.

. The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty and by geographical region. There
are no significant concentrations of credit risk within
the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade
receivables are widely dispersed in different regions.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
of the Group to finance the operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
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3. emEAREREEEREKEK (&)

EREE ()

ERASEREZENKKES B2
EERRHASECHERERIMG

Cl/\

R FE18 ©

ARASEERERATAEER Y
M%_ﬁtﬁx% FfT DA 48 75 15 1
cFEETRBREER /XY
?M&ﬂ@@ﬁ%ﬁ HRAEE
BIRWARBENEFEER MR R
oA AEERESAEESSD
[\ Bz e
i BN 55 & B B

AEEBSERRE AT EYH

AT AHERHEAEAEER
BALGENAKT  UENLERTE

FBREBERETERSNTE -
AT &5 A& B R 3 & B A R AR B
BHREBNRIMTHOESHEESD
HAROR

31 December 2024

2024%12831H
Less than 3to 1to
Ondemand 3 months 12 months 5 years Total
REX S3EAMA 3ZE12(8A 125% #at
RMB’000c RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR AR%®Tx AR®TR AR%T:R
Trade payables EC g 13,863 - - - 13,863
Lease liabilities HEEE - 3,338 8,868 11,370 23,576
Financial liabilities included in s A H 1 B 3B &
other payables and accruals EAERMSRE
B 23,433 - - - 23,433
Contingent consideration BN ARE
payables - - 16,255 28,263 44,518
37,296 3,338 25,123 39,633 105,390
BIENRERAT

—ECNEER
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. ¢RI EERERKEK (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) mREBEEEE(Z)
31 December 2023
2023%12 A31R
Less than 3 to 1to

On demand 3 months 12 months 3 years Total
RERk  3ARMAR  3ZE12{EA 1235 Bt
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB’000

ARBTE ARBTT ARETRT ARBTRT ARETR

Trade payables BEHRNFIR 14,771 - - - 14,771
Lease liabilities HERE - 1,377 3,408 3,718 8,503
Financial liabilities included in & A H b & 78 &
other payables and accruals B ERER SR
BE 17,194 = = = 17,194
Contingent consideration ERRARE
payables — — 18,362 51,348 69,710
31,965 1,377 21,770 55,066 110,178

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
borrowings divided by total equity. The gearing ratio was
zero since there was no borrowing as of 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023.
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36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

37.

There were no other significant events that required
additional disclosure or adjustments occurred after the end

of the reporting period.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Notes to Financial Statements
B R SRR M &

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

36.

37.

BEMRESEH

P ¥ 5 HA e A 12

- I AT

Hi A FBINRBERABNEARS

I8 o

FLRFMBERRAR

BRAARR RN &S 8 E R R

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: MEERIT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTRT ARETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary KRB AR Z®’E 58,656 52,824
Debt investments BBERE 440,374 —
Total non-current assets JEMEE ELLE 499,030 52,824
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries i ENGI B 283,371 285,533
Prepayments, other receivables and 8/ ZXIE - H fib fE U 3k 18 [
other assets HEip&E 103,824 102,202
Debt investments due within one year — F 2| HIME KR E 199,087 =
Cash and cash equivalents BehIREZEEY 3,383,639 3,936,573
Total current assets mEEERE 3,969,921 4,324,308
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEME
Trade payables 2 5 IR 140 138
Total current liabilities mENBEERE 140 138
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 3,969,781 4,324,170
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT #EERABERE
LIABILITIES 4,468,811 4,376,994
Net assets BEEFE 4,468,811 4,376,994
EQUITY =
Share capital fi% < 46 46
Reserves (note) i 8 (BfT 53) 4,468,765 4,376,948
Total equity W 4R ER 4,468,811 4,376,994
BiIREREERATR

R MFER
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37. & AFIMERRIE (&)

COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B 5%
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARAREEBEENT :
Exchange  (Accumulated
Share Share option fluctuation losses)/
premium reserve reserve retained profits Total
(RitER)/
& 13 % B i BRERE EXRIEG BHREN gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2023 12023F1 1R 3,898,396 31,502 299,895 20,932 4,250,725
Profit for the year FEREF = = = 165,918 165,918

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEARFHBRERAZ
the Company’s financial statements JIEBERZR

into presentation currency - - 69,317 - 69,317
Total comprehensive income for the year N2 M % @28 - - 69,317 165,918 235,235
Issue of shares kM 5,943 - - - 5,943
Shares repurchased EREER R (683) - - - (683)
Share-based payments ARDAEENNHK = 10,415 = = 10,415
Dividend declared and paid BERRERRE - - = (124,687) (124,687)
At 31 December 2023 and 12023512 4318 &

1 January 2024 2024%F181H 3,903,656 41,917 369,212 62,163 4,376,948
Profit for the year FREHN - - - 198,634 198,634

Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEARAHEHR AR
the Company’s financial statements JIERERZR

into presentation currency - - 64,303 - 64,303
Total comprehensive income for the year ER2E R %28 - - 64,303 198,634 262,937
Issue of shares Bk 2,247 = = = 2,247
Share-based payments NBRHAREENNHK - 5,669 - - 5,669
Dividend declared and paid BERREMRE - - - (179,036) (179,036)
At 31 December 2024 1202412 A31H 3,905,908 47,586 433,515 81,761 4,468,765

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 38. #EMBHEE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for 2= e )N2025%F3 H24H o & 5
issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2025. BBt G R % o
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